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The Wescoal Board of Directors confirms its responsibility for the integrity of the integrated annual report, the 
content of which has been collectively assessed by the Directors who believe that all material issues have been 
addressed and are fairly presented.

Robinson Ramaite
Chairperson
18 September 2014

Wescoal Holdings Limited (“Wescoal” or “the Group”) operates in South Africa and is involved in the mining, 
processing, supply, sales and distribution of coal and coal-related products. This report includes the annual 
financial statements of Wescoal Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries for the financial year from 1 April 2013 to 
31 March 2014. The previous year’s annual financial statements were published in September 2013. 

In addition, the report comprises feedback from the Chairman and CEO, as well as reports on the activities and 
performance of the Group, a sustainability assessment, a resources and reserves summary which is SAMREC compliant 
and JSE approved, all of which are discussed in conjunction with an evaluation of risks within the Group and the 
manner in which stakeholders are communicated and interacted with.

External financial assurance for the annual financial statements was provided by the Group’s independent external 
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. The financial statements were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the requirements of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, and 
regulations of the JSE Limited (JSE).

Any queries regarding this integrated annual report or its contents should be directed to:

Morné du Plessis
Acting Chief Financial Officer

Tel: 011 570 5800
Fax: 011 570 5848
Corner of Gewel and Hulley Road,
Isando, South Africa
Email: morne@wescoal.com 

Board responsiBility statementsCope of report
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LTI Lost Time Injury
LTIFR Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
MacPhail MacPhail Distributors Proprietary Limited
Mineral Recoveries Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited
MoI Memorandum of Incorporation
MTIS Minable tons in situ
mtpa Million tons per annum
NUM National Union of Mineworkers
Proudafrique Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited
PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Quattro Quattro Coal Export Scheme – a 200,000 ton pa allocation through RBCT
Razorbill Razorbill Properties 269 Proprietary Limited
RBCT Richards Bay Coal Terminal
REMCO Remuneration and Nominations Committee
ROM Run of Mine
SAMREC South African Code for Reporting Results, Mineral Resource and 

Mineral Reserves
SHE Safety Health and Environment
SLA Service Level Agreement
Vlakvarkfontein Vlakvarkfontein 213 IR now known as Intibane
Vuselela Vuselela Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal, the Group or the Company Wescoal Holdings Limited
Wescoal Mining/Wesmine Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Trading Including the operations which trade as Chandler Coal and business 

of MacPhail
WPP Waterberg Portion Property Proprietary Limited

In this integrated annual report, unless the context indicates to the contrary, the following expressions bear the meanings assigned to them below:

AGM Annual General Meeting
AMCU Association of Mine Workers and Construction Union
API#4 Benchmark price reference for coal exported out of Richards Bay
Atlantis Atlantis Coal Estate CC
BCEA Basic Conditions of Employment Act
BEE Black Economic Empowerment
Blanford Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
CEO Chief Executive Officer
Chandler Chandler Coal Proprietary Limited
CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant
CSI Corporate Social Investment
DMR Department of Mineral Resources
DWS Department of Water Affairs and Sanitation
EE Employment Equity
Operational EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation excluding 

profit on sale of assets
Elandspruit Elandspruit 291 JS, Portions 4 and 23
EXCO Executive Committee
Express Express Technology CC
GTIS Gross tons in situ
Heuwelfontein Heuwelfontein, Portions 96, 97 and 103 215 IR
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
Intibane Intibane Mine/Colliery
IT Information Technology
JSE JSE Limited
Khanyisa Khanyisa Mine/Colliery
King III King Code of Governance Principles and King Report on Governance

WESCOAL Annual Report 2014 3
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2014 highlights

Revenue Operational EBITDA 

Successful integration Dividend

HEPS Cash reserves 

Commissioning Finalisation

up 69.5% to R1.1 billion
(2013: R676.9 million)

of MacPhail Distributors
(“MacPhail”)

up 28.7% to 15.7 cents 
(2013: 12.2 cents)

of Intibane Colliery

up 123.6% to R101.2 million
(2013: R45.3 million)

of 3.8 cents per share
(2013: 3.0 cents per share)

up 143.3% to R52.0 million 
(2013: R21.4 million)

Elandspruit acquisition

Group overview
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wescoal at a glance

Wescoal’s profitability is derived from two divisions, namely Mining and Trading. The Mining Division consists of three mines located in the Mpumalanga 
province and the Trading Division is made up of Chandler Coal and MacPhail. 

  Further details are available on page 6 of this integrated annual report. 

We embrace strong values within Wescoal, where we follow the principles dedicated to:

• Development of our employees;
• Maintenance and promotion of their safety and health; 
• Creation of an environment of trust and respect for all employees; and
• Respect for the environment and the communities in these areas.

We are passionate about the preservation of the environment and strive for wealth creation for all stakeholders.

Our vision is to be the leading junior coal 
miner with a sustainable resource base 
and a coal trading operation, while our 
mission is to mine, process and market 
coal and coal‑related products

WESCOAL Annual Report 2014 5



wescoal Business model

Khanyisa Colliery

Intibane Colliery

Elandspruit Colliery

SUPPLy ROUTE

Wescoal Holdings
Involved in the mining, processing, supply, sales and 

distribution of coal and coal-related products 

Two renowned brands with eight decades of experience are the 
backbone of the coal supply business 

SUPPLy ROUTE
Primarily inland 

with coal supplied 
largely to 

Eskom

Eight depots 
are operational in Gauteng, the Western and 

Eastern Cape and KwaZulu-Natal to supply a host of 
long-standing small as well as blue chip clients in 
industries varying from brewers and food producers 

to  manufacturers

Export allocation 
through Quattro 
for the export of 

200,000 tons 
per annum

Mining operations concentrated in Mpumalanga, west 
of Ogies in close proximity to Kendal Power Station

  Additional information on the MacPhail acquisition is available on page 11 of this integrated annual report. 
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wescoal mining

2014

2013

1.92

1.31

production 
(mtpa)

The strategic intent of the division is to 
produce the bulk of the Group’s profit 
growth in the future

Wescoal Mining comprises three collieries – Khanyisa, Intibane and Elandspruit 
(which is not yet operational). In April 2013 the Intibane Colliery was added 
to Wescoal’s portfolio of operating mines and for the first time the mine has 
contributed to the overall financial results of Wescoal. At the time of writing 
this integrated annual report, Wescoal had announced the extension of 
Intibane Colliery by 2.25 million tons and to the end of 2016. 

The Intibane Colliery was the location of a pilot project related to X-ray 
transmission technology (XRT). Wescoal embarked on the project to test/
prove that there is a real possibility to not use washing or jig plants in coal 
beneficiation. Most coal beneficiation plants use water-intensive separation 
processes such as dense medium separation (DMS) or jigging plants. A 

major driver for the pilot project is that water is a scarce resource in many 
coal producing regions, and adds to costs. Further benefits are that dry coal 
has a higher heating value, transportation of dry coal is less expensive and 
it would eliminate costs involved in the environmental rehabilitation of coal 
slimes. This in itself will change the future of coal processing and capital 
expenditure for coal beneficiation.

Wescoal’s flagship operation is the Elandspruit Colliery which has GTIS of 
40.17 million tons and surface rights (attained in September 2013) in place. 
A water use licence has been applied for, the issuance of which is imminent. 
This will be the largest operational mine in Wescoal’s mining stable and is 
expected to be operational early in 2015. 

• Substantial progress on the establishment of the Elandspruit 
Colliery

• Renewal of Eskom supply contracts

• Regulation
• Uncertainty on BEE legislative changes
• Funding

• Increased volumes when Elandspruit is commissioned
• Possible extensions to Intibane and Khanyisa

Highlights

Challenges

Outlook

WESCOAL Annual Report 2014 7



Coal mining

Coal exploration

Coal processing

wescoal Collieries
Khanyisa Intibane Elandspruit

Ownership Operated and 
managed by 
Wescoal

Owned, 
managed and 
operated by 
Wescoal

Owned, 
managed and 
operated by 
Wescoal

Location 10 km west of 
Ogies, close 
to the Kendal 
Power Station, in 
the Mpumalanga 
province

14 km west of 
Ogies, close 
to the Kendal 
Power Station, in 
the Mpumalanga 
province

10 km West of 
Middelburg on 
the old Witbank 
Road, in the 
Mpumalanga 
province

Access and 
infrastructure

Close to sidings 
and on main 
access roads

Next to Arbor rail 
siding and close 
to main access 
roads

Easily accessible 
from the main 
road

GTIS 1.15 million 
tons

0.82 million 
tons

40.17 million 
tons

Reserves 
(ROM)

0.63 million 
tons

0.70 million 
tons

34.35 million 
tons

Resources 
(MTIS)

0.86 million 
tons

0.74 million 
tons

36.15 million 
tons

Mining 
method

Opencast and 
underground

Opencast Opencast

Permitting All legal permits 
in place

All required legal 
permits in place 
and approved by 
Eskom to supply 
the Tutuka Power 
Station

Mining Right – 
complete 

Water Use 
Licence – 
applied for

Life of mine 12–18 months 20–24 months 12–15 years

• Mining of coal
• Processing of coal
• Hauling of coal by road through outsourced partners
• Drilling and exploration of own coal reserves

Raw run of mine material is mined primarily by opencast 
truck and shovel method, processed and on-sold

Drilling and exploration is done on the reserves 
purchased from Vuselela, Razorbill and Proudafrique and 

is currently taking place at the resources of Silverbank 
and Verblyden

Processing of coal for the local power generation industry 
and the high grade domestic market

Inland: Eskom

200,000 tons to be exported through the Quattro 
allocation

activities

products and services Clients

wescoal mining
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wescoal trading

Through eight depots, Chandler Coal 
and MacPhail, operating as Wescoal 
Trading, are able to supply coal to 
industries across South Africa as well as 
neighbouring countries

The coal supply business of Wescoal is the mainstay feature of the Group and 
has its roots in operational experience that spans more than eight decades in 
South Africa. Extensive expertise and knowledge of the requirements of the 
coal market, together with value-added services, position Wescoal Trading 
as the leading coal supplier in South Africa. The trading arm is also active 
in cross-border trade with Swaziland and Mozambique.

Two renowned brands, Chandler Coal and MacPhail, are the backbone of this 
coal supply business. Both, through many years of experience, know that to 

be an effective coal supplier, an organisation requires staff with embedded 
knowledge of coal markets, customers with a demand for quality coal, a deep 
understanding of market influences, the ability to source the correct grade 
of coal to match client needs, as well as long and established relationships 
with mines and customers. 

The combined operations are in a position to strategically distribute coal 
by road or by rail to the point of consumption, to diverse customers and 
industries throughout South Africa.

• The MacPhail acquisition and successful merger into Wescoal
• Increased revenue, better margins and volumes for the division
• Now a dominant coal trader with a presence across the country

• Remains a fragmented industry
• Fierce pricing competition resulting in market upsets as often 

inferior or incorrect coal is delivered

• Increased profitability due to critical mass and synergy savings
• Enhanced management expertise

Highlights

Challenges

Outlook

WESCOAL Annual Report 2014 9



Namibia Botswana

Zimbabwe

Limpopo

Mpumalanga

North West

Northern Cape

Free State KwaZulu‑
Natal

Lesotho

Eastern Cape

Swaziland

Mozambique

Gauteng

Wescoal Trading areas of activity
Wescoal Trading depots (Isando, Benoni, Pretoria, Cape Town, Port Elizabeth, Paarl, Stanger and Worcester)
Wescoal Mining

wescoal’s footprint

Timely delivery Contract

activities products and 
services Clients

wescoal trading

Clients

Specification/product 
requirement

Wescoal Trading

Source: All primary 
producers

Transportation 
arrangement

• Sourcing of suitable product
• Technical support for optimal 

steam generation
• Securing delivery of product 

as and when required
• Securing markets for new 

producers

Industries include:
• Beverage
• Mining
• Food
• Yeast
• Paper
• Sugar

Western Cape
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the macphail acquisition

Rationale
– why did Wescoal buy MacPhail?

What did Wescoal buy?

Pricing and funding

11 November 2013 

Procedure

Current status

• Coal traders have to compete with primary producers resulting in reduced 
volume and pressure on margins

• Critical mass to Wescoal’s existing coal supply business
• Synergistic savings
• Enhanced earnings and shareholder value

• Visible trading depots to take the total local footprint to eight
• Additional knowledge and expertise in coal trading
• Executive staff    See Mike Berry’s profile on page 19 of this integrated report
• Greater visibility and promotion of Wescoal 
• Growth in the customer base

• R84 million purchace price
• R79 million secured through funding from Investec
• R100 million working capital facility granted to Wescoal from Reichmans 

Proprietary Limited

Completion of transaction

• Categorised transaction which required shareholder approval
• On 1 November 2013, at a General Meeting, shareholders granted approval
• Competition Commission approval granted

• Eight operational depots
• All rebranded to Wescoal Trading and entrenched into Wescoal structures
• Transaction exceeding management expectation
• Strong operational and knowledgeable management in place

An example of the new signage and branding in place

WESCOAL Annual Report 2014 11



Black economic empowerment (Bee)
For the past seven years Wescoal has shared a successful partnership with 
Waterberg Portion Property Proprietary Limited (WPP). The relationship 
extends back to 2007. As at 31 March 2014 WPP, headed by Mr Robinson 
Ramaite and other BEE shareholders, held 31.59% of the issued share capital 
of Wescoal Holdings Limited. The partnership between WPP and Wescoal is 
strong, based on business principles, and adds value to Wescoal, so much so 
that WPP maintains its stated intention to further increase its stake in Wescoal.

Mr Ramaite, Chairperson of WPP and the Non-executive Chairperson of 
Wescoal, is a former Director-General of the Department of Public Service 
and Administration and sits on a number of boards of other listed companies.

The major shareholders of WPP have been involved in mining for the last ten 
years and, through Vuselela, hold several mining rights for coal and other 
minerals in Mpumalanga, the Waterberg and KwaZulu-Natal.

100% Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd

100% Wescoal Exploration (Pty) Ltd*

100% Wescoal Trading (Pty) Ltd  
(previously Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd)

100% Wescoal Mineral Recoveries (Pty) Ltd

100% Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd

Wescoal Holdings Limited

Group ownership

Wescoal complies with the BEE parameters 
as set out in the Mining Charter

* Effective interest at 31 March 2014 was 72% (60% direct 
and 12% indirect)

12
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Take the 
lead in coal 

production by 
junior miners

Deliver 
financial 
growth

Be 
cost‑effective

Make safety, 
health and 

environment 
(SHE) a 
priority

Develop our 
relationships, 

not only 
with our 

customers, but 
also with our 
stakeholders

Our strategic 
intent is to:

To balance the business further and to ensure a strong coal trading platform, Wescoal embarked on the acquisition of 
MacPhail, which was concluded in November 2013. 

Key indicators and influences in the two operating segments of Mining and Trading differ as set out below:

Mining Trading

Positive Negative Positive Negative 

• Renewed Eskom 
supply contract

• Increased life of 
mine at Khanyisa 
with the addition of 
underground mining 
and further extension 
through the Pillar 
Project

• Mining and water 
rights granted for 
Intibane coal asset as 
well as amendment 

• Actively securing 
long-term assets (coal 
reserves for opencast 
mining such as the 
Elandspruit resource)

• Continue to prospect

• Labour action
• Geological conditions
• Adverse weather 

patterns
• Depressed 

international coal 
prices

• Timing of approvals 
for water use licences 

• More than eight 
decades of coal 
trading knowledge

• Marketplace remains 
fragmented

• Limited inland supply 
with highest quality 
coal being exported

• Manufacturing index 
increase

• Unethical industry 
practices

• Limited inland supply 
with highest quality 
coal being exported

• Over-traded market 
• Depressed 

international coal 
prices

Key strategic intent

Key indicators
Wescoal indicated in previous integrated reports that it would set out to grow its coal mining assets in order to provide 
the Group with a consistent and meaningful source of product and an extended total life of mine for the mining 
operation. This has been achieved as the Group for the first time has three collieries. 

 Further information on these operations is available on pages 7 to 11 of this integrated annual report. 

WESCOAL Annual Report 2014 13



November 2013
MacPhail acquisition 

approved and merger 
process begun.

20 July 2005
Wescoal Holdings Limited listed 

successfully on the AltX Board of the JSE. October 2009
The mining operations at Heuwelfontein were bought to 
establish Khanyisa Colliery near Kendal in Mpumulanga 

with in situ coal reserves of 4.5 million tons.

3 June 2008
Wescoal purchased prospecting rights from 

Proudafrique.

15 April 2010
Wescoal moved its listing to 
the JSE Main Board, Mining, 

sub‑sector Coal.

31 July 2012
Wescoal entered into various 

transactions with Xstrata to increase 
life of mine by 15 years.

16 July 2012
Awarded mining licence for 

Intibane Colliery.

15 April 2013
Intibane Colliery awarded 

water use licence and 
commences mining.

2014
Wescoal expects to receive 

mining rights and water use 
licence for Elandspruit Colliery.

July 2014
Extension of life of mine 

at Intibane to 2016.

The Company today known 
as Wescoal, originated 

from the Chandler family 
business. The family has 

been involved in the 
coal trading and logistics 

business for approximately 
80 years. The recent 

acquisition of MacPhail 
has added value to this 

component of the business. 

14 March 2007
Mineral Recoveries acquired the 

technology licence to upsize coal fines 
into saleable products.

December 2009
First coal is mined and extracted from 

Khanyisa Colliery.

June 2014
Wescoal Mining acquires remaining 
70% shares in Proudafrique to own 

100% of the business.

1 April 2008 Chandler purchased the business of 
Atlantis and Express.

19
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our history 
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Non‑executive

Executive

Operational

Board of directors
The management team at Wescoal has in excess of 70 years’ experience in the production, mining, supply, sales and distribution of coal. In addition to this proficiency, Wescoal subcontracts mining operations to leaders in their respective fields, 
further enhancing efficiencies in operating activities.

15

leadership

Dr Humphrey Mathe
Independent Director 

Mike Berry
Business Development:

Wescoal Trading

Kabela Maroga
Independent Director 

Curtis Mnisi
Group Financial Manager:

Wescoal Holdings

Morné du Plessis
Acting Chief Financial Officer

Kosie Pansegrouw
Director (Non-independent)

Ettienne Strydom
Projects Manager:
Wescoal Mining

André Boje
Chief Executive Officer

Teresita van Gaalen
Lead Independent Director

Bonani Siko
General Manager

Operations:
Wescoal Mining

Wiseman Khumalo
Executive Director

Robinson Ramaite
Chairperson (Non-independent)

Dutch Botes
Chief Operations Officer:

Wescoal Group



Muthanyi Robinson Ramaite (45)
Non‑executive Chairperson

Master of Management (Public and Development Management) – University 
of the Witwatersrand
BJuris – University of the North

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Chairman of the Board
Years with the Group: 7

Robinson is a former Director-General of the Department of Public Service and 
Administration and a former advisor to various ministers of parliament. He 
has been involved in the mining sector for the past six years as Chairman of 
Vuselela Mining Proprietary Limited and sits on the boards of various listed and 
non-listed companies.

Jacobus Gustavus (Kosie) Pansegrouw (53)
Non‑executive Director

BCom (Accounting) – Rand Afrikaans University

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board, Audit and Remuneration and 
Nominations committees
Years with the Group: 17

Kosie is the Managing Director of Guvon Investments (Pty) Ltd, a diversified 
company with direct and indirect investment in property management and 
development, tourism, laundry, dry cleaning and transport. He has vast business 
experience and serves on the boards of various companies.

Dalia Maria Teresita van Gaalen (56)
Lead Independent Non‑executive Director

Strategic Marketing – Unisa
Communications – Damelin
Leadership and Executive Development – Gordon Institute of Business Science 
International Executive Development Programme (IEDP) – Escuela Superior de 
Administración y Dirección de Empresas (ESADE), Madrid, Spain

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board and Audit Committee,
Chairperson of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee
Years with the Group: 5

Teresita was the Chief Executive of Changan Southern Africa, where she was tasked 
with rebuilding the group while expanding the Chana brand footprint in Southern 
Africa. She continues to play a leading role in the local motor industry, having 
previously completed an assignment with Commercial Motors in Botswana where 
she upgraded the group’s infrastructure and skills levels, while expanding the 
footprint for MAN, Honda and Tata. She served as Managing Director of Subaru 
Southern Africa. Prior to serving on the Automotive Executive Management Board, 
Teresita made her mark in the motor industry by putting Hyundai on the map 
and introducing relationship marketing for the first time.

Non-executive Directors
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Kabela Maroga (34)
Independent Non‑executive Director

BCom (Financial Accounting) – University of Pretoria
BCompt Hons/Certificate in the Theory of Accounting – University of KwaZulu-Natal
Graduate Diploma in Engineering (Mining Engineering) – University of the 
Witwatersrand

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board 
Member of the Remuneration, Nominations and Audit and Risk committees
Years with the Group: 1

Kabela is a qualified chartered accountant with more than 13 years’ experience in 
the corporate financial environment. She is currently employed as the Managing 
Director of Kabela Consulting and serves on the boards of the Recycling and Economic 
Development Initiative of South Africa (REDISA) and RBA Holdings Limited.

Dr Humphrey Mathe (63)
Independent Non‑executive Director

MSc – Rhodes University
PhD – University of Natal

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board, 
Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee
Years with the Group: 1

Humphrey is a qualified geologist who is currently the CEO of Tranter Resources (Pty) Ltd. 
Previously he was the CEO of Scinta South Africa (Pty) Ltd, a coal resources company; the 
Executive General Manager: Corporate Services at Exxaro Resources Limited; and, prior to that, 
COO and Executive Director of Eyesizwe Coal (Pty) Ltd, where he was in charge of the Eyesizwe 
coal mines and growth opportunities. He has worked in the mining industry all his life, and 
has in excess of 35 years’ experience. Among others, he worked as a Senior Geologist for Shell 
South Africa Minerals Division (a subsidiary of BHP Billiton) in Southern Africa. Whilst at Shell, 
he was part of the team that discovered the Goldridge gold deposit in the North West province 
of South Africa. He was the Project Manager and Chief Geologist for West Rand Consolidated 
Mines Limited where he was involved in the development and mining of the Kalahari Goldridge 
Mine. He was also the Chief Exploration Geologist for Harmony Gold Exploration involved in the 
exploration of various greenstone belts in Southern Africa and Peru, South America. He had a 
stint as lecturer at the Geology Department of the University of Zululand, and was a finalist of 
Boss of the Year in 2008.

Humphrey sits on the boards of Ferret Mining and Environmental Services (Pty) Ltd, Scinta South 
Africa (Pty) Ltd (Non-executive Chairman), Tranter Rock Drills (Pty) Ltd (Non-executive Chairman), 
TEMS, Tranter Holdings (Pty) Ltd, Witwatersrand Consolidated Gold Resources Limited, Howden 
Africa and the Council for Geoscience. He also serves on the Investment Committee of the New 
Africa Mining Fund and is a Fellow of the Geological Society of South Africa. Previously, he was 
a Non-executive Director of the South African Diamond Board where he served as the Chairman 
of the Technical and the Section 59 committees and part of the team that was involved in the 
Kimberley Process. Humphrey served on various internal boards at Exxaro Resources Limited.
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André Russell Boje (58)
Chief Executive Officer

Certificate in the Theory of Accounting – University of Port Elizabeth

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board, Member of EXCO
Years with the Group: 16

André is a former Managing Director of Chubb Fire Security (Pty) Ltd from which 
he resigned in 1993 to start his own management consultancy practice. In 1995 
he joined the MacPhail Group as Managing Director, resigning in 1997 to acquire 
an interest in Chandler Coal, now a subsidiary of the Wescoal Group. André has 
been the CEO of Wescoal since listing in 2005.

Morné du Plessis (45)
Acting Chief Financial Officer

Chartered Accountant (SA)

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board, Member of EXCO
Appointed post year-end, effective 1 July 2014

Morné is a CA (SA) who completed his articles at PricewaterhouseCoopers and 
obtained an MBA from Heriott Watt University, Edinburgh, Scotland. He served as 
Group Chief Financial Officer of Genet SA (Pty) Ltd, which specialises in providing 
contract mining and beneficiation services to the mining industry, from 2012 until 
present. He previously worked for Umcebo Mining Group, a junior coal miner, as 
Chief Financial Officer until the sale to Glencore in December 2011.

Executive Directors

Wiseman Nkululeko Khumalo (38)
Executive Director

MBA – Graduate School of Business, University of Cape Town
BCom (Accounting) – Rhodes University

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Recently appointed as Executive Director, Member 
of the Board, Member of EXCO
Years with the Group: 4
Wiseman has resigned from the Board post year-end, effective 30 November 2014

Wiseman worked in the Corporate Finance Division for Eskom; in the Energy 
and Mining Division for PricewaterhouseCoopers and as Financial Manager on 
Capital Projects for the London- and NASDAQ-listed RANDGOLD Resources. Most 
recently he was CEO of Carbon Reduction SA and in 2009 he became the Executive 
Director of American Regenerated Energy (Pty) Ltd and GHG Reductions (Pty) Ltd, 
companies established to reduce carbon emissions in Africa and the Middle East.

18
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Mike Berry
Business Development: Wescoal Trading

Years with the Group: 15 years at MacPhail

Mike is a Chartered Accountant by profession with five years’ experience in Corporate 
Finance and an additional five years’ experience in Mergers and Acquisitions and 
Corporate Recovery. For the past 15 years Mike has been involved in the Coal 
Merchant and Distribution industry.

Bonani Siko
General Manager – Operations: Wescoal Mining

Wescoal Mining will benefit from Bonani’s extensive experience in coal mining 
having previously worked at BHP Billiton Middelburg Mine and with HCI Coal. 
In addition he was employed as Coal Supply Unit Manager at Eskom for  
three-and-a-half years. Bonani holds a National Diploma in Coal Mining, a 
National Higher Diploma in Coal Mining, a B-Tech Mining Engineering qualification 
as well as a Mine Managers Certificate of Competency. He is also a member of 
SACMA (South African Colliery Managers Association).

Group Executives

André Russell Boje
See résumé under Board of Directors.

Morné du Plessis
See résumé under Board of Directors.

Wiseman Nkululeko Khumalo
See résumé under Board of Directors.

Dutch Botes
Chief Operations Officer: Wescoal Group
Chief Executive Officer: Wescoal Mining

Years with the Group: 3

Dutch is a qualified mining, electrical and mechanical engineer who has over 34 years’ experience 
in the mining sector. Dutch was the Chief Executive Officer at Umcebo Mining, a significant junior 
coal mining house. Whilst in his position at Umcebo Mining, Dutch successfully brought six new coal 
mines into production, including an underground operation at Klippan Colliery. Prior to joining Umcebo 
Mining, Dutch was General Manager at various BHP Billiton Energy Coal South Africa operations, 
including Middelburg Mines, Khutala Colliery, Optimum Colliery, Koornfontein Mines and Delmas 
Colliery. For a while he was General Manager of Hotazel Manganese Mines, an operation consisting 
of an underground and opencast mines with various processing plants, including a sinter operation.
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Ettienne Strydom
Projects Manager: Wescoal Mining

Years with the Group: 3

Ettienne holds a BCom in Financial Management and completed his studies 
in Strategic Financial Analysis at Harvard Business School. His career began 
in consulting as Programme Director/Manager, Business Integration Specialist 
and Business Development Manager at Deloitte Consulting, T-Systems and 
BHP Billiton respectively. From 2002 to 2005 he was employed as Programme 
Manager for the Sasol IM Oryx Project in Qatar, where he was the team leader 
responsible for the technical and functional design and implementation work of 
the business structures and systems. From 2006 to 2010 Ettienne worked for 
Lonmin in various roles, including Business Analyst, Senior Manager: Strategic 
and Long-Term Planning and Senior Manager: Restructuring and Reorganisation. 
All positions reported to the Executive Vice-president: Mining. In 2010 Ettienne 
consulted to Xstrata Alloys, Chrome and Platinum where his primary functions 
included Department of Mineral Resources (DMR) compliance tracking; design, 
structure and implementation of capital projects; and legal compliance. In January 
2011 Ettienne moved to Wescoal Mining where he currently holds the position 
of Projects Manager. His ability to understand, analyse, develop and implement 
successful solutions to business challenges, and strong knowledge of mining, 
oil and gas, and in particular coal, platinum, chrome and manganese, gained 
over the past 15 years, is truly a benefit to Wescoal.

Curtis Mnisi
Group Financial Manager: Wescoal Holdings

Years with the Group: 2

Curtis completed a BCom Degree in Accounting at the Rand Afrikaans University 
in 2002 and BCompt Honours (Accounting) at Unisa in 2004, where his major 
subjects included applied financial accounting, applied financial management, 
applied taxation and applied auditing. His working career began in 2004 at 
De Beers Consolidated Mines as a Senior Finance Clerk. In 2005 Curtis moved 
to De Beers Group Services and remained there until 2008, holding various 
positions, including Assistant Financial Accountant, Acting Financial Accountant, 
Consolidations Accountant, Internal Auditor and Project Accountant, gaining 
invaluable experience on a variety of accounting principles. In March 2008, for 
a year, Curtis was responsible for capital reporting to the board and for tax at 
De Beers Consolidated Mines. From April 2009 until June 2012 Curtis was the 
Management Accountant for De Beers Consolidated Mines, before joining Wescoal 
Holdings. Here he is responsible for Financial Management, reporting to the Group 
Financial Director. Curtis holds professional memberships at the South African 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, the Association for the Advancement of Black 
Accountants of Southern Africa and Black Management Forum.
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Chairperson’s report

Introduction

It is with pleasure that I present my seventh report as Chairperson of Wescoal 
to you. We have had a busy year on the corporate actions front. The acquisition 
and merger into Wescoal of the MacPhail coal trading business has proceeded 
smoothly and contributed for four months to the overall results. I am proud 
to report that plans to begin mining at Elandspruit by the start of 2015 are 
in place and in line with our proposed timeline.

We observed unprecedented labour action in the platinum mining sector, 
and will go down in the history books as the longest strike in our country’s 
history. We are grateful that Wescoal experienced no labour action for the year 
under review. We attribute this to unwavering attention to the development 
of employees and the maintenance and promotion of their health and most 
importantly their safety. 

Financial results

We delivered a pleasing set of results with revenue breaking through the one 
billion Rand mark at R1.1 billion, which is an improvement of 69.5% on 
the previous year. Coupled with this, operational EBITDA was up 123.6% 
to R101.2 million and a pleasing results for Headline Earnings per Share at 
15.7 cents per share is an improvement on last year of 28.7%. Cash reserves 
remain strong and are up by 143.3% to R52.0 million and as a result the 
Board found it prudent to declare a dividend of 3.8 cents per share. This too, 
is up from the 3 cents per share declared in 2013. 

Post year‑end events

On 9 June 2014 we distributed a circular to shareholders relating to the 
acquisition by Wescoal Mining, in two tranches resulting in Wescoal owning 

100% of Wescoal Exploration and Proudafrique. The rationale of the 
transactions, with a combined value of R43.6 million, is that Wescoal will 
then own the two coal reserves of Silverbank and Verblyden, and will remove 
outside shareholders. The transactions were approved by shareholders at a 
General Meeting of shareholders held on 14 July 2014.

Furthermore, on 24 June 2014, it was announced that Wescoal had entered 
into an agreement for the acquisition of the Muhanga plant from Muhanga 
Mine. The acquisition of the plant gives Wescoal immediate access to a fully 
fledged beneficiation asset that is currently operational, has all the necessary 
regulatory approvals and extensive infrastructure to allow for a multi-product 
operation whilst regulatory approvals are awaited for the Elandspruit site. The 
total purchase price is R42.5 million, excluding VAT and payable subject to 
various conditions. The full SENS announcement is available on our website 
at www.wescoal.com for additional information. 

Governance

During the year under review Wescoal instituted improvements with regard to 
compliance and will continue to focus on this strategic area of the business. 
We are pleased that Kabela Maroga, a graduate in Financial Accounting 
and Mining Engineering, was appointed as the Chairman of the Audit and 
Risk Committee during the year. The Board also resolved to incorporate the 
monitoring of risk management under the scope of the Audit Committee. 

Long‑term mining assets and supply contracts in 
place

As I mentioned in my 2013 report, Wescoal has embarked on a strategy to 
increase its mining operations through a number of strategies.

The acquisition of MacPhail, successful 
mining at Intibane and the development 
of Elandspruit puts a solid foundation in 
place for Wescoal

Robinson Ramaite
Chairperson: Wescoal

WESCOAL Annual Report 2014 21



We are in the process of establishing the Elandspruit Colliery, which is very 
exciting for Wescoal and the development thereof is discussed at length in 
this integrated annual report. There is a possibility that the life of mine at 
both Khanyisa and Intibane can be extended into 2017 by acquiring adjacent 
mineral rights, with far reaching effect on results going forward.

Our supply contracts with Eskom remain in place with a commitment from 
Wescoal of 3.2 million tons. 

Sustainability

As part of our strategy, sustainability is a key feature. We have updated 
our sustainability report, available on pages 35 to 40 of this integrated 
annual report. Again the report focuses on the environment, the economy, 
our labour practises, human rights and our products, which quite simply 
and exclusively, is coal. 

Labour relations and safety

Wescoal has a combined workforce of 206 people, of which 70% of the 
workers are associated with Wescoal Trading as a result of the MacPhail 
acquisition. Our objective is to strive for zero fatalities at the mine, which was 
attained in both 2012 and 2013. Unfortunately during the 2014 reporting 
period we did suffer one fatality and our condolences are extended to the 
family of Elidro Augusto Pacule. 

Changes to the Board of Directors and management 
enhancements

In the 2013 integrated annual report we mentioned the appointment of 
Kabela Maroga and Dr Humphrey Mathe in July 2013. 

On 1 October 2013 Ilze de Wet was appointed as Company Secretary, responsible 
for all internal legal and compliance services, replacing Wynand Walters. Ilze 
is an admitted attorney of the High Court of South Africa. Before embarking on 
a career in the private practice, she was employed by Ekurhuleni Metropolitan 
Municipality and has more than fourteen years’ local government experience. 
She also worked for RBA Holdings Limited, Johannesburg Roads Agency and 
SSI Consulting Engineers as Legal Counsel and Company Secretary. She is 
the holder of a B.Juris (Cum Laude) and LLB Degree.

On 17 April 2014, Piet Janse van Rensburg resigned from the Wescoal Board 
as Chief Financial Officer effective 30 June 2014. The Board wishes to thank 
Piet for the valuable contribution he has made to the Company over the past 
nine years and wishes him all the best in future endeavours. 

Morné du Plessis was appointed as Acting Chief Financial Officer with effect 
from 1 July 2014. The Board wishes him success in this position.

Wiseman Khumalo resigned from the Wescoal Board as an Executive Director, 
effective 30 November 2014, to further his studies at Harvard Business School. 
The Board wishes him all the best in future endeavours.

Conclusion and appreciation

Wescoal entered into transactions last year with Xstrata to secure the Elandspruit 
operation and succeeded in getting the mine established in record time. The 
addition of MacPhail to the already strong Chandler Coal business has added 
greater impetus into the Trading side of the business and all in all, resulted 
in a more profitable business.

I wish to thank the Executive Management team, managing directors and staff 
at all Wescoal’s operations for the hard work and solid strategic direction. 
Equally important are all our customers, shareholders, stakeholders and my 
fellow Board members, all of whom I wish to thank for their unwavering 
support of Wescoal. 

Robinson Ramaite
18 September 2014
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André Boje
Chief Executive Officer: Wescoal

Chief executive officer’s report

Introduction

These results depict a solid financial performance, despite some challenges 
which arose in the second half of the financial year, including reduced take 
off from Eskom and the integration of MacPhail into the Trading Division. 
Highlights included the finalisation of both the Elandspruit transaction with 
Glencore Xstrata and the transaction with Genet to acquire the business of 
MacPhail, the award of a Quattro export allocation and the securing of a 
R180 million debt facility from Investec.

Group revenue exceed the billion rand mark for the first time at R1.15 billion 
(2013: R676.9 million). The Group achieved operational EBITDA of 
R101.2 million (2013: R45.3 million) and headline earnings of R26.7 million 
(2013: R19.3 million) an increase in headline earnings of 37.9%. Operating 
profit of R118.9 million (2013: R27.7 million) includes R75.8 million profit 
on the sale of the Vlaklaagte mineral asset to Glencore Xstrata.

Wescoal Mining Division

The commissioning of the Intibane Colliery in June 2013 contributed 
significantly to the results from the division, producing 1.03 million tons of 
the 1.92 million tons of total production. Due to Eskom operational reasons, 
Khanyisa Colliery delivered significantly less coal to the utility during the 
second half of the year, affecting the profitability of the colliery. Subsequent 
to the reporting period the situation has normalised at Khanyisa. Intibane 
did not experience a similar situation.

Mining revenue increased to R556.2 million (2013: R318.4 million), 
operational EBITDA to R103.7 million (2013: R50.7 million) and profit 
from operations to R52.3 million (2013: R34.7 million). Operating costs are, 
however, excessive and require renewed focus to bring in line with budgets.

Wescoal is in a stage of rapid growth 
encompassing all aspects of the group 
that will lead to enhance value for all 
stakeholders
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Wescoal Trading Division

Immense effort and focus was placed on the successful integration of MacPhail 
into the Trading Division and the physical integration was completed in January 
2014 with the Chandler Coal and Wescoal Holdings offices relocating to 
Isando. Synergy savings that are flowing through, together with the combined 
businesses, will prove to be a significant contributor to Group results going 
forward. Trading revenue is significantly higher at R591.2 million (2013: 
R358.6 million), operational EBITDA increased to R9.3 million (2013: R6.1 
million) and profit from operations is marginally up to R4.7 million (2012: 
R4.2 million). Benefits accrued from the four months trading incorporating the 
MacPhail acquisition were eroded by once off restructuring costs of R8 million.

Financial overview

Revenue from all operations, which includes coal mining, processing and 
trading, reflected an increase of 69.5% to R1.15 billion from the comparative 
financial period, and it is especially pleasing that the Group achieved annual 
revenue in excess of R1 billion for the first time. 

Revenue from the Trading Division increased by 64.9%, however when 
excluding the MacPhail trading revenue for the period December 2013 to 
March 2014, revenue is only marginally up by 8.5%. Revenue from the 
Mining Division increased by 74.7% to R556.2 million and the division 
continued to perform exceptionally well, despite reduced Eskom take off 
from the Khanyisa operation during the fourth quarter.
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2014
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2011
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Gross profit of R125.5 million is an increase of 72.7% on the comparative 
financial period mainly due to the increase in revenue. Margins remained 
relatively static at 10.9%, however operating costs increased by 66.4% 
to R81.3 million due primarily to the establishment of the Intibane 
Colliery and the incorporation of the MacPhail acquisition for four 
months. Restructuring costs, the relocation of the Wescoal offices from 
Krugersdorp to Isando and inflationary factors further contributed to the  
increase.

Group operational EBIDTA of R101.2 million is especially pleasing and is 
a 123.6% increase on the comparative period. Operating profit, excluding 
the once off profit on the sale of mineral rights, increased by 55.5%. 
Finance costs showed nearly a threefold increase due to the financing of 

the MacPhail acquisition, mining infrastructure at Intibane Colliery and 
working capital requirements.

Profit after tax of R86.7 million includes the R61.5 million once off profit on 
the sale of mineral rights. Headline earnings and headline earnings per share 
are respectively 37.9% and 28.7% up on the comparative period and HEPS 
has shown the effect of the shares issued for Wescoal Mining acquiring 30% 
of the total issued share capital of Proudafrique from Minoscape.

The Group’s financial position strengthened during the financial period with 
total shareholders’ funds increasing by 54.1% to R273.2 million, the net asset 
value per share and net tangible asset value per share increased by 31.7% 
and 9.0% respectively. The debt equity ratio increased to 32% (2013: (7%)) 

due to the MacPhail acquisition, the cash portion for the acquisitions of the 
Elandspruit reserve and Proudafrique shares and the mining infrastructure 
at the Intibane Colliery. 

Cash flow focus and gross final dividend

The operations continued to generate strong cash flow, increasing from 
R38.5 million to R47.1 million in the current year. Cash and cash equivalents 
showed a handsome increase from R21.4 million to R51.9 million, which 
will be used primarily for working capital going forward. The Board declared 
a final gross dividend of 3.8 cents per share in respect of the year ended 
31 March 2014, which is a slight improvement on the 3.0 cents per share 
maiden dividend declared in 2013. 
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MacPhail 

We are pleased with the progress made on the integration of this acquisition. 
During the remainder of this calendar year we will integrate the business 
further through the standardisation of a few outstanding issues. We also 
plan to expand the customer base and for this all marketing material and 
processes have been consolidate under a uniform brand. 

Elandspruit

As mentioned in our communication this is our flagship operation which 
will put in place a good source of coal and a life of mine in excess of 
15 years. It will also add a step up to Wescoal’s ability to produce the 
stated 4 million tons of coal per annum by 2016. We have completed the 
majority of the surface rights discussions and agreements and are awaiting 
certain other procedural requirements, such as the New Order Mining 
Rights and the water use licence, for which all documentation has been  
submitted. 

Muhanga Washing Plant

Post the financial year end, Wescoal announced the purchase of the Muhanga 
Washing Plant, which is part of an existing plant and which is situated 
close to Elandspruit. The rationale of the acquisition is that it is far more  
cost-effective to purchase an existing plant than to build a new plant. Wescoal 
paid R42 million for the plant and it has infrastructure in place consisting of 
offices, pollution control dams and roads. 

Resources

Our resource and reserve statement has been updated and complies with 
SAMREC and has been approved by the JSE. The report covers Khanyisa, 
Intibane, Elandspruit and the prospecting areas of Silverbank and Verblyden. 
The GTIS at the three operations is 1.15 million, 0.82 million and 40.16 million 
tons respectively.

The full version as well as executive summary are available on our website: 
www.wescoal.co.za.

The future

There is a probability that both Khanyisa and Intibane life of mine can be 
extended into 2017 by acquiring adjacent mineral rights with far reaching 
effect on results going forward.

The Elandspruit transaction with Glencore Xstrata became unconditional on 
2 August 2013 and management is progressing with the required environmental 
authorisations in terms of the National Environmental Management Act, 
National Water Act, National Environmental Management: Waste Act and 
National Heritage Resources Act. Wescoal has commenced negotiations with 
surface right owners and has concluded the majority of the agreements to 
acquire these surface rights. These processes are expected to be completed 
during the latter half of 2014 following which the commissioning of the 
Elandspruit mine will commence, with production expected to attain 200,000 
tons per month by the last quarter of 2015.

The Board has approved future capex of R170 million for the commissioning 
of the Elandspruit Colliery, including the acquisition of an existing plant, mine 
operational infrastructure, surface rights and production start-up costs. Further 
synergy savings and margin enhancement initiatives are expected from the 
Trading Division that will have a positive effect on the Group as a whole.

Major coal producers are reviewing mineral assets on an ongoing basis and 
will dispose of non-core operations. This could potentially bring opportunity 
for Wescoal to further enhance its asset base and sustainability.

Conclusion and appreciation

In conclusion I would like to thank all members of the Wescoal Board for their 
unwavering approval of all the exciting projects concluded over the year, as 
well as their support for our future developments.

Our staff and management have also contributed so much with ideas, hard 
work and commitment over the year, which can be seen in our achievements.

A special thanks too is extended to our shareholders, supplies, customers 
and all other stakeholders. We trust that we will share many more successes 
with you in the future. 

André Boje
18 September 2014
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resource and reserves statement
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Wescoal locality map
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Summary of resources and reserves (million tons)

Area Seam

Resources Reserves

GTIS Reconnaissance MTIS(1) ROM(2)

Khanyisa 4 Seam 0.02 0.02 0.02

2 Seam OC 0.09 0.09 0.08

2 Seam UG 0.60 0.36 0.34

2 Seam PP 0.43 0.39 0.19

Sub‑total 1.15 0.86 0.63

Intibane 4 Seam 0.01 0.01 0.01

2 Seam 0.81 0.73 0.69

Sub‑total 0.82 0.74 0.70

Elandspruit 4L Seam 2.96 2.66 2.53

3 Seam 1.28 1.15 1.09

2U Seam 8.78 7.90 7.51

2L Seam 11.17 10.05 9.55

1 Seam 15.98 14.38 13.66

Sub‑total 40.17 36.15 34.35

Silverbank 2 Seam 281.00 67.45

Verblyden 4 Seam 54.30 13.03

Total 377.4 80.48 37.75 35.67

Notes: OC – Opencast; UG – Underground; PP – Pillar Project
Note (1) and (2) – Indicative Calculations

Resources and reserves statement

The resources and reserves statement below is an extract from the full SAMREC compliant report dated 20 June 2014 
issued by DS Coetzee (PhD Geology, Pr. Sci. Nat.: 400136/00). 

The report covers the new order mining right at the following operating collieries and prospects:

• Khanyisa Colliery (including Sarie Marais) (Mining Right number MP30/5/1/2/2/107MR) covering portions 96, 
97 and 103 of the farm Heuwelfontein 215 IR;

• Intibane Colliery (Mining Right number MP30/5/1/1/2/483MR) covering portion 16 of the farm Vlakvarkfontein 
213 IR;

•  Elandspruit Prospect (Mining Right number MP30/1/1/2/10035MR) covering portions 29, 30, 32, 33, 34, 36 
and 40 of the farm Elandspruit 291 JS;

•  Silverbank Prospect (Mining Right number MP30/1/1/2/10037MR) covering the entire farm Silverbank 611 IR, 
excluding portions 1, 10, 12 and 14; and

•  Verblyden Prospect (Mining Right number MP30/1/1/2/10036MR) covering the entire farm Verblyden 387 IS, 
excluding portions 18 and 35.

The water use licences for Khanyisa Colliery (WUL 04/B20F/ABGJ/1507) and Intibane Colliery (WUL 04/B20E/ AGJ/2149) 
are in place and have been reviewed in the report prapared by DS Coetzee. A water use licence for Elandspruit has 
been applied for, but is still pending. 

The information contained in the table below is an update to the geological information in the Competent Person’s 
Report (CPR) dated April 2014. The full CPR as at March 2014 will be published with the integrated annual report 
and will be made available on the Wescoal website.

All details regarding the geology, topography, climate, rainfall, drainage, veld type, land type and land use are 
contained in the full resources and reserves statement on the Wescoal website. In addition, a CPR is available on the 
website covering the Elandspruit resource.
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Shareholders Communities Civil society Government/
municipalities Regulators Employees Trade unions Media Contractors Customers Suppliers Financiers

stakeholders 
Wescoal defines stakeholders as groups, people, organisations or communities that have a direct interest in the businesses of Wescoal. A stakeholder evaluation has been undertaken at Group level as well as in the Mining and Trading Divisions. 
For the purposes of this integrated annual report, only the high-level initiatives will be addressed. Engagement with stakeholders takes various forms, including informal meetings, calls, customer meetings, staff meetings, newsletters and formal 
meetings with regulators. Key stakeholders to Wescoal include:
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Details of the Group’s key stakeholders, the type of engagement, material issues raised and actions taken are provided in the table below.

Stakeholder Type of engagement Material issue raised Actions taken

Shareholders • Interim and final results presentations and teleconferences 
are held regularly

• An active website is in place

• Dissemination of information through a defined contact list

• Calls with strategic shareholders if and when required

• Regular site visits and investor open days to mining facilities

• Long-term life of mines

• Earnings and sustainability of the Company

• Dividend payments and succession planning

• A concerted effort to change the focus of the business from 
predominantly a coal trading company to a coal miner has 
been completed

• Assets are actively being increased

• Additional executive management has been added to the 
head office structure

Communities and civil society • Active corporate social investment (CSI) initiatives

• Community participation and assistance 

• Meetings with representatives from organisations supported

• Active assistance and support, especially prevalent once 
mining operations at a particular site are completed and 
rehabilitated

• The ongoing running and support of the chicken farm at 
Khanyisa

• Support of the Kendal community in terms of grading of 
roads for accessibility to the villages, especially after heavy 
rains or erosion

• Ongoing maintenance and grading of sports grounds

• Support for local sports teams by supplying soccer and 
netball kits, soccer boots, netball shoes, balls, nets and other 
accessories and equipment

• Ongoing sponsorship and support for Embalenhle Primary 
school through provision of stationery, painting and 
renovations, upgrading of ablution facilities, etc.

Government and municipalities • Conference participation

• Meetings

• Industry body representation

• Transformation and compliance with municipal regulations 
remain key drivers for Wescoal, especially where operations 
could impact on communities

• Wescoal is completely BEE compliant and has a BEE partner, 
WPP

• Meetings are held with representatives of Victor Khanye 
Municipality whenever necessary
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Stakeholder Type of engagement Material issue raised Actions taken

Regulators (including the DMR) • Compliance with DMR administrative requirements, reporting, 
correspondence, formal meetings and feedback sessions

• Regulatory compliance • Regular communication is maintained with the DMR

• Annual reports are submitted, and addiditional reports are 
submitted whenever required by the DMR 

• DMR mine visits and audits ensure constant communication 
with the DMR

• Wherever necessary, remedial action and rectification 
measures are implemented

Employees • Compliance with legislation:

- Employment equity (EE)

- Basic conditions of employment

• Communication

• Training

• Promoting equal employment opportunities and fair 
treatment

• Prohibiting unfair discrimination

• Awareness of rules and regulations in the workplace

• Affirmative action measures

• EE reports in terms of the Employment Equity Act, No. 55 of 
1998

• Regulation of working time, holidays, leave, termination of 
employment 

• Communication structures in place to keep employees 
informed

• Employee competency 

• Eliminate unfair discrimination

• Employment Equity Policy

• Ensure that the Disciplinary Code and Grievance Procedure 
address channels of correction for unfair discrimination

• Ensure that there are no barriers to employment equity

• Annual submission of EE reports to the Department of Labour 
on progress of EE plan

• Display BCEA at the workplace

• Ensure that a policy is in place to regulate these conditions

• Pre-shift team talks, monthly forums, staff newsletter

• Training plan in place to ensure competency and 
development

• Employee benefits • Employee Benefits Programme • Introduction of the Wescoal Provident Fund

  Please see additional information on page 48 of this integrated 
annual report.

Trade unions • Advance economic

• Development, social

• Justice, labour practices and democratisation of the workplace

• Collective bargaining

• Establishment of Bargaining Council

• Recognition thresholds within Wescoal Holdings
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Stakeholder Type of engagement Material issue raised Actions taken

Media • Media are invited to attend interim and final results 
presentations

• One-on-one engagement with key media

• Regular site visits and press open days to mining facilities

• Maintenance of messaging to the marketplace • One-on-one engagement with key tier 1 media to ensure 
that Wescoal’s strategy is well received and accurately 
reported

Contractors • Service Level Agreements (SLAs), outsourced contract 
agreements

• Discrepancies in outcomes • Continual monitoring takes place to ensure SLAs and 
outsourced contracts are adhered to and followed

Customers • Formalised business dealings, meetings, telephone 
conversations, credit checks and reviews

• Competitive pricing structures

• Product quality

• Conscious effort to meet expectations where applicable

• Product quality from both the Mining and Trading Divisions 
is continually monitored. On the Trading side, the vast 
knowledge of the quality of coal for various applications is 
continually monitored, recorded, addressed and resolved

Suppliers • One-on-one business dealings, presentations on product 
features and correspondence

• Database of suppliers kept and maintained

• Delivery of products

• Overseen across the Group and updated accordingly

• Timeous delivery is strived for across both divisions

Financiers • Formal meetings, updated status meetings and feedback 
sessions

• Loan agreements and overdrafts to Wescoal • Wescoal has kept its providers of finance informed of all 
developments within the Company pertaining to overdraft 
requirements and the process for settling debt
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non-financial highlights
Wescoal provided an evaluation of its non-financial highlights in its 2012 and 2013 integrated annual reports. These have again been updated. 

Strategic area Achievements/progress

Ensure optimal assets and asset life is in place • Khanyisa and Intibane life of mine are being extended

• Elandspruit life of mine is in the region of 15 years

Appoint appropriate leadership and management Operational management in both the Mining and Trading Divisions have 
been strengthened 

  Please see additional information in the leadership section on page 15 of this 
integrated annual report.

Ensure cash flow returns that allow for continued reinvestment • In the period under review cash and cash equivalents increased by 
143.3% and much of this will be used for working capital going forward

Increase market share through quality provision of product • The MacPhail acquisition as well as that of the Muhanga Plant will go 
a long way to ensuring a more diversified product range

Lower production costs and improved efficiencies • This is an ongoing process across both divisions at Wescoal

Skilled and motivated staff complement, complying with employment and 
transformation objectives

• Wescoal Staff Pension Scheme has been implemented

wealth distribution – 2014

Positioning the Company for long‑term 
growth and sustainability

2014

25
%

5% 11
%

11
%

5% 43
%

Employees
Providers of capital
Government
Other service providers
Maintaining of assets
Retained income
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Electricity costs

There is a conscious drive within Wescoal to make every effort to reduce electricity costs, however the high tariff increases 
passed on to consumers by Eskom are unavoidable.

Date
Mining Division 

R’000
Trading Division

R’000

2014 1,867.5 77.2

2013 112.6 51.5

2012 75.8 42.5

2011 1,107.6 78.5

Ever-conscious of escalating electricity costs, Wescoal is pursuing alternatives which are elaborated on in the paragraph below.

Energy‑saving initiatives

The majority of Wescoal’s operations are diesel-driven. In the 2013 integrated annual report Wescoal committed to assessing 
additional possibilities where solar power or alternative energy sources could be used, and we are pleased to report that 
excellent headway has been made in this regard. Due to Wescoal’s size we have not yet been able to measure the savings.

At Intibane Colliery the weighbridge, manager’s office, borehole pumps at the office and contractors camp, security 
and the main office kitchen and ablution facilities are all solar powered. These areas run off a series of inverters, solar 
panels and batteries. 

Wescoal has determined that at night and in cloudy conditions the weighbridge system is often not reliable and since 
this is a vital checkpoint, there is sometimes a need to switch over to electricity usage. 

Environmental indicators

Water licences issued by DWS

DWS issued water use licences to Wescoal for its Khanyisa and Intibane collieries which comprise:

• Taking water from a water resource;
• Storing water;

sustainability report
Wescoal sustainability is underpinned by its growth from a junior miner with one opencast mine to the owner and 
operator of multiple mines. Both Khanyisa and Intibane collieries contributed to the 2014 results. The Elandspruit 
Colliery is in the process of being established and will be in operation by early 2015. 

Expanding the coal supply and trading operation through the acquisition of MacPhail further boosted revenue and 
Wescoal Trading is operational through eight depots across South Africa. 

Economic indicators

On page 34 of the integrated annual report, Wescoal has plotted its economic value generated and distributed to 
employees, government, providers of capital and the amount retained for growth.

Although Wescoal does not measure its effect on climate change, it will endeavour to measure the change and/or 
impact in future. 

Wescoal has not received any financial assistance from government or quasi-government organisations. Cash flow 
required to run the operation and to pay for capital expenditure is generated and used from cash generated by 
operations, as well as manageable overdraft and working capital facilities arranged with bankers Absa and Investec.

Wescoal, being a coal mining and trading company, understands that in order to extract product, it will impact on 
the environment. Our cause, effect and rehabilitation initiatives are discussed in the section covering environmental 
indicators alongside.

Transportation costs

The Trading Division of Wescoal is heavily dependent on the transportation of coal from source to end customer. 

Date
Transportation costs

R million

2014 122.1

2013 134.5

2012 104.7

2011 102.2
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• Disposing of water; and
• Removing, discharging and disposing of water found underground.

The licences are governed by strict adherence and compliance measures set out by DWS, which include a series of 
specific management guidelines, measurement guidelines, internal audits and submissions to DWS on an annual 
basis. The licences are important to Wescoal, as the registration of water use is required in terms of section 26 (1)(c) 
and 34(2) of the National Water Act, No. 36 of 1998. There are a number of reasons why water users are required to 
register their water use with DWS, including:

• The management and control of water resources for planning and development purposes;
• The protection of water resources against over-use, damage and impacts; and
• To ensure fair allocation of water among users.

Potable water is provided for employees from a borehole at the Khanyisa site and stored in a 5,000 litre tank. Biological 
monitoring of the potable water is regularly conducted. During the period under review, Wescoal has had no water or 
liquid spills or contamination of water sources.

Mine rehabilitation

The process of mining coal disturbs the land, however it is the responsibility of Wescoal to rehabilitate the land 
back to the state in which it was prior to mining. Wescoal is committed to the rehabilitation of mining activity on 
an ongoing basis in the roll-over method and in accordance with the mine rehabilitation plan. To date, Wescoal has 
met all rehabilitation requirements, including 37,613 m2 levelled at the Khanyisa Colliery and 41,537 m2 levelled at 
the Intibane Colliery during the year under review, as well as 7,078 m2 and 9,522 m2 levelled and topsoiled at the 
Khanyisa and Intibane Collieries respectively.

At the Intibane Colliery, Wescoal mines alongside farming activity in partnership with the farmer. This means that once 
Wescoal has rehabilitated the land after mining for coal, the farmer will have the right of first refusal to buy back the 
land for farming purposes. This is just one of the ways in which Wescoal is striving to ensure the sustainability of land 
in South Africa, as well as acting as a responsible corporate citizen.
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Khanyisa is a Category B mine in terms of dust exposure. This means that the silica content of its coal is less than 5% and none of its employees were exposed to the silica quarts OEL of 0.1 mg/m³.

A dust fall-out monitoring system has been implemented at both Khanyisa and Intibane colleries.

Intibane Colliery: Coal dust exposure (mg/m³)
OEL = 2.00 mg/m³

Khanyisa Colliery: Coal dust exposure (mg/m³)
OEL = 2.00 mg/m³

Waste management

Wescoal has receptacles in place into which waste is dumped and then professionally removed and which are utilised by all staff and contractors. Wescoal makes use of certain hazardous chemicals, such as hydrocarbons, at the Khanyisa 
operation. Hydrocarbons are oils, such as crude, petrol, diesel, heavy oils and lubricants, which can indirectly affect the environment. For example, if hydrocarbons are burnt, they can release carbon dioxide, nitrogen oxides and sulphur oxide 
into the air or cause partial oxidation, which might then be further altered into photochemical smog in the right conditions. This might cause coughs and other respiratory ailments for people exposed to the fumes.

Other management practices undertaken by Wescoal include:

Dust control

Dust control is monitored and measured daily, weekly and monthly by environmental consultants, LESHCON. With levels maintained at suitable levels, the Khanyisa and Intibane collieries received the following results:
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Khanyisa Colliery: Personal noise exposure (dBA)
OEL = 85 dBA

Intibane Colliery: Personal noise exposure (dBA)
OEL = 85 dBA

Note: The Intibane Colliery became operational during the financial year, therefore 2012/13 information is not relevant.

Personal noise exposure

The graphs below highlight the occupations normally associated with high noise exposure levels. The figures represent the average noise levels over periods as indicated for the employees performing these tasks. All results are based on a 
time weighted, average full shift personal sampling.
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40107

male

36 13

Black

53143

staff count

female

738

white

120

Coloured

236

wescoal mining (trade union members)

Labour practices and decent work environment

For a mining operation, Wescoal has a fairly small labour force. The total Wescoal staff component is split between 
Wescoal Mining, Wescoal Trading and the Corporate office as follows:

Social and labour plans

As required in terms of Regulation 42 (1) (a) of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, No. 28 of 
2002, Wescoal has social and labour plans in place for both Khanyisa and Intibane mines.

Wescoal is pleased to announce that, as part of its social and labour plans and in support of education, the Group 
sponsored four students to attend the Tshwane University of Technology, two of whom have completed their studies 
and are now employed as interns at Wescoal.

Health and safety initiatives

Wescoal complies with the Mine Health and Safety Act, No. 29 of 1996, the purpose of which is to provide for the 
health and safety of employees and other persons at mines and to:

• Promote a culture of health and safety;
• Provide for the enforcement of health and safety measures;
• Provide for appropriate systems of employee, employer and state participation in health and safety matters;
• Establish representative tripartite systems and inspections, investigations and inquiries to improve health and 

safety;
• Promote training and human resources development;
• Regulate the employer’s and employees’ duties to identify hazards and eliminate, control and minimise the risk 

to health and safety;
• Entrench the right to refuse to work in dangerous conditions;
• Give effect to the public and international legal obligations of South Africa relating to mining health and 

safety; and
• Provide for matters connected therewith.

Wescoal ensures compliance with the above through the Wescoal Mining SHE Management System. Wescoal Mining 
appointed four entities to manage compliance with the SHE Management System:

• Leschon CC – Legal, Environmental, Safety and Health Consultants responsible for safety and occupational hygiene;
• IRCA Global – responsible for SHE initiatives;
• Dr Prinsloo and Industrial Health Clinic (based in eMalahleni) – responsible for industrial health services; and
• Ferret Mining and Environmental Services – responsible for environmental impact studies.

4585

NUMAMCU

MiningTrading
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During the period under review, Wescoal experienced no work or wage strike action. Wescoal is against the use of child 
labour and is not aware of any such practice across the business segments.

Society

On pages 41 and 42 of this integrated annual report, Wescoal provides information on CSI initiatives within our 
community. Proactive CSI now forms part of Wescoal’s strategy and commentary on the impact and results of Wescoal’s 
involvement with each initiative identified is included in the CSI report.

Risks relating to corruption within the business units of Wescoal have not been evaluated. As a start, high level risks 
have been evaluated and are being worked on and assessed in conjunction with risk consultants. Please refer to the 
risk management table on page 43 for further details.

Wescoal makes no donations, contributions or in-kind contributions to any political parties, politicians or related 
institutions in the country or any areas of operation.

Product responsibility

The only product Wescoal supplies is coal. In the supply of coal it is critical that Wescoal ensures the correct quality, 
quantity and timed delivery to clients.

Monthly internal audits and reports are undertaken under the SHE System, covering safety, occupational hygiene, 
occupational health and the environment. Regular external visits and/or audits are conducted by the DMR. Occasionally, 
the DWS will visit, and sometimes the Department of Environmental Affairs. No reports are written if compliance and 
administration are adhered to, however, directives are given if non-compliance is discovered.

Summary of performance achievements and targets for Khanyisa and Intibane collieries

Khanyisa Colliery

Description
Objectives 
2014/15

Performance 
2013/14

Performance 
2012/13

Performance 
2011/12

Occupational disease 0 0 0 0

Fatalities 0 1 0 0

LTI 0 4 0 2

Intibane Colliery

Description
Objectives 
2014/15

Performance 
2013/14

Occupational disease 0 0

Fatalities 0 0

LTI 0 0

The fundamentals and values of Wescoal dictate fairness and integrity in the treatment of all staff and the adherence 
to human rights.

In the period under review, no incidents of discrimination or human rights abuses were reported or investigated by 
the Group.

The Group and its operations acknowledge that employees and staff have the right to exercise freedom of association 
and collective bargaining and, as such, Wescoal Mining acknowledges the trade union of NUM. Unauthorised strike 
action is deemed a risk to Wescoal Mining, it however endeavours to negotiate effectively and responsibly with the 
respective trade unions.
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Our commitment to social investment has not wavered, neither has our focus changed over the past year. Wescoal remains acutely aware of the communities 
in and around our areas of operations. With the primary area of mining operation being eMalahleni, the communities situated adjacent to the mines have 
remained the geographic focus for Wescoal’s CSI initiatives. In caring for the environment and our community, Wescoal aims to leave its mark on the hearts and 
minds of the people, rather than on the land. With this in mind, Wescoal actively engaged with the local community and discussed their development needs. 
We then provided what the community desperately needed, rather than making an assumption with regards to their needs.

During the year under review, Wescoal participated in four CSI initiatives and projects in our immediate surrounds. These projects are discussed below.

Hlanganani Nasereth Upliftment Centre

This little school was established ten years ago in a shack, and has developed steadily thanks to the assistance provided by companies such as Wescoal. Thanks 
to donations received in the current financial year, a second brick classroom is being erected, greatly improving the conditions for teachers as well as learners. 
The school caters for 315 children who are receiving a professional education. Money is also raised at the school for a feeding scheme, since the majority of 
the children it educates are orphans.

Project summary – Hlanganani Nasereth Upliftment Centre (Middelburg)

Participation Result

R8,995 donation of a new sound system The system is used to play music for the children, which is found to be 
extremely educational as well as used for audio lessons.

Christmas gifts – donations These donations of wrapped gifts are made to make the children feel 
special and have something of their own.

R40,000 Contributed towards requirements at the centre such as a water tank, 
paving and carpets for the classrooms (especially in winter). 

Men in Wheelchairs Event

Wescoal donated R4,000 to this event which took place in Pretoria in September. 

We strive to leave our mark on the hearts 
and minds of the people, rather than on 
the land
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Madiba Day

Each year Wescoal staff give 67 minutes of their time towards causes which staff identify as important. This year was 
no exception, and Madiba Day was celebrated painting refuse bins at a local primary school. 

Imbalenhle Chicken Farm

Wescoal began this project in 2012, as part of a local community development initiative. It involved the building of 
the Imbalenhle Chicken Farm, which facilitates education and planning for sustainability purposes. The chicken house 
was built and stocked with 500 day-old chicks. In addition, 16 members of the Imbalenhle community were trained in 
various aspects of chicken farming, including the handling, feeding and cleaning of the chickens; personal sanitisation 
so as to limit infection to the birds; temperature control; and business skills.

The house is currently fully operational and self-sustainable, producing 200 chickens in a six-week cycle. The chickens 
are sold in the community. The administration and finances of the farm are managed by Wescoal.

Project summary – Imbalenhle Chicken Farm

Participation Result

• Subsistence farming of chickens within the 
community

• Assistance with finance and administration 
functions

• A fully operational chicken house
• Six jobs created
• Sustainable production of food for the community
• Education in rearing and handling chickens, as well 

as disease control measures
• Additional cash from external sales, with all profits 

reinvested in the project
• Employment created and sustained with ongoing 

training
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Board committees and governance 
Introduction

Wescoal’s Board of Directors supports the principles of the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct (the Code) contained 
in the King Code of Governance Principles and Kind Report on Governance (King III), and acknowledges the importance 
of sound corporate governance and the guidelines set out in the Code.

A detailed internal assessment of the application of King III principles and current levels of compliance is available 
on Wescoal’s website: www.wescoal.com

Statement of compliance

The Listings Requirements of the JSE require that companies report on the extent to which they comply with the principles 
incorporated in the Code. The Code recommends that the Chairperson be an Independent Non-executive Director. It is 
the Board’s opinion that as the Chief Executive Officer and the Non-executive Chairperson’s roles are separate; there is 
a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the Company, which ensures a balance of power and authority, such 
that no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Board of Directors

The Board retains full and effective control over the Company. Apart from regular meetings, additional meetings are 
arranged, when necessary, to review strategy, planning, operations, financial performance, risk and capital expenditure, 
human resources and environmental management. The Board is also responsible for monitoring the activities of 
Executive Management.

Chairperson

The Non-executive Chairperson, who is not independent, is Robinson Ramaite. The Board delegates its responsibility 
for ensuring the effectiveness of governance practices to the Chairperson. He leads the Board and is responsible for 
representing the Board to shareholders. As required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, the role of the 
Chairperson is separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer.

To further strengthen the Board, Teresita van Gaalen is the Lead Independent Non-executive Director.

risk management
Wescoal remains ever mindful of risks to the overall operation. Our risks can be categorised into broad categories, as 
indicated below: 

Risk Mitigation strategy

One main customer Wescoal Mining’s only product is Eskom grade coal, and there is 
a natural tendency to have a large part of the business exposed to 
one client.

Wescoal Trading, to an extent, helps Wescoal to diversify the client 
base slightly.

Escalating cost of production at Khanyisa The strip ratio at Khanyisa Colliery is high relative to other 
operations and will remain as such until the Elandspruit Colliery 
is open.

Life of mine Wescoal is currently involved in negotiations to extend the life of 
mine to at least 2017 at both Khanyisa and Intibane collieries. 

Skills shortage Experienced staff across the business is hard to find, but Wescoal 
is involved in skills training programmes and makes use of sub-
contractors.

Legislation Wescoal Mining is affected by the MRPDA and requirements 
such as water use licences and rezoning requirements. Wescoal 
is compliant with all legislation and where legislation is still in 
the form of a proposed bill, Wescoal will continue to follow the 
requirements closely and react accordingly.

Primary producers competing with 
Trading Division

Utilising supply from Wescoal Mining.
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Board committees

While the Board remains accountable and responsible for the performance and affairs of the Group, it is assisted in 
the discharge of its duties by a number of sub-committees as follows:

• Audit and Risk Committee;
• Remuneration and Nominations Committee;
• Social and Ethics Committee; and
• Project and Investments Committee.

Audit and Risk Committee

The external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee and its Chairperson, with a view to 
ensuring that their independence is not impaired. The committee is satisfied that the external auditor was independent 
of the Company.

During the financial year under review, the Audit and Risk Committee was also responsible for the functions and duties 
as required in terms of section 74 and Regulation 43 (5) of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008.

The Audit and Risk Committee confirms that it has satisfied itself with the appropriateness of the expertise and 
experience of the Financial Director. Three Audit and Risk Committee meetings were held during the financial year 
ended 31 March 2014.

  Further detail in the full Audit and Risk Committee report is available on page 54 of this integrated annual report. 

Remuneration and Nominations Committee

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee establishes the Group’s remuneration philosophy and reviews the 
terms and conditions of employment of the Executive Directors and other executives, as well as incentive schemes. 
Five meetings were held during the financial year under review.

  A full report from the Remuneration and Nominations Committee is set out on page 46 of this integrated annual report. 

Composition of the Board

The Board comprises three Executive Directors and five Non-executive Directors. The Non-executive Directors are free 
to make their own decisions and judgements. They enjoy no benefits from the Company for their services as Directors 
other than their fees, potential capital gains and dividends on their interests in ordinary shares and options. The Non-
executive Directors are high-calibre professionals and sufficient in number for their views to carry significant weight in 
the Board’s deliberations and decisions. The guidelines contained in the Listings Requirements of the JSE were used 
to test the category most applicable to each Director. The names and biographical details of each of the Directors are 
set out on pages 15 to 20 of this integrated annual report.

Board meetings

Six Board meetings were held during the financial year ended 31 March 2014. Board meetings are convened by formal 
notices incorporating a detailed agenda.

Attendance at Board meetings

23 Apr 
2013

20 Jun 
2013

3 Oct  
2013

30 Oct 
2013

19 Nov 
2013

28 Feb 
2014

AR Boje      

P Janse van Rensburg      

JG Pansegrouw      

DMT van Gaalen      

WN Khumalo      

RM Ramaite      

HLM Mathe    

K Maroga    

M Meyer (sponsor)      
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Share dealings

The Group has a written policy in place through which the dealings of Directors are regulated, monitored and disclosed 
as required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE. This policy is monitored by the Company Secretary. No 
trading by Directors is authorised without clearance first being received from the CEO. Should the CEO wish to trade in 
his shares, clearance must be obtained from the Board prior to any dealing. This policy is reviewed and updated from 
time-to-time to ensure that it is compliant with any changes in legislation and regulation.

Compliance with King III

The Group’s King III compliance report is available on the Company’s website.

Social and Ethics Committee

The Social and Ethics Committee is responsible for overseeing the social and ethics standards to be adhered to within 
Wescoal and reporting such to the Board of Directors. This is a new committee within the Wescoal structure which has 
adopted a Social and Ethics Charter and has ensured that an Ethics Policy is in place at Wescoal. 

Company Secretary

Ilze de Wet was appointed as the Group Company Secretary from 1 October 2013. Previously, Mr JW Walters fulfilled  
this role. The Company Secretary is responsible for providing the Board collectively, and each Director individually, 
with detailed guidance on the discharge of their duties and responsibilities in terms of specific legislation, regulatory 
requirements and best practice.

The Board of Directors have considered and are satisfied that the Company Secretary has the necessary competence, 
qualifications and experience. 

The Company Secretary fulfils no executive management function and is not a Director. Therefore, the Board is satisfied 
that the Company Secretary maintained an arm’s length relationship with the Executive team, the Board and the 
individual Directors.

Appointments to the Board

The Board has adopted a policy setting out the procedures for appointments to the Board. Such appointments are 
formal and transparent and a matter for the Board as a whole. During the year under review, Wescoal appointed 
Ms KM Maroga and Dr HLM Mathe as Independent Non-executive Directors.

Retirement and re‑election of Directors

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation (MoI), Directors shall retire at the first Annual General Meeting of the 
Company, and thereafter one-third of the Directors shall retire. Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders 
at the first opportunity after their initial appointment. The names of all the Directors submitted for re-election are 
accompanied by brief biographical details to enable shareholders to make an informed decision in respect of their 
election. In terms of the Company’s MoI, the Directors retire at the age of 75 years.
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remuneration and nominations Committee report

Introduction

The committee is made up of the following members:

DMT van Gaalen   Chairman and Lead Independent Director
JG Pansegrouw  Non-executive Director
HLM Mathe  Independent Non-executive Director
M Meyer   Exchange Sponsors

Phenomenal growth posted over the period under review saw the Group 
transformed. This called for structural changes and the need to revitalise 
the fundamental approach to business throughout the leadership platforms. 
Increased complexities demanded expanded diversity in the management 
structures and in the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors addressed its composition to embrace new challenges 
against a backdrop of increased responsibility. The sub-committees were 
immediately strengthened by the arrival of new Directors to meet added 
accountability.

The performance of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee (REMCO) 
delivered significant progress in support of the Group milestones attained in 
this period. The committee continued to successfully increase its engagement 
with all stakeholders, monitoring compliance in its areas of responsibility. 
Collaboration with Executive Management and other Board sub-committees 
sought to secure comprehensive corporate alignment. 

The role and contribution of REMCO was well supported by enabling structures 
put in place in prior years which continued to mature and sustain the Group’s 

strategic drive towards its stated vision to be “the leading junior coal miner 
with a sustainable resource base and a coal trading operation.”

REMCO is responsible for:

• Aiding and assisting the Board;
• Setting the terms of reference to enable transparency and disclosure;
• Overseeing adherence to the remuneration policies;
• Developing and overseeing incentive remuneration;
• Reviewing senior management remuneration;
• Reviewing Executive and Non-executive Director remuneration;
• Overseeing the Succession Planning Programme;
• Taking responsibility for the compliant nature of the Board composition;
• Benchmarking remuneration levels in support of retention;
• Advising on remuneration matters across the Group;
• Securing the talent, skills and value creation ability required for the 

strategy in executive leadership and Board positions;
• Evaluating new Directors and Directors in line for re-election;
• Executive talent resource; and
• Collaborating with the CEO.

The recommendations of the committee have been approved by the Board 
and will be submitted to shareholders for consideration at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM).

REMCO meets at least four times a year and is chaired by an Independent 
Non-executive Director. It comprises only Non-executive Directors. Appointed 
JSE sponsors, Exchange Sponsors, are invited to attend the meetings of the 
committee in their compliance advisory capacity.

The Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee establishes the Group’s 
remuneration philosophy and reviews the 
terms and conditions of employment of the 
Executive Directors and other executives, as 
well as monitoring the accuracy of performance 
measures and incentive schemes. The 
committee works to ensure that remuneration 
arrangements support the strategic aims of 
the business and are in line with market 
conditions. 

The responsibilities of the committee in the 
‘nomination’ arena make it responsible 
for the assessment and recommendation of 
Directors to the Board to ensure it has the 
right composition, skills set and experience to 
represent the appropriate diversity of views 
and backgrounds. The responsibilities of the 
committee extend to new Directors, Director 
re‑election and Executive Management.
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The work of REMCO in the restructuring processes 

Operations

The strategic acquisition of MacPhail saw a renewal with the launch of Wescoal Trading and a new senior management 
team at the helm.

Chandler Coal Senior Operations Directors, Gerrie Coetzee and Georg Botha, retired after more than 16 years of valued 
service. Industry veteran, Peter Andrew, who served as MD of Chandler, also took the opportunity of a well-deserved 
retirement. The Board would like to place on record its deep appreciation to these colleagues who made a significant 
contribution to building Wescoal. 

Chief Financial Officer, Piet Janse van Rensburg, resigned effective 30 June 2014. The Board recognises the significant 
work done by Piet over the past nine years spent at Wescoal. 

The Board unanimously decided to appoint a well-respected, richly experienced mining industry professional. 
Morné  du Plessis joined Wescoal at the beginning of June 2014 as the Acting Group Chief Financial Officer. Please 
see Morné’s detailed CV on page 18 of this integrated annual report. 

Board of Directors

The transformation of the Board to meet new challenges had already progressed at the time of the last integrated 
annual report. 

In the  current reporting period, the Board successfully inducted Ms Kabela Maroga and Dr Humphrey Mathe, who were 
strategically selected for their multi-faceted talents, as well as vast and varied industry expertise. The new Independent 
Non-executive Directors compliment a strong Board, understand the business and share the strategic outlook. This assists 
to strengthen management’s responsibility to monitor risk-related matters and to deal swiftly with the assessment of 
new opportunities. 

In the context of this fully revitalised Wescoal Holdings Board of Directors, the work of the Committee played a significant 
part in guiding the processes, working closely with the CEO. 

Meetings held and attendance

Five meetings were held during the financial year under review. Attendance at REMCO meetings are on record as follows: 

24 Jul 2013 20 Sep 2013 30 Oct 2013 27 Feb 2014 19 Mar 2014

DMT van Gaalen     

JG Pansegrouw     

HLM Mathe¹ - -   

AR Boje²  -   

M Meyer     

1.  HLM Mathe joined the Wescoal Holdings Board in July 2013 and was inducted into REMCO from October 2013. 
2.  Attendance on invitation only. 

The committee is responsible for reviewing and recommending to the Board the remuneration of Executive and Non-
executive Directors and senior management. Responsible remuneration practices are key to sustainability and governed 
by the Group’s Remuneration Policy. The approach, based on best practice in executive pay is key to positioning Wescoal 
as an employer of choice, which in turn supports its strategy to attract and retain the best talent required to achieve 
the business objectives. 

The committee therefore bases its recommendations on the achievement of certain key performance indicators 
and takes into consideration prevailing market conditions as a guideline in consultation with the Group Chief 
Executive Officer.

The Group CEO, AR Boje, attends meetings by invitation and assists the committee with its deliberations, except when 
issues relating to his own compensation are discussed. No Directors are involved in deciding their own remuneration.
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Workings Benefits Additional benefits

Compulsory for all full-time 
employees

Contributions:

• Wescoal (employer) – 7.5%
• Employee contributes either 

0%, 2.5%, 5.0% or 7.5%

Provident Fund

Life cover:

• Group Life Cover of twice 
annual salary

Family funeral plan

Employees earning <R10,000 pm:

• Group life cover of twice annual 
salary

• Capital disability cover of twice 
annual salary

 Employees earning >R10,000 pm:

• Group life cover of twice annual 
salary

• Income disability cover of 75% of 
monthly salary

Remuneration philosophy

The Wescoal philosophy is to remunerate its employees fairly, in relation to the market and the nature of the services it 
provides. The approach is guided by the Group’s Remuneration Policy.

The principles of good governance are applied in all remuneration-related matters which are conducted in absolute 
transparency, anchored by an extensive annual benchmarking exercise that is historically conducted by the committee. 

At this critical juncture, the committee decided to commission an independent organisation, PwC, to conduct a full-scale 
executive pay benchmarking study, after extensive research of the leading candidate research companies.

The study will serve as the frame of reference for the revision of policy to guide remuneration for senior executives across 
the full spectrum of pay, including guaranteed package, long- and short-term incentives as well as share option-based 
incentives – in an appropriate ‘pay mix’. In each individual case, the pay mix will be designed to focus on achievable 
organisational goals defined for the enterprise and for the attainment of personal objectives.

The process is guided by a full job evaluation process taking place as the first phase of the study and includes all 
executive positions and senior managers.

Key Initiatives of the Committee

Initiative Status Outcome

Board composition Completed Board is compliant with JSE Regulations
Selection and installation of 
new acting CFO

Completed Continuous business improvement

Group annual salary 
adjustment

Implemented Completed successfully/effective 1 April 2014

Job evaluation and Market 
Benchmarking Study

In progress by PwC Pay mix and incentive (both long and short 
term)

Non-executive pay increase Requires AGM approval Incorporated in integrated annual report
Revision and actualisation 
of the REMCO Charter

Approved by the Board Actualisation of the model and good 
governance compliance

Share Scheme Trust Registered Good governance and best practice
Oversight of new 
organisational structure

Work in progress Efficiencies, alignment and best practice

Employee Benefits 
Programme

Approved and implemented 
across all the companies in 
the Group

EOH appointed administrator

Corporate alignment

Employer of choice development programme
Variable/Executive pay 
annual assessment against 
performance

Concluded No bonuses granted

Incentive Scheme revision introduced

Retention strategy Ongoing Identified initiatives deployed successfully
Succession planning Ongoing Key focus area 
Transformation Ongoing Specific focus on management development 

initiatives 

Employee Benefits Programme

During the year Wescoal successfully implemented a new Wescoal Group Employee Benefits Programme, which 
consolidates an approach throughout the Group and encapsulates the introduction of the Wescoal Provident Fund 
under the administration of EOH. The development of the programme was met with broad support and is seen as a 
major step in the fulfilment of the Group’s stated commitment to the creation of value for all employees. Participation 
is compulsory for all Wescoal staff and the workings and benefits of the programme are summarised as follows: 
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Non-executive Directors’ fees are not linked or subject to the performance of the Group or to its share performance. 
Non-executive Directors do not receive performance-related bonuses and are not granted share options.

Non‑executive Directors’ fee structure

Category 2014 amount Comment

Meeting attendance R13,000 (2013: R11,880) Annual review – 1 October 
Committee Chairman attendance R20,000 (2013: R17,820) Annual review – 1 October
Chairman of the Board R26,000 (2013: R23,760) Annual review – 1 October

Monthly retainers 2014 amount Comment

Chairman of the Board R20,000 (2013: R11,880) Annual review – 1 October 
Lead Independent Director R15,000 (2013: R7,500) Annual review – 1 October
Other Non-execitives R10,000 (2013: R7,500) Annual review – 1 October

Conclusion

The duties and responsibilities of REMCO during the year under review have been in line with dynamic developments 
in the Group. The growth in the Group is also reflected in the activities of the committee.

A review of the high standard of corporate governance and the continual reappraisal the committee has brought to the 
Group over the past four years has provided an excellent reputational platform that ultimately has a bearing on the 
value of the Group as reflected in the growth of share value.

In closing, it is imperative to highlight the role of the REMCO members who deserve unreserved kudos for their 
commitment and dedication. I offer my thanks and appreciation to my fellow Directors, particularly because the rapid 
growth of the Company has compounded the vigilance needed to ensure the high standards of corporate governance 
set in previous years by the Group. 

The application of these standards often called for as much wisdom as rule-of-law in resolving issues.

 

Teresita van Gaalen
Chairperson: Remuneration and Nomination Committee
18 September 2014

Risk management and remuneration practices

REMCO ensures that corporate governance aspects and legal requirements are met when existing remuneration 
policies are reviewed and new plans and policies are put in place. In this approach, the committee ensures that 
shareholder interests are protected and the reward system and remuneration policies are aligned with the Company’s  
risk profile.

Executive pay annual adjustment process

It is standard practice at Wescoal to treat executive reward on merit. The Group continues to place significant value 
on individuals’ contribution.

In consultation with the CEO, the committee approved annual salary adjustments for all employees. 

REMCO appraised the overall performance of the Group and measured progress against the results to grant Group CEO, 
AR Boje, a ten percent increase in recognition of excellence and achievement.

Share Scheme Trust

The Wescoal Trust Share Option Scheme was registered and the trustees include head of the Audit and Risk Committee, 
Ms Kabela Maroga, Non-executive Director JG Pansegrouw, and REMCO Chairperson, DMT van Gaalen.

As part of the impact of the outcomes of the PwC executive pay benchmarking study, the workings and award mechanisms 
of the Wescoal Trust Share Option Scheme will be defined and applied. This in the context of best-practice, in support 
of the business strategies to attract and retain top professional achievers and in the process of positioning Wescoal as 
a competitive employer of choice.

Non‑executive Directors’ fees

In respect of Non-executive Directors, the committee proposed adjustments to their meeting fees in line with the Group 
annual adjustment approach for the period. The monthly retainer fees have been adjusted to bring Non-executive 
remuneration in line with current market fees. Non-executive remuneration still lags current market rates and the Group 
believes this three-year phased approach will provide a strong platform of appropriate and relevant compensation structures 
for Non-executive Directors, recognising the increased corporate governance obligations imposed on Directors, as well as 
the onerous personal liability that is inextricably linked with the role. This approach is to be ratified by the shareholders 
at the AGM and reflects the Group’s strategy – to offer benchmarked levels of remuneration to Non-executive Directors, in 
keeping with prevailing industry practice.
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Beneficial shareholders with a holding 
greater than 5% of the issued shares

Number of 
shareholdings

% of total 
shareholdings

Number of 
shares

% of shares in 
issue

Waterberg Portion Property (Pty) Ltd 1 0.06%  31,761,805 16.59%
MR Ramaite* 1 0.06%  23,897,273 12.48%
Proudafrique Trading 147 (Pty) Ltd 1 0.06%  14,285,714 7.46%
AR Boje** 3 0.17%  11,040,977 5.77%
Gujo Investments (Pty) Ltd 1 0.06%  10,800,000 5.64%
Total 7 0.41% 91,785,769 47.94%

* MR Ramaite has an indirect beneficial interest of 57% (18,104,229 shares) in Waterberg Portion Property (Pty) Ltd.
**  Includes 3,032,000 shares indirectly held.

Public and non‑public shareholders
Number of 

shareholdings
% of total 

shareholdings
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

Non‑public shareholders  16 0.92%  93,427,276 48.79%
Directors and associates of the Company and 
its subsidiaries  14 0.80% 70,853,700 37.00%
Directors and associates (direct holding)  10 0.57%  47,677,471 24.90%
Directors and associates (indirect holding)*  4 0.23% 23,176,229 12.10%
Empowerment holding (Less MR Ramaite's 
indirect holding)  1 0.06%  13,657,576 7.13%
Wescoal Share Incentive Trust  1 0.06%  8,916,000 4.66%
Public shareholders 1,733 99.08% 98,045,513 51.21%
Total 1,749 100.00% 191,472,789 100.00%

*  Included is MR Ramaite’s indirect beneficial holding in Waterberg Portion Property (Pty) Ltd of 18,104,229 shares or 9.45% of 
the shares in issue.

Total number of shareholdings 1,749
Total number of shares in issue 191,472,789

analysis of shareholders
as at 31 March 2014

Size of holdings
Number of 

shareholdings
% of total 

shareholdings
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

1–1,000 shares 324 18.52% 168,137 0.08%
1,001–10,000 shares 790 45.17% 4,100,132 2.14%
10,001–100,000 shares 529 30.25% 17,263,595 9.02%
100,001–1,000,000 shares 84 4.80% 24,579,539 12.84%
1,000,001 shares and over 22 1.26% 145,361,386 75.92%
Total 1,749 100.00% 191,472,789 100.00%

Distribution of shareholders
Number of 

shareholdings
% of total 

shareholdings
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

Close Corporations 23 1.33% 3,348,046 1.76%
Collective Investment Schemes 2 0.11% 3,849,750 2.01%
Control Account 1 0.06% 50 0.00%
Custodians 2 0.11% 93,165 0.05%
Empowerment 1 0.06% 31,761,805 16.59%
Foundations and Charitable Funds 2 0.11% 210,000 0.11%
Hedge Funds 2 0.11% 1,005,000 0.52%
Individuals 1,593 91.08% 93,588,285 48.88%
Investment Partnerships 16 0.91% 369,508 0.19%
Private Companies 27 1.54% 37,059,206 19.35%
Retirement Benefit Funds 4 0.23% 369,105 0.19%
Share Schemes 1 0.06% 8,916,000 4.66%
Stockbrokers and Nominees 2 0.11% 295,284 0.15%
Trusts 72 4.12% 10,607,584 5.54%
Unclaimed Scrip 1 0.06% 1 0.00%
Total 1,749 100.00% 191,472,789 100.00%
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Jse share price performance

Opening price 2 April 2013 R0.92
Closing price 28 March 2014 R2.05
Closing high for the period (18 November 2013) R2.50
Closing low for the period (3 April 2013) R0.92

Number of shares in issue 191,472,789
Volume traded during period 44,572,044
Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 23.28%
Total (R) value traded during period R72,932,467

JSE share information

Date Volume Value Close High Low

April 2013 3,379,302 3,186,957 100 105 92
May 2013 6,814,118 8,266,715 132 140 98
June 2013 3,339,505 4,918,762 156 165 128
July 2013 2,767,981 3,977,454 138 155 135
August 2013 6,678,388 9,832,569 155 170 136
September 2013 2,698,808 4,153,255 160 166 140
October 2013 4,024,731 6,886,086 193 200 151
November 2013 5,090,463 11,219,578 231 259 193
December 2013 1,464,376 3,303,801 229 249 209
January 2014 3,636,859 7,875,212 218 250 209
February 2014 1,668,006 3,523,194 210 220 200
March 2014 3,009,507 5,788,772 205 216 169
Grand total 44,572,044 72,932,355

non-public breakdown 2014
Count 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

Director D I Direct Indirect Total Direct Indirect

MR Ramaite 1 1  23,897,273  18,104,229  42,001,502  23,897,273  18,104,229 
AR Boje 2 1  8,008,977  3,032,000  11,040,977  8,008,977  3,008,000 
PJ Janse van Rensburg 2 0  1,815,000  -    1,815,000  520,000  -   
JG Pansegrouw 0 2  -   2,040,000 2,040,000  -   2,040,000
WN Khumalo 0 0  -    -    -    -    -   
DMT van Gaalen 0 0  -    -    -    -    -   
GM Botha 2 0  8,663,000  -    8,663,000  8,608,834  -   
G Coetzee 1 0  4,910,000  -    4,910,000  5,420,000  -   
HP Botes 2 0  383,221  -    383,221  213,221  -   

10 4  47,677,471 23,176,229 70,853,700  46,668,305 23,152,229

Empowerment 
Holding

Count 31 March 2014 31 March 2013
D I Direct Indirect Total Direct Indirect

Empowerment 
Holding (Less 
MR Ramaite’s indirect 
holding) 1 0  13,657,576  -    13,657,576  13,657,576  -   

Share Schemes
Count 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

D I Direct Indirect Total Direct Indirect

Wescoal Share 
Incentive Trust 1 0  8,916,000  -    8,916,000  8,870,000  -   

Total non‑public 93,427,276
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shareholders’ diary
Annual General Meeting   21 October 2014
Announcement of interim results November 2014
Financial year end   31 March 2015
Announcement of final results  May/June 2015

interaction with shareholders
Wescoal maintains an open dialogue with key financial audiences, including private shareholders and analysts. An 
Investor Relations Consultancy has been appointed, which further disseminates information to the market. Shareholders 
are encouraged to contact the consultancy or Wescoal management directly should they require additional information. 
The Investor Relations team, together with Executive Management, manage the dialogue with these respective 
audiences. The Group adopts a proactive stance regarding the timely dissemination of appropriate information to 
stakeholders and shareholders through print and electronic news releases and the statutory publication of the Group’s 
financial performance. Wescoal regularly holds shareholder briefings in which a presentation of the results, prospects 
and the operating environment are discussed. Site visits to outlying operations are undertaken and investor updates 
are regularly disseminated to existing and potential shareholders.

The Group’s website provides the latest and historical financial as well as other information, such as the Wescoal share price 
and the international coal price of API#4, including the financial reports and information on the subsidiaries of the Company.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend its AGM, notice of which is contained in this integrated annual report, where 
shareholders will have the opportunity to put questions to the Board, including the Chairmen of the Board committees.
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Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa
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 JG Pansegrouw
 HLM Mathe (Appointed 1 August 2013)
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 DMT van Gaalen
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Registered office Unit A3, Isando Business Park, Cnr Hulley and Gewel Street,  
Isando, 1601

Business address Unit A3, Isando Business Park, Cnr Hulley and Gewel Street,  
Isando, 1601

Postal address PO Box 1962, Edenvale, 1610

Ultimate holding company Wescoal Holdings Limited

Bankers Absa Bank

Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Registered Auditor

Secretary Ilze de Wet

Level of assurance These consolidated annual financial statements have been 
audited in compliance with the applicable requirements of the 
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008.

Preparer The consolidated annual financial statements were compiled by 
M du Plessis (CA (SA))

Published 18 September 2014
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Appointment

The Audit and Risk Committee is appointed at each Annual General Meeting as required by the Companies Act, No. 
71 of 2008 (the Act), part D, section 94. This section requires the committee to prepare a report to be included in the 
annual financial statements for that financial year, specifying the matters set out below.

Constitution of the committee

The committee consists of three Non-executive Directors who are recommended by the Board and confirmed by shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting. I have been appointed as Independent Non-executive Chairman of the committee from 
1 July 2013. Biographical details of the members of the committee can be found on pages 16 to 18 of this report.

The CEO, the CFO, representatives of the external auditors, other assurance providers, other professional advisors and 
other persons attend meetings as invitees. 

The previous Chief Financial Officer, Piet Janse van Rensburg, resigned with effect from 30 June 2014 and Morné du Plessis 
was appointed as Acting Chief Financial Officer with effect from 1 July 2014. Biographical details of Morné can be 
found on page 18 of this report.

On 3 October 2013 the Board resolved to incorporate the monitoring of risk management under the scope of the 
Audit Committee.

Responsibilities

In addition to the duties required of it by the Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and King III, the main 
responsibility of the committee is to assist the Board in discharging its duties relating to the monitoring and review of:

• The effectiveness of the Group’s information systems and other systems of internal control;
• The effectiveness of the internal audit function;
• The reports of both the external and internal auditors;
• The integrated annual report and specifically the annual financial statements included therein;
• The accounting policies of the Group and any proposed revisions thereto;

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended (the Act), I hereby 
certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, Wescoal Holdings Limited has lodged with the Companies and 
Intellectual Property Commission, for the financial year ended 31 March 2014, all such returns and notices as required 
in terms of the Act, and that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

 

Ilze de Wet
Company Secretary, Wescoal Limited
18 September 2014
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Conclusion

The external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee and its Chairperson with a view to 
ensuring that their independence is not impaired. The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the external auditor 
was independent of the Company. 

Notwithstanding the ongoing initiatives or matters requiring attention noted above, the committee has satisfied itself 
that the internal control environment, disciplines and procedures are adequate to comply with the Act, to minimise 
the financial risks of the Group, and to provide adequate information in a timeous manner to enable management 
and the Audit and Risk Committee to perform their responsibilities. The committee is of the opinion that its objectives 
were met during the year under review.

In the new financial year there will be a strong focus on improving internal controls and risk management in order to 
improve the controls environment within the Group and to ensure that risks are identified and actions taken timeously.

K Maroga
18 September 2014

• The external audit findings, reports and fees and the approval thereof; 
• The safeguarding of assets and the operation of adequate systems, accounting practices and control processes;
• Promoting the overall effectiveness of good corporate governance in the Group, including the governance of risk;
• Compliance with applicable legislation and requirements of regulatory authorities; and
• The principles for recommending the use of external auditors for non-audit services.

Audit and Risk Committee meetings

Four Audit and Risk Committee meetings were held during and subsequent to the financial year ended 31 March 2014. 
The external auditors presented formal reports to the committee and attended meetings by invitation.

Audit and Risk Committee meetings held during and subsequent to the financial year ended 31 March 2014

12 June  
2013

25 October 
2013

27 February 
2014

18 June  
2014

JG Pansegrouw  
(Chairman until 30 June 2013; 
member from 1 July 2013)    

K Maroga  
(Member and Chairman from 
1 July 2013) N/A   

DMT van Gaalen (Member)    Apology

P Janse van Rensburg  
(Invitee – CFO)   Apology Apology

AR Boje (Invitee – CEO)    

M Meyer (Sponsor)    

JP van Staden (PwC)    
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The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Group’s consolidated annual 
financial statements. The consolidated annual financial statements have been examined by the Group’s external auditors 
and their report is presented on page 61.

The consolidated annual financial statements, set out on pages 62 to 104, which have been prepared on the going-
concern basis, were approved by the Board on 18 September 2014 and were signed on its behalf by:

 
 

André Boje Morné du Plessis
Chief Executive Officer Financial Director
18 September 2014 18 September 2014

The Directors are required in terms of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, to maintain adequate accounting records 
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the consolidated annual financial statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the consolidated annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and 
cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the consolidated annual financial statements.

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and are based on appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established 
by the Group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors 
to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss 
in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 
These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring that the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it 
by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
consolidated annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2015 and, in the light of this 
review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has access to adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
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Post‑financial year‑end events

On 24 June 2014 the Group announced that Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Wescoal, 
has entered into a Sale of Asset Agreement to purchase from Muhanga Mines Proprietary Limited certain assets, including 
the coal processing plant, and certain liabilities, subject to certain suspensive conditions.

On 14 July 2014 Wescoal announced that all the resolutions to approve the Second Minoscape acquisition and specific 
issue of shares were passed by the requisite majorities of votes of shareholders present and represented by proxy.

On 7 August 2014 the Group announced that Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Wescoal, entered 
into an agreement with Mintirho Mining (Pty) Ltd to purchase a Mining Right from Mintirho Mining.

The Directors are not aware of any other matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year relevant 
to an assessment of the annual financial statements at 31 March 2014, except as mentioned above.

Directors’ interest in contracts

During the year ended 31 March 2014, none of the Directors had any interest in any contract or arrangement entered 
into by the Company or its subsidiaries.

Compliance with financial reporting standards

The Wescoal Group and Company annual financial statements comply with IFRS, the South African Companies Act 
and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Share Incentive Scheme

The Directors are authorised to issue, allot and grant options to acquire up to a maximum of 29,186,272 ordinary 
shares in the issued share capital of the Company in terms of the Share Incentive Scheme. By 31 March 2014 a 
cumulative total of 17,570,000 (2013: 14,970,000) share options had been allotted to employees of the Group, of 
which 6,054,000 (2013: nil) had been exercised. At 31 March 2014, unexercised share options under the scheme 
amounted to 11,516,000 (2013: 14,970,000), representing 6% (2013: 9%) of the issued shares of the Group. 

The Directors submit their report for the year ended 31 March 2014.

Shareholders with 5% or more of any class of shares

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
Shareholder No. of shares % of shares No. of shares % of shares
Waterberg Portion Property (Pty) Ltd 31,761,805 16.59 31,761,805 19.04
MR Ramaite 23,897,273 12.48 23,897,273 14.33
Proudafrique Trading 147 (Pty) Ltd 14,285,714 7.46 - -
AR Boje 11,040,977 5.77 11,040,977 6.60
Gujo Investments (Pty) Ltd 10,800,000 5.64 10,800,000 6.47

The percentage of share calculation is based on the issued share capital of 191,472,789 as further analysed on page 50.

Review of activities

Main business and operations

The main business of the Company is that of an investment and management company with operating subsidiaries 
engaged in the mining, processing and trading of coal. The Group operates principally in South Africa. The operating 
results and state of affairs of the Group and Company are fully set out in the annual financial statements and do not, 
in our opinion, require any further comment.

The Group made a profit after tax of R86.7 million (2013: R19.7 million). 

Detail of operating segments in terms of IFRS 8 is disclosed in note 38.

Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
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Corporate governance

The Directors acknowledge the importance of sound corporate governance and the guidelines set out in the report of 
the King Commission on Corporate Governance for South Africa (the Code). The Directors therefore embrace the Code 
as far as is appropriate, having regard for the size and nature of the various companies making up the Group. The 
Board will continue to take such measures as are practicable to comply with the Code.

Dividend policy

For the year ended 2014, Wescoal declared a final gross dividend of 3.8 cents per share, which was payable to 
shareholders recorded in the register of the Company at the close of business on the record date appearing below.

The dividend was paid from the Company’s cash reserves. This translates into a dividend cover of four times, which 
will be reviewed annually.

The salient dates applicable to the final dividend were as follows:

Last day to trade shares cum dividend Friday, 25 July
Shares trade ex dividend Monday, 28 July
Record date Friday, 1 August
Payment date Monday, 4 August
No share certificates may be dematerialised or 
rematerialised between

Monday, 28 July 2014 and Friday, 1 August 2014, both dates 
inclusive

In terms of the new Dividends Tax effective 1 April 2012, the following additional information is disclosed:

1.  The local Dividend Tax rate is 15%;
2.  The net local dividend amount is 3.23 cents per share for shareholders liable to pay the new Dividends Tax and 

3.8 cents per share for shareholders exempt from paying the new Dividends Tax;
3.  The issued ordinary share capital of Wescoal is 193,687,075 ordinary shares;
4.  The company’s tax reference number is 9876593147; and
5.  No STC credits have been utilised.

Options are exercisable in five equal tranches, annually on the anniversary date of the options. The market value of 
shares relating to share options outstanding at year-end amounts to R23,607,800 (2013: R13,922,100). Options 
granted to employees have a five year contractual life and are forfeited if not exercised on termination of employment.

Borrowing limitations

In terms of the Articles of Association of the Company, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to 
borrow money, as they consider appropriate.

Share capital

Authorised

There was no change in the authorised share capital of the Company during the year. The authorised share capital of 
the Company is 500,000,000 ordinary no par value shares.

Issued

The movement of shares during the year was as follows:

Reported as at 1 April 2013 166,801,361
Shares issued to Proudafrique Trading 147 (Pty) Ltd in lieu of dividends as part of the sale of 
Vlaklaagte Mineral Right

14,285,714

Shares issued to Minoscape (Pty) Ltd as part of the purchase of 30% interest in Proudafrique Trading 
147 (Pty) Ltd

*6,500,000

Shares issued to Share Trust for share options issued 6,100,000
Less: Treasury shares held by Share Trust (8,916,000)

184,771,075

* This balance includes 2,214,286 shares that were only issued after year-end. For accounting purposes these shares are treated as 
issued from the date they became contractually due to Minoscape (Pty) Ltd, which was on 26 November 2013.

In terms of the authority granted by shareholders at the last annual general meeting held, all of the authorised but 
unissued share capital is placed under the control of the Directors. This authority expires at the next annual general 
meeting where shareholders will be asked to renew this authority.
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Ordinary resolutions

•  Re-appointment of Mr K Pansegrouw and Ms K Maroga as Directors;
•  Appointment of Audit Committee members Ms K Maroga, Mr JG Pansegrouw and Ms DMT van Gaalen;
•  The appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as independent auditors of the Company;
•  To place the authorised and unissued ordinary share capital under the control of the Directors of the Company;
•  To authorise the Directors of the Company to issue unissued, but authorised shares for cash; and
•  The ratification of the remuneration policy.

Special resolutions

•  The authorisation of Non-executive Directors’ remuneration;
•  The authorisation of financial assistance to all related or inter-related companies; and
•  The general approval to repurchase Company shares.

Interest in subsidiaries

Name of subsidiary

Percentage holding

%

Net income/(loss) after tax

R
Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd 100% (5,509,525)
Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd 100% 37,378,196
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries (Pty) Ltd 100% 5,232,233
Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd 100% (579,395)
Wescoal Exploration (Pty) Ltd 60% 42,289,641
(JJP) Res Ged 2 Van Plaas Vlakvarkfontein 213 (Pty) Ltd 100% 21,113
(JJP) Ged 6 (Van Ged 2) Van Plaas Vlakvarkfontein 213 (Pty) Ltd 100% 22,143
(JJP) Ged 16 (Van Ged 2) Van Plaas Vlakvarkfontein 213 (Pty) Ltd 100% 21,334

Details of the Company’s investment in subsidiaries are set out in note 8.

Independent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. (Johannesburg) will continue in office as Wescoal’s independent auditors for the ensuing 
year following their appointment in accordance with the Companies Act of South Africa.

Listing

The abbreviated name under which the Company is listed on the Main Board of the JSE Limited is ‘Wescoal’ and the 
short code is WSL.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the reporting period were as follows:

Name Nationality

AR Boje South African
P Janse van Rensburg (resigned 30 June 2014) South African
JG Pansegrouw South African
MR Ramaite South African
DMT van Gaalen Costa Rican
WN Khumalo South African
KM Maroga (appointed 1 July 2013) South African
HLM Mathe (appointed 1 August 2013) South African
M du Plessis (appointed 1 July 2014) South African

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Ilze de Wet.

Litigation statements

The directors are not aware of any major litigation or intended litigation against the Company.

Resolutions

The following resolutions were approved by shareholders at an annual general meeting of the Company held on 
16 October 2013:
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Executive Directors

31 March 2013

AJ Boje

R

P Janse van 
Rensburg

R

WN Khumalo

R
Remuneration 2,241,685 1,469,481 1,265,000
Medical and provident fund contributions 107,463 166,584 -
Annual bonus 186,807 145,320 57,500
Fringe and other benefits - 120,000 -
Cash total 2,535,955 1,901,385 1,322,500
IFRS 2: Expense relating to share options granted 143,226 60,012 -

Non‑executive Directors

31 March 2014

MR Ramaite 

R

JG Pansegrouw

R

DMT van Gaalen

R

H Mathe

R

KM Maroga

R
Fees for service as a Director 332,640 375,000 215,940 116,280 140,040

Non‑executive Directors

31 March 2013

MR Ramaite

R

JG Pansegrouw

R

DMT van Gaalen

R

WN Khumalo

R
Fees for service as a Director 308,000 170,500 308,000 11,000

Share options in the Company held by Directors

Financial 
year 

granted

Option grant  
(strike price) 

cents

Balance held 
at 1 March 

2013

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Balance held 
at 31 March 

2014
Available for 

take‑up
AR Boje 2011 106 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 600,000

2013 90 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 300 000
P Janse van Rensburg 2006 50 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 - -

2008 89 450,000 - 450,000 - -
2010 86 550,000 - - 550,000 440,000
2011 106 260,000 - - 260,000 156,000
2013 90 240,000 - - 240,000 48,000

Directors’ interest in the issued share capital

31 March 2014

Direct 
beneficial

R

Indirect 
beneficial

R

Direct non‑
beneficial

R

Indirect non‑
beneficial

R
MR Ramaite 23,897,273 18,104,229 - -
AR Boje 8,008,977 3,032,000 - -
JG Pansegrouw - 2,040,000 - -
P Janse van Rensburg* 1,815,000 - - -

33,721,250 23,176,229 ‑ ‑

* P Janse van Rensburg resigned effective 30 June 2014, and during July 2014 and August 2014 he sold 649,435 shares.

31 March 2013

Direct 
beneficial

R

Indirect 
beneficial

R

Direct non‑
beneficial

R

Indirect non‑
beneficial

R
MR Ramaite 23,897,723 18,104,229 - -
AR Boje 8,008,977 3,008,000 - -
JG Pansegrouw - - - 2,040,000
P Janse van Rensburg 520,000 - - -

32,426,700 21,112,229 - 2,040,000

The tables above reflect the beneficial and non-beneficial interest of Directors in the issued share capital of the Company.

Directors’ remuneration

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out below:

Executive Directors

31 March 2014

AJ Boje

R

P Janse van 
Rensburg

R

WN Khumalo

R
Remuneration 3,790,561 1,639,643 1,490,400
Medical and provident fund contributions 26,249 - -
Annual bonus 375,000 156,945 124,200
Fringe and other benefits 165,000 120,000 -
Cash total 4,356,810 1,916,588 1,614,600
IFRS 2: Expense relating to share options granted 180,774 66,020 -

60

directors’ report (continued)



Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of Wescoal Holdings Limited as at 31 March 2014, and its consolidated and separate 
financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014, we have 
read the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of 
identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate 
financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we 
have not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial 
statements. However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: JP van Staden
Registered Auditor 
2 Eglin Road, 
Sunninghill,
2157

18 September 2014

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Wescoal Holdings Limited set out on pages 
62 to 104, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 March 2014, and the statements of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 
Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Group

2014
2013  

(Restated)
2012 

(Restated)
Notes R R R

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Share capital 15 166,715,378 137,091,978 137,091,978
Share-based payment reserve 3,058,590 1,355,274 802,720
Retained income 103,627,504 39,050,263 19,343,010

273,401,472 177,497,515 157,237,708
Non-controlling interest (176,799) (176,799) (176,799)

273,224,673 177,320,716 157,060,909

Liabilities
Non‑current liabilities
Instalment sale agreements 16 2,102,874 786,319 8,182,963
Deferred tax 10 15,076,368 55,856 131,594
Provisions 17 24,282,192 14,187,866 8,793,820
Interest-bearing borrowings 18 55,009,424 337,900 547,899

96,470,858 15,367,941 17,656,276

Current liabilities
Current tax payable 10,267,796 11,414 35,148
Instalment sale agreements 16 1,915,757 8,594,884 10,213,631
Trade and other payables 19 220,211,729 87,619,133 96,170,990
Interest-bearing borrowings 18 121,875,962 210,000 189,155
Bank overdraft 14 175,833 - 250,357

354,447,077 96,435,431 106,859,281
Total liabilities 450,917,935 111,803,372 124,515,557
Total equity and liabilities 724,142,608 289,124,088 281,576,466

Group

2014
2013  

(Restated)
2012 

(Restated)
Notes R R R

Assets
Non‑current assets
Investment property 4 709,250 709,250 709,250
Property, plant and equipment 5 217,121,834 84,800,285 73,568,143
Goodwill 6 73,636,515 49,736,149 49,737,559
Intangible assets 7 38,085,900 917,900 917,900
Interests in associates 8 19,365,000 - -
Deferred tax 10 169,465 3,719,065 8,980,610
Investments 11 6,663,881 2,293,031 1,210,296

355,751,845 142,175,680 135,123,758

Current assets
Inventories 12 60,839,013 15,986,150 13,156,524
Current tax receivable - 280,000 280,000
Trade and other receivables 13 255,388,592 109,312,474 112,853,177
Cash and cash equivalents 14 52,163,158 21,369,784 20,163,007

368,390,763 146,948,408 146,452,708
Total assets 724,142,608 289,124,088 281,576,466
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Company

2014
2013  

(Restated)
2012 

(Restated)
Notes R R R

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Share capital 15 166,715,378 137,091,978 137,091,978
Share-based payment reserve 3,058,590 1,355,274 802,720
Retained income 33,047,842 4,992,196 9,875,897

202,821,810 143,439,448 147,770,595
Non-controlling interest - - -

202,821,810 143,439,448 147,770,595

Liabilities
Non‑current liabilities
Instalment sale agreements 16 - - -
Deferred tax 10 - - -
Provisions 17 - - -
Interest-bearing borrowings 18 42,596,302 - -

42,596,302 ‑ ‑

Current liabilities
Current tax payable - - -
Loans from Group companies 9 36,038,599 818,913 -
Instalment sale agreements 16 - - -
Trade and other payables 19 3,959,481 545,398 207,473
Interest-bearing borrowings 18 21,014,330 - -
Bank overdraft 14 - - 250,357

61,012,410 1,364,311 457,830
Total liabilities 103,608,712 1,364,311 457,830
Total equity and liabilities 306,430,522 144,803,759 148,228,425

Company

2014
2013  

(Restated)
2012 

(Restated)
Notes R R R

Assets
Non‑current assets
Investment property 4 - - -
Property, plant and equipment 5 22,101 11,959,786 10,585,437
Goodwill 6 - - -
Intangible assets 7 - - -
Interests in subsidiaries 8 34,090,942 32,972,608 32,642,127
Loans to Group companies 9 230,584,462 94,682,174 99,950,861
Deferred tax 10 - - -
Investments 11 - - -

264,697,505 139,614,568 143,178,425

Current assets
Inventories 12 - - -
Loans to Group companies 9 26,000,000 - -
Trade and other receivables 13 15,726,375 5,075,951 5,050,000
Cash and cash equivalents 14 6,642 113,240 -

41,733,017 5,189,191 5,050,000
Total assets 306,430,522 144,803,759 148,228,425
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Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Notes R R R R

Revenue 24 1,147,444,184 676,926,806 16,625,352 1,694,797
Cost of sales 25 (1,021,915,261) (604,252,532) - -
Gross profit 125,528,923 72,674,274 16,625,352 1,694,797
Other income 26 74,598,991 3,883,755 25,373,728 -
Operating expenses (81,259,364) (48,849,478) (18,312,016) (15,243,263)
Operating profit/(loss) 27 118,868,550 27,708,551 23,687,064 (13,548,466)
Interest received 28 264,869 695,626 13,415,336 9,386,029
Finance costs 29 (9,614,950) (3,358,296) (3,859,713) (721,265)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 109,518,469 25,045,881 33,242,687 (4,883,702)
Taxation 30 (22,838,331) (5,338,628) - -
Profit/(loss) for the year 86,680,138 19,707,253 33,242,687 (4,883,702)
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
for the year 86,680,138 19,707,253 33,242,687 (4,883,702)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent – Continuing operations 69,764,282 19,707,253 33,242,687 (4,883,702)
Non-controlling interest – Continuing operations 16,915,856 - - -

86,680,138 19,707,253 33,242,687 (4,883,702)

Total comprehensive income/loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent - continuing operations 69,764,282 19,707,253 33,242,687 (4,883,702)

Non-controlling interests
- continuing operations 16,915,856 - - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 86,680,138 19,707,253 33,242,687 (4,883,702)

Earnings per Share 31
From continuing operations
- basic 41.02 12.46
- diluted 40.21 12.45
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Share capital
Share-based payment 

reserve Retained income

Total attributable to 
equity holders of the 

Group/Company Non-controlling interest Total equity
R R R R R R

Group
Balance at 1 April 2012 137,091,978 802,720 19,343,010 157,237,708 (176,799) 157,060,909
Profit for the year - - 19,707,253 19,707,253 - 19,707,253
Employee share option scheme - 552,554 - 552,554 - 552,554
Balance at 1 April 2013 137,091,978 1,355,274 39,050,263 177,497,515 (176,799) 177,320,716
Profit for the year - - 69,764,282 69,764,282 16,915,856 86,680,138
Issue of shares 29,623,400 - - 29,623,400 - 29,623,400
Employee share option scheme - 1,703,316 - 1,703,316 - 1,703,316
Dividends - - *(5,187,041) (5,187,041) (16,915,856) (22,102,897)
Balance at 31 March 2014 166,715,378 3,058,590 103,627,504 273,401,472 (176,799) 273,224,673
Note 15

Share capital
Share-based payment 

reserve Retained income

Total attributable to 
equity holders of the 

Group/Company Non-controlling interest Total equity
R R R R R R

Company
Balance at 1 April 2012 137,091,978 802,720 9,875,897 147,770,595 - 147,770,595
Loss for the year - - (4,883,701) (4,883,702) - (4,883,702)
Employee share option scheme - 552,554 - 552,554 - 552,554
Balance at 1 April 2013 137,091,978 1,355,274 4,992,196 143,439,447 - 143,439,447
Profit for the year - - 33,242,687 33,242,687 - 33,242,687
Issue of shares 29,623,400 - - 29,623,400 - 29,623,400
Employee share option scheme - 1,703,316 - 1,703,316 - 1,703,316
Dividends - - *(5,187,041) (5,187,041) - (5,187,041)
Balance at 31 March 2014 166,715,378 3,058,590 33,047,842 202,821,810 - 202,821,810
Note 15

* A dividend of 3 cents per share was declared and paid to the ordinary shareholders of the company during the year.
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Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Notes R R R R

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations 32 47,134,661 38,491,959 (8,338,023) (13,014,418)
Interest income 264,869 695,626 13,415,336 9,386,029
Dividends paid (5,187,041) - (5,187,041) -
Finance costs (7,714,949) (3,358,296) (3,859,713) (721,265)
Tax paid 33 (4,686,837) (176,555) - -
Net cash from operating activities 29,810,703 35,652,734 (3,969,441) (4,349,654)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (85,276,557) (13,370,457) - (1,374,349)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 5 8,048,994 863,158 - -
Purchase of other intangible assets 7 - (11,519,410) - -
Assets acquired through business acquisition 20 (84,283,634) - - -
Associate acquired 8 (5,000,000) - - -
Loans advanced to Group companies - - (65,006,189) -
Purchase of rehabilitation investment 11 (4,148,780) (964,346) - -
Net cash from investing activities (170,659,977) (24,991,055) (65,006,189) (1,374,349)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds on share issue 15 5,258,400 - 5,258,400 -
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 180,963,359 - 66,993,400 6,087,600
Repayments of long-term borrowings (4,625,874) (189,154) (3,382,768) -
Repayment of instalment sale agreements (10,129,070) (9,015,391) - -
Net cash from financing activities 171,466,815 (9,204,545) 68,869,032 6,087,600

Total cash movement for the year 30,617,541 1,457,134 (106,598) 363,597
Cash at the beginning of the year 21,369,784 19,912,650 113,240 (250,357)
Total cash at end of the year 14 51,987,325 21,369,784 6,642 113,240
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1. Presentation of consolidated annual financial statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), and the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008. The principal accounting policies adopted and the methods of computation 
used in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below and are consistent in all material respects with 
those applied during the previous year, except for those changes which have occurred as a result of the adoption of new 
and amended IFRS interpretations and circulars as disclosed in note 2.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal accounting 
policies set out below. They are presente]d in South African Rand and are prepared in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement criteria of IFRS and its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in 
issue and effective for the entity at 31 March 2014 and the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting 
Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council.

1.1 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the consolidated annual financial statements of the Group and 
all entities, including special purpose entities, which are controlled by the Group.

Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the effective date of acquisition 
to the effective date of disposal.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the consolidated annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the Group’s 
interest therein, and are recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests are allocated to 
the non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance being recognised for non-controlling interest.

Transactions which result in changes in ownership levels, where the Group has control of the subsidiary both before and 
after the transaction are regarded as equity transaction and are recognised directly in the statement of changes in equity.

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid or received and the movement in non-controlling interest for 
such transactions is recognised in equity attributable to the owners of the parent.

Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a non-controlling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is measured 
to fair value with the adjustment to fair value recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the 
controlling interest.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the business combination 
is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued. 
Costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are 
amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the combination at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Subsequent 
changes to the assets, liability or equity which arise as a result of the contingent consideration are not affected against 
goodwill, unless they are valid measurement period adjustments.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of IFRS 3: 
Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal 
group) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held-for-sale and Discontinued 
Operations, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where there is a present 
obligation at acquisition date.

On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the acquiree’s assets and liabilities and reclassifies them where 
the classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes lease agreements and insurance contracts, whose 
classification remains as per their inception date.

Non-controlling interests arising from a business combination, which are present ownership interests, and entitle their 
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation, are measured either at the present 
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The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher 
of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the assumption may change, which may then impact our estimations and 
may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and assets.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. Assets are 
grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and 
liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash 
flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill and assets 
are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. 

Mine rehabilitation provision

Environmental and decommissioning costs are provided for, where either a legal or constructive obligation is recognised 
as a result of past events.

The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision annually. Significant estimates and assumptions are made in 
determining the provision for mine rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that will affect the ultimate liability 
payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and cost of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, 
regulatory changes, cost increases as compared to inflation rates and changes in discount rates. Those uncertainties may 
result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. The provision at year end represents 
management’s best estimate of the present value of the future rehabilitation costs required.

These long-term obligations result from environmental disturbances associated with the Group’s mining operation. 
Estimates are determined by an independent environmental specialists in accordance with environmental regulations.

ownership interests’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, or at fair 
value. The treatment is not an accounting policy choice, but is selected for each individual business combination and 
disclosed in the note for business combinations.

In cases where the Group held a non-controlling shareholding in the acquiree prior to obtaining control, that interest 
is measured to fair value as at acquisition date. The measurement to fair value is included in profit or loss for the 
year. Where the existing shareholding was classified as an available-for-sale financial asset, the cumulative fair value 
adjustments recognised previously to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are recognised in profit 
or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the consolidated annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts represented in the consolidated annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of 
available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in 
the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the consolidated annual financial statements. 
Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables

The Group assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data 
indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on an individual basis, based on historical loss or default ratios, 
adjusted for national and industry-specific economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting date.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
at the end of each reporting period. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine 
fair value for the remaining financial instruments. 
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require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates of future 
capital expenditure. Numerous units-of-production (UOP) depreciation methodologies are available to choose from; 
the Group adopts a Run of the Mine (ROM) tons of ore produced methodology for mining costs.

Inventories

Net realisable value tests are performed at least annually and represent the estimated future sales price of the product 
based on selling prices at the reporting date. Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. The net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling costs.

1.3 Investment property

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic benefits 
that are associated with the investment property will flow to the enterprise, and the cost of the investment property 
can be measured reliably.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement. 

Cost model

Investment property is carried at cost less depreciation less any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write down the cost, less estimated residual value by equal instalments over the useful life 
of the property, which is as follows:

Item  Useful life
Property – land  Indefinite

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• It is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and 
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

The net present value of future mine rehabilitation cost estimates as at year end is recognised and provided for in full 
in the financial statements. The estimates are reviewed annually to take into account the effects of changes in the 
estimates. Estimated cash flows have been adjusted to reflect risks and timing specific to the rehabilitation liability. 
Discount rates that reflect the time value of money are utilised in calculating the present value.

Changes in the measurement of the liability, apart from unwinding the discount, which is recognised in profit or loss 
as finance cost, are capitalised to the environmental rehabilitation asset.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred 
income tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 

Expected manner of realisation for deferred tax

Judgement is required in determining whether deferred tax assets are recognised in the statement of financial position. 
Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unutilised tax losses, require management to assess the likelihood 
that the Group will generate taxable earnings in future periods in order to utilise recognised tax assets. Estimates of 
future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each 
jurisdiction. The extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the 
Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date, could be impacted.

Units‑of‑production depreciation

Estimated recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation and/or amortisation of mine-specific assets. 
This results in a depreciation/amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life of mine 
production. Each item’s life, which is assessed annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and to present 
assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which the asset is located. These calculations 
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Mine development assets are depreciated on a unit-of-production basis, in proportion to the ROM tons of coal extracted 
in the year compared with total proven and probable reserves at the beginning of the year, once in the form intended 
for use by management.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 
If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss, unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or 
loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the 
item. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

No assets became temporarily idle during the financial year and no assets were retired from active use to be classified 
as held for sale in terms of IFRS 5.

1.5 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 
assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment 
losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of 
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those 
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination 
in which the goodwill arose and are identified according to operating segment.

Goodwill is determined, as the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any shareholding held prior to obtaining 
control, plus non-controlling interest and less the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Cost includes costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to or replace part of it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item 
of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where 
the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories.

Major spare parts and stand-by equipment which are expected to be used for more than one period are included in 
property, plant and equipment. In addition, spare parts and stand-by equipment which can only be used in connection 
with an item of property, plant and equipment are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Land is not depreciated. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected 
useful lives to their estimated residual value.

Assets under construction include cost incurred with regards to mine development. Mine development assets are 
initially measured at cost.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment were assessed as follows:

Item  Average useful life
Buildings 50 years
Plant and machinery 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 10 years
IT equipment 3 years
Mining properties – units of production  Estimated ROM tons
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The cost of an investment in an associate/subsidiary is the aggregate of:

• The fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 
issued by the Group; plus

• Any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying 
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of 
acquisition. The Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition. 

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment 
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest 
in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associates are 
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group.

1.8 Financial instruments

Classification

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred.

Goodwill is not amortised, but is tested on an annual basis for impairment. If goodwill is assessed to be impaired, 
that impairment is not subsequently reversed.

1.6 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• It is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and 
• The cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets – brands, trademarks, client relationships and customer lists are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses. There are no intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life. For intangible 
assets – brands, trademarks, client relationships and customer lists amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis 
over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period end.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an 
indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result, the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying 
amount is amortised over its useful life.

The useful lives of items of intangible assets – brands, trademarks and client relationships have been assessed as follows

Item  Useful life
Intangible assets – bands and trademarks 5 years
Intangible assets – client relationships 5 years 
Customer lists 5 years 

1.7 Interests associates/subsidiaries

Group consolidated annual financial statements

Subsidiaries

In the Group’s separate consolidated annual financial statements, interests in associates/subsidiaries are carried at 
cost less any accumulated impairment.
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Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the Group assesses all financial assets to determine whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For loans receivable, the impairment is measured as the difference between financial asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The asset’s carrying amount is reduced and the amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income.

A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that loss event has 
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss on trade receivables 
includes significant difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation 
and default or delinquency in payments.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the 
financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised.

Loans to/(from) Group companies

Loans to/(from) Group companies are classified as loans and receivables, initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Loans from Group companies that are repayable on demand are included 
in current liabilities. Loans to Group companies with no fixed repayment terms are included in current and non-current 
assets based on expected repayments.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are amounts due from customers for services 
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets.

The Group classifies financial assets into the following categories: 

• At fair value through profit or loss (rehabilitation investment); and
• Loans and receivables (loans receivable, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents).

The Group classifies financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Financial liabilities at amortised cost (borrowings and trade and other payables).

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value with movements recognised 
in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
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recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except 
to the extent that the tax arises from:

• A transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or
• Equity.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that 
are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or 
charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.10 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. 

Finance leases – lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the 
fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is 8.5%.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 
and bank overdrafts.

Rehabilitation investment

The rehabilitation investment with Old Mutual is designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as 
this investment is managed on a fair value basis. This investment is measured at fair value, with fair value movements 
accounted for in profit or loss.

1.9 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid 
in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/
(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected 
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax 
liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not 
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The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. It excludes borrowing costs.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses 
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal 
of any write-down of inventories arising from an increase in net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction in the 
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.12 Impairment of non‑financial assets

The Group assesses, at each end of the reporting period, whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group also tests goodwill acquired in a business 
combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. 

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating 
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the 
carrying amount of the units.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining 
balance of the liability. The corresponding rental obligation, net of finance charges, is included in payables.

The property, plant and equipment acquired under a finance lease is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of 
the asset and the lease term.

Operating leases – lessor

Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an income and the contractual receipts are recognised as an operating lease liability. The 
liability is not discounted.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit or loss. 

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset. This liability is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.11 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the first-in-first-out basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 
the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for 
the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured 
as a provision.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease 
termination penalties and employee termination payments. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected economic benefits to be required to settle the obligation using 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

1.15 Revenue

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

• The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, 

nor effective control over the goods sold;
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and 
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:

• First, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit; and
• Then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than 
goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

1.13 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities.

If the Group reacquires its own equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental 
costs (net of income taxes) on those instruments are deducted from equity attributable to the Group’s equity holders 
until the shares are cancelled or reissued.

Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Group’s equity holders.

1.14 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• The Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and 
• A reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
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Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended 
use or sale are complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.18 Share‑based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the entity receives services from 
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services 
received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest 
based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in 
the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Group issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs are credited to share capital.

The grant by the Group of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group 
is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant 
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a 
corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable 
for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and 
value added tax.

Interest is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

1.16 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses 
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal 
of any write-down of inventories arising from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the 
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. The amount of 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:

• Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any 
temporary investment of those borrowings;

• Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of 
obtaining a qualifying asset. 

The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

• Expenditures for the asset have occurred;
• Borrowing costs have been incurred, and
• Activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
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The Group has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the standard is not material.

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

New standard setting out guidance on the measurement and disclosure of items measured at fair value or required to 
be disclosed at fair value in terms of other IFRS’s.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the standard is not material.

IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendment now requires items of other comprehensive income to be presented as: 

• Those which will be reclassified to profit or loss;
• Those which will not be reclassified to profit or loss; and
• The related tax disclosures are also required to follow the presentation allocation.

In addition, the amendment changed the name of the statement of comprehensive income to the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the amendment is not material.

Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 7)

Amendment requires additional disclosures for financial assets and liabilities which are offset and for financial instruments 
subject to master netting arrangements.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective from the 
current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements

Standard replaces the consolidation sections of IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and  
SIC 12: Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The standard sets out a new definition of control, which exists only 
when an entity is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity, and has the ability 
to effect those returns through power over the investee.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the standard is not material.

IAS 27: Separate Financial Statements

Consequential amendment as a result of IFRS 10. The amended standard now only deals with separate financial 
statements. The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the amendment is not material.

IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The standard sets out disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and unconsolidated 
structured entities. The disclosures are aimed at providing information about the significance and exposure to risks of 
such interests. The most significant impact is the disclosure requirement for unconsolidated structured entities or off 
balance sheet vehicles.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

WESCOAL Annual Report 2014 77

notes to the annual financial statements



Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities: 
Transition Guidance (Transitional guidance for the application of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12) 

The amendment limits the requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding comparative 
period.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the amendment is not material.

IFRIC 20: Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

Clarifies the requirement for accounting for stripping costs in surface mining. Specifically, it provides requirements on when 
to recognise costs as assets, when they provide improved access to ore. The depreciation requirements are also clarified.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the amendment is not material.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and 
are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2014 or later periods:

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

• In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 (2009), the first milestone in the project to replace IAS 39. This 
standard required the classification and measurement of financial assets into only two categories: amortised cost 
and fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

• In October 2010, the IASB published the updated IFRS 9 (2010): Financial Instruments, to include guidance 
on financial liabilities and derecognition of financial instruments, and in particular the requirement to present 
changes in own credit risk on liabilities at fair value in other comprehensive income (OCI).

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the amendment is not material.

IAS 1: Annual Improvements for 2009–2011 Cycle

Clarification is provided on the requirements for comparative information. Specifically, if a retrospective restatement 
is made, a retrospective change in accounting policy or a reclassification, the statement of financial position at the 
beginning of the previous period is only required if the impact on the beginning of the previous period is material. 
Related notes are not required, other than disclosure of specified information.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the amendment is not material.

IAS 16: Annual Improvements for 2009–2011 Cycle

Spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment should only be classified as property, plant and equipment 
if they meet the definition.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the amendment is not material.

IAS 32: Annual Improvements for 2009–2011 Cycle

Tax effects of distributions made to holders of equity instruments. Income tax relating to distributions made to holders 
of equity instruments and tax effects of transaction costs of equity transactions must be accounted for in accordance 
with IAS 12: Income Taxes.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
impact of the amendment is not material.
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IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of the new revenue recognition standard is that revenue must be recognised when the goods or services 
are transferred to the customer at the transaction price. The most significant chances that flow from that principle are:

• Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must be separately recognised, and any discounts or rebates on 
the contract price must generally be allocated to the separate elements;

• Revenue may be recognised earlier than under current standards if the consideration varies for any reason (such 
as for incentives, rebates, performance fees, royalties, success of an outcome, etc.) – minimum amounts must 
be recognised if they are not at significant risk of reversal; and

• The point at which revenue is able to be recognised may shift: some revenue which is currently recognised at a 
point in time at the end of a contract may now be recognised over the contract term or vice versa.

The effective date of the standard is for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The Group expects to 
adopt the standard for the first time in the 2018 consolidated annual financial statements.

3. Risk management

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of a gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. 
Net debt is calculated as total interest-bearing borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown 
in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown 
in the statement of financial position plus net debt.

The Group’s target gearing ratio is to remain below 50%. Debt covenants also require the Group to maintain a gearing 
ratio below 50%. The Group did not default on any debt covenants during the year. The increase in the gearing ratio is 
a result of additional funding obtained to fund the MacPhail acquisition, together with the new working capital facilities.

• In March 2013, The IASB issued an exposure draft (ED) on limited amendments to IFRS 9 (2010), to address 
specific application questions raised by the interested parties as well as to try and reduce differences with the FASB. 
However, the FASB tentatively decided that it would not continue to pursue a classification and measurement 
model similar to the IASB. As a consequence, the FASB’s classification and measurement project is expected to 
result in a few changes to current US GAAP.

• In November 2013, the IASB published the final hedging requirements, excluding macro-hedging.
• In July 2014, the IASB published the new and complete version of IFRS 9 (hereafter “IFRS 9” or “the new standard”), 

which includes the new hedge accounting, impairment and classification and measurement requirements.

The effective date of the standard is for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Group expects 
to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2019 consolidated annual financial statements. It is unlikely that the 
standard will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated annual financial statements.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32)

Clarification of certain aspects concerning the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The 
effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The Group expects to adopt the 
amendment for the first time in the 2015 consolidated annual financial statements. It is unlikely that the amendment 
will have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated annual financial statements. 

IAS 36: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non‑financial Assets

The IASB made consequential amendments to the disclosure requirements of IAS 36 when it issued IFRS 13. One of 
the amendments was drafted more widely than intended. This limited scope amendment corrects this and introduces 
additional disclosures about fair value measurements wen there has been impairment of a reversal of impairment. 

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The Group expects to adopt the 
amendment for the first time in the 2015 consolidated annual financial statements. It is unlikely that the amendment 
will have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated annual financial statements. 
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Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the 
underlying businesses, Group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed 
credit lines.

The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group manages liquidity 
risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared in the operating entities of the Group and aggregated by Group finance. Group finance 
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational 
needs. Such forecasting takes into consideration the Group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance and compliance 
with internal balance sheet ratio targets.

The Group ensures that amounts due in less than one year are covered by current assets. Amount due in more than one 
year will be repaid from cash generated by operations. The Group has also obtained a R100 million working capital 
facility from Investec (Reichmans) of which R99.4 million was utilised at year-end. In addition, undrawn overdraft 
facilities at year-end amounted to R26.1 million.

Security provided for funding is disclosed in notes 16 and 18.

The following tables analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table 
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

The gearing ratio at 2014 and 2013 respectively were as follows:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Notes R R R R

Total borrowings
Loans from Group companies 9 - - (36,038,599) (818,913)
Instalment sale agreements 16 (4,018,631) (9,381,203) - -
Interest-bearing borrowings 18 (176,885,386) (547,900) (63,610,632) -

(180,904,017) (9,929,103) (99,649,231) (818,913)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 14 51,987,325 21,369,784 6,642 113,240
Net (debt)/cash (128,916,692) 11,440,681 (99,642,589) (705,673)
Total equity (273,401,472) (177,497,515) (202,821,810) (143,439,448)
Total capital (402,318,164) (166,056,834) (302,464,399) (144,145,121)
Gearing ratio 32% (7%) 33% 1%

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk – cash flow interest rate risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a head office function under policies approved by the Board. The head office function 
identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board 
provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial 
instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

The Group is not currently exposed to foreign currency exchange risk.
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Cash flow‑interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, its income and operating cash flows are substantially independent 
of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly from variable rate instalment sale agreements and borrowings. These 
borrowings carry variable interest rates that are linked to the prime lending rate in South Africa. No interest rate 
hedges or swaps are entered into.

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit before 
tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2013.

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Increase by 100 basis points (1,809,040) (99,291) 1,569,352 938,632
Decrease by 100 basis points 1,809,040 99,291 (1,569,352) (938,632)

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The Group only deposits cash with 
major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counterparty.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. The Group only trades with recognised, creditworthy third 
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms be subject to credit verification 
procedures, which include an assessment of credit rating, short-term liquidity and financial position. 

Group

Less than  
one year

R

Between one 
and two years

R

Between two 
and five years

R

At 31 March 2014
Trade and other payables 212,047,011 - -
Instalment sales agreements 2,253,159 495,148 1,740,073
Interest-bearing borrowings 128,498,281 28,735,806 33,230,780
Bank overdraft 175,833 - -
Total 342,974,284 29,230,954 34,970,853

Group

Less than  
one year

R

Between one 
and two years

R

Between two 
and five years

R

At 31 March 2013
Interest-bearing borrowings 210,000 337,900 -
Trade and other payables 84,434,216 - -
Instalment sales agreements 9,004,279 816,095 131,511
Bank overdraft - - -
Total 93,648,495 1,153,995 131,511

Company

Less than  
one year

R

Between one 
and two years

R

Between two 
and five years

R

At 31 March 2014
Trade and other payables 3,534,165 - -
Loans from Group companies 36,038,599 - -
Interest-bearing borrowings 26,534,939 26,534,939 19,896,344
Bank overdraft - - -
Total 66,107,703 26,534,939 19,896,344

Company

Less than  
one year

R

Between one 
and two years

R

Between two 
and five years

R

At 31 March 2013
Trade and other payables 236,369 - -
Loans from Group companies 818,913 - -
Total 1,055,282 ‑ ‑
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2014 2013

Company
Cost 
R

Accumulated 
depreciation

R

Carrying  
value

R
Cost
R

Accumulated 
depreciation

R

Carrying  
value

R

Mineral assets 22,101 ‑ 22,101 11,959,786 ‑ 11,959,786

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2014

Opening 
balance 

R
Additions

R
Disposals

R
Transfers

R

Additions 
from business 
combinations

R
Depreciation

R
Total

R

Land and buildings  9,537,634 14,871,528 - -  13,500,000   (107,010)  37,802,152 
Plant and 
machinery  25,655,093  3,349,918 (9,328,158) -  3,417,177 (8,339,716)  14,754,314 
Furniture and 
fixtures  581,460  254,201 - -  296,475 (281,966) 850,170
Motor vehicles  1,182,241  2,911,134 - -  4,768,769 (2,285,779)  6,576,365 
Office equipment  145,217  245,201 (76,296) -  493,877 (236,140)  571,859 
IT equipment  535,999  9,701,520 - -  123,702 (735,369)  9,625,852 
Mineral assets  25,722,533  *93,826,520 (4,227,386) (11,679,570)  -   - 103,642,097
Assets under 
construction  10,316,145  4,916,958 (793,537) (10,316,145)  -   -  4,123,421 
Mining properties 11,123,963  48,237,752 - 21,995,715  -   (42,181,826)  39,175,604 
Total  84,800,285 178,314,732 (14,425,377) ‑ 22,600,000 (54,167,806)  217,121,834 

* Additions to mineral assets and mining properties include the acquisition of the Elandspruit reserve to the value of R93.8 million 
(R13 million in cash and R81 million in exchange for the Vlaklaagte asset). The Acquisition of the Elandspruit asset, and opencast 
coal resource, is in line with Wescoal’s stated goal of securing high quality coal resources that can be mined by the opencast 
method to increase production and sustainability. The Elandspruit mining area covers an undeveloped export quality thermal 
coal deposit, and is situated 9 km from Middelburg, contiguous to the Shanduka Graspan Colliery.

4. Investment property

2014 2013

Group
Cost  
R

Accumulated 
depreciation 

R

Carrying  
value 

R
Cost 
R

Accumulated 
depreciation 

R

Carrying  
value 

R

Investment property 709,250 - 709,250 709,250 - 709,250

Investment property was valued by an independent property evaluator as at 31 March 2014. The fair value is assessed 
at a level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and is based on recent comparable transactions in the area. The fair value of the 
property was valued at R1,000,000. The fair value was not materially different from the cost.

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011, is available 
for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

5. Property, plant and equipment

2014 2013

Group
Cost 
R

Accumulated 
depreciation

R

Carrying  
value

R
Cost
R

Accumulated 
depreciation

R

Carrying  
value

R

Land and buildings  38,346,343  (544,191)  37,802,152 9,974,815 (437,181) 9,537,634
Plant and machinery 23,153,258  (8,398,944) 14,754,314 56,422,299 (30,767,206) 25,655,093
Furniture and fixtures 1,984,653  (1,134,483) 850,170 1,433,977 (852,517) 581,460
Motor vehicles 9,782,462  (3,206,097) 6,576,365 2,102,559 (920,318) 1,182,241
Office equipment 917,169  (345,310) 571,859 254,387 (109,170) 145,217
IT equipment 11,463,791  (1,837,939) 9,625,852 1,638,569 (1,102,570) 535,999
Mineral assets 103,642,097 - 103,642,097 25,722,533 - 25,722,533
Assets under 
construction  4,123,421  -    4,123,421 10,316,145 - 10,316,145
Mining properties 113,568,319  (74,392,715) 39,175,604 43,334,852 (32,210,889) 11,123,963
Total 306, 981,513  (89,859,679) 217,121,834 151,200,136 (66,399,851) 84,800,285
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Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Pledged as security
Carrying value of assets pledged as security:

Property – Erf 325, eMalahleni  1,567,511  1,594,905 - -
Plant, machinery, mineral assets and mining properties  27,980,971  15,933,436 - -
Motor vehicles, property, plant and equipment 4,341,678  344,507 - -
Land and Buildings 22,178,442  -   - -

 56,068,602  17,872,848 ‑ ‑

Plant and machinery, motor vehicles and IT equipment are encumbered as stated in note 18.

The property is subject to a first charge to secure a mortgage bond within the group (refer to note 18).

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available 
for inspection at the registered office of the company.

The Board has approved future capital expenditure of a R170 million for the commissioning of the Elandspruit Colliery.

Refer to the post-financial year-end events paragraph in the Directors’ Report on page 57.

6. Goodwill

2014 2013

Group
Cost 
R

Accumulated 
impairment

R

Carrying  
value

R
Cost
R

Accumulated 
impairment

R

Carrying  
value

R

Goodwill 73,636,515 - 73,636,515 49,736,149 - 49,736,149

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2013

Opening 
balance 

R
Additions

R
Disposals

R
Transfers

R

Additions 
from business 
combinations

R
Depreciation

R
Total

R

Land and buildings  9,639,002  -    -   - - (101,368)  9,537,634 
Plant and 
machinery  26,016,878  2,083,866 (176,736) 6,980,739 - (9,249,654)  25,655,093 
Furniture and 
fixtures  721,735  13,090  -   - - (153,365)  581,460 
Motor vehicles  1,441,639  226,669  (147,036) - - (339,031)  1,182,241 
Office equipment  114,207  53,000  -   - - (21,990)  145,217 
IT equipment  787,808  25,274  -   - - (277,083)  535,999 
Mineral assets 14,203,123  11,519,410  -   - - - 25,722,533
Assets under 
construction  6,328,325  10,968,559  -   (6,980,739) - -  10,316,145 
Mining properties  14,315,426  4,802,649  -   - - (7,994,112)  11,123,963 

 73,568,143  29,692,517  (323,772) ‑ ‑ (18,136,603)  84,800,285 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2014

Opening 
balance 

R
Disposals

R
Total

R

Mineral assets 11,959,786 (11,937,685) 22,101

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2013

Opening 
balance 

R
Additions

R
Total

R

Mineral assets 10,585,437 1,374,349 11,959,786
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The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

• Gross margin;
• Discount rates; and
• Growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.

Gross margins – Gross margins are based on average values achieved in the three years preceding the start of the 
budget period. These are increased over the budget period for anticipated efficiency improvements. Gross margins are 
aimed to improved from 8.5% to 10.4% over the next 4 years.

Discount rates – Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to the industry, regarding 
the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets which have not been incorporated in the cash 
flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Company and its operating 
segments. Segment-specific risk is incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated 
annually based on publicly available market data.

Raw materials price inflation – Estimates are based on local published indices.

Management expects that the Chandler depots’ share of the inland coal market to be stable over the budget period. 

Growth rate estimates – Rates are based on management’s estimates and expectation of future operations. An assumed 
growth rate of 1.5% was used for the next 5 years, with no growth thereafter.

A sensitivity analysis was performed by changing the above input assumptions as follows:

•  Gross margin down by 1%;
•  Discount rates up by 1%; and
•  Growth rate down by 1%.

None of the above sensitivity changes resulted in an impairment of goodwill.

Reconciliation of goodwill – Group – 2014

Opening 
balance 

R

Additions
through
business

combinations
R

Total
R

Goodwill 49,736,149 23,900,366 73,636,515

Reconciliation of goodwill – Group – 2013

Opening 
balance 

R

Other
changes

R
Total

R

Goodwill 49,737,559 (1,410) 49,736,149

Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s trading segment. The additional goodwill recognised in the current year relates to 
the acquisition of the coal trading business of MacPhail Distributors (Pty) Ltd during the year. The Group’s enlarged 
coal trading business operates as one fully integrated segment.

The Group performed its annual impairment test on 31 March 2014. No impairment change was recognised in the 
current or prior year.

The recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating unit is determined using cash flow projections from financial 
budgets approved by the Directors, covering a one-year period (2013: a three-year period), and applying an expected 
inflation and growth rate thereafter. This methodology is consistent with the prior year. The pre-tax discount rate 
applied to cash flow projections is 22.5% (2013: 20%).
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8. Interests in subsidiaries and associates

Group

Name of company Held by
% holding

2014
% holding

2013

Carrying
amount 2014

R

Carrying
amount 2013  

R

Proudafrique Trading 147 
Proprietary Limited

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
30 - 19,365,000 -

Company

Name of company Held by
% holding

2014
% holding

2013

Carrying
amount 2014

R

Carrying
amount 2013  

R

Chandler Coal Proprietary Limited Wescoal Holdings Limited 100 100 31,408,158 30,587,494
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited Wescoal Holdings Limited 100 100 2,682,784 2,385,114
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries 
Proprietary Limited

Wescoal Holdings Limited
100 100 - -

Wescoal Exploration Proprietary 
Limited

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
60 60 - -

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited Chandler Coal Proprietary Limited 100 100 - -
(JJP) Gedeelte 16 (van Gedeelte 2) 
Vlakvarkfontein Proprietary Limited

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
100 100 - -

(JJP) Gedeelte 6 (van Gedeelte 2) 
Vlakvarkfontein Proprietary Limited

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
100 100 - -

(JJP) Res van Gedeelte 2 
Vlakvarkfontein Proprietary Limited

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
100 100 - -

34,090,942 32,972,608

The Company’s shares in subsidiaries have been pledged to Investec as security for loans granted (refer to note 18).

7. Intangible assets

2014 2013

Group
Cost 
R

Accumulated 
amortisation

R

Carrying  
value

R
Cost
R

Accumulated 
amortisation

R

Carrying  
value

R

Brands and trademarks 9,975,000 (499,000) 9,476,000 - - -
Customer lists 30,067,900 (1,458,000) 28,609,900 917,900 - 917,900
Total 40,042,900 (1,957,000) 38,085,900 917,900 ‑ 917,900

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2014

Opening 
balance 

R

Additions 
from business 
combinations

R
Amortisation  

R
Total

R

Brands and trademarks - 9,975,000 (499,000) 9,476,000
Customer lists 917,900 29,150,000 (1,458,000) 28,609,900

917,900 39,125,000 (1,957,000) 38,085,900

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2013

Opening 
balance 

R
Additions

R
Amortisation 

R
Total

R

Customer lists 917,900 - - 917,900
917,900 ‑ ‑ 917,900
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The acquisition of Proudafrique is established in terms of the First and Second Minoscape Agreements that were 
communicated per the circular dated 30 May 2014. The terms of the second Minoscape Agreement were not yet effective 
as at 31 March 2014. The terms of the First and Second Minoscape Agreement are set out below.

First Minoscape Agreement

On 26 November 2013, Wescoal Mining acquired 30% of the total issued share capital of, and all its claims against 
Proudafrique from Minoscape. The purchase price paid was as follows:

• Issue of 6,500,000 Wescoal ordinary shares; and
• R5 million in cash.

This transaction had no conditions and was effective on 26 November 2013.

Second Minoscape Agreement

On 26 November 2013, Wescoal Mining agreed to acquire the remaining 70% of the total issued share capital of, and 
all its claims against Proudafrique from Minoscape. The Second Minoscape Agreement was a Category 1 transaction in 
terms of the JSE Listing Requirements and was therefore subject to shareholder approval. The shareholders of Wescoal 
approved the transaction after the financial year-end on 14 July 2014.

The purchase price paid subsequently was as follows:

• Issue of 10,000,000 Wescoal ordinary shares; 
• R5.6 million in cash; and
• A royalty payable to Minoscape of R3.50 per ton of saleable coal mined at Elandspruit, which royalty will escalate 

annually with the published producer price index.

The Second Minoscape transaction will be accounted for in the March 2015 financial year.

Background and prospects of the investment in Proudafrique

At 31 March 2014 the Group directly owned 60% of Wescoal Exploration.

An opportunity has arisen for Wescoal to purchase all the issued shares of Proudafrique from Minoscape, thereby 
indirectly acquiring the remaining 40% shareholding in Wescoal Exploration.

Wescoal Exploration was created in 2008 and currently owns the following coal reserves:

• Silverbank Prospect covering the entire farm Silverbank 611 IR, excluding Portions 1, 10, 12, and 14, with a 
reconnaissance resource of 67.45 million tons; and

• Verblyden Prospect covering the entire farm Verblyden 387 IS, excluding Portions 18 and 35 with a reconnaissance 
resource of 54.3 million tons.

In addition to the 40% shareholding owned by Proudafrique in Wescoal Exploration, Proudafrique is also entitled to 
the following royalty fee payable by Wescoal Exploration:

• R4.00 per saleable ton if coal has a CV of less than 24.50 CV;
• R6.00 per saleable ton if coal has a CV value of between 24.50 CV and 26.00 CV; and
• R8.00 per saleable ton if coal has a CV value of above 26.00.

Proudafrique currently owns the following assets in addition to the 40% shareholding in Wescoal Exploration:

• 14,285,714 Wescoal ordinary shares;
• Amount owed on dividend from Wescoal Exploration of R7.0 million;
• The right to a royalty fee of R5 per ton of saleable coal mined at Wescoal Mining’s Elandspruit mining area, which 

royalty will escalate annually with the published producer price index.
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10. Deferred tax

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Deferred tax assets 169,465 3,719,065 - -
Deferred tax liabilities (15,076,368) (55,856) - -

(14,906,903) 3,663,209 ‑ ‑

Deferred tax (liability)/asset
Accelerated capital allowances for tax purposes (14,167,204) (4,059,547) - -
Rehabilitation provision 4,504,602 3,972,602 - -
Intangible assets (10,407,040) - - -
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income 3,888,257 2,995,351 - -
Payroll related accruals 547,503 - - -
Prepayments (56,200) - - -
Provision for doubtful debt 783,179 754,803 - -
Total deferred tax (liability)/asset (14,906,903) 3,663,209 ‑ ‑

Reconciliation of deferred tax (liability)/asset
At beginning of year 3,663,209 8,849,016 - -
Charge to income statement (7,615,112) (5,185,807) - -
Intangible assets – business acquisition (10,955,000) - - -

(14,906,903) 3,663,209 ‑ ‑

Unrecognised deferred tax asset
Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 138,503 2,341,820 138,503 2,341,820

9. Loans to/(from) Group companies

2014 2013
R R

Subsidiaries
Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd 111,242,683 24,355,628
The loan bears interest at the prime overdraft rate with no fixed terms of repayments.

Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd 22,011,925 6,278,916
The loan bears interest at the prime overdraft rate with no fixed terms of repayments.

Wescoal Mineral Recoveries (Pty) Ltd (10,259,887) (818,913)
The loan bears interest at the prime overdraft rate with no fixed terms of repayments.

Wescoal Exploration (Pty) Ltd (25,778,712) 4,734,505
The loan bears no interest with no fixed terms of repayments.

Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd 123,329,854 59,313,125
The loan bears interest at the prime overdraft rate with no fixed terms of repayments.

220,545,863 93,863,261

Non-current assets 230,584,462 94,682,174
Current assets 26,000,000 -
Current liabilities (36,038,599) (818,913)

220,545,863 93,863,261

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount for each class of loans mentioned above. 

The Company does not hold any collateral as security. The Directors consider that the loans to the Group companies’ 
carrying values approximated their fair values.
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12. Inventories 
Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
R R R R

Raw materials 223,655 6,519,206 - -
Finished goods 59,208,035 9,311,536 - -
Consumable stores 1,407,323 155,408 - -

60,839,013 15,986,150 ‑ ‑

13. Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
R R R R

Trade receivables 246,119,549 106,904,075 15,423,785 5,050,000
Employee costs in advance 655 23,790 - -
Prepayments 437,591 305,625 - -
Deposits 4,460,157 89,201 - -
VAT 408,412 99,949 302,590 25,951
Debtors accrual - 597,262 - -
Other debtors 3,962,228 1,292,572 - -

255,388,592 109,312,474 15,726,375 5,075,951

All classes of financial assets, with the exception of trade receivables, are not past due nor impaired. 

Credit risk

The risk that counterparties or customers will not perform as expected, which results in a loss to the Group, can be 
defined as a credit risk.

Trade receivables are divided into two classes, being those relating to Wescoal’s Mining Division and those relating 
to Wescoal’s Trading Division. Wescoal Mining’s trade receivables amounted to R66 million at year-end and Wescoal 
Trading made up the balance at R180 million.

11. Investments

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Old Mutual Rehabilitation Investment 6,663,881 2,293,031 - -

Reconciliation of Investments – 2014

Opening 
balance 

R

Additional 
investments

R

Investment 
return

R
Closing balance

R

Old Mutual Rehabilitation Investment 2,293,031 4,148,780 222,070 6,663,881

Reconciliation of Investments – 2013

Opening 
balance 

R

Additional 
investments

R

Investment 
return

R
Closing balance

R

Old Mutual Rehabilitation Investment 1,210,296 964,346 118,389 2,293,031

The investment is administered by Old Mutual Investment Services (Pty) Ltd. This is an investment product referred to 
as a focused investment plan, which requires monthly premiums to be paid until August 2022 and where money is 
invested in a combination of underlying unit trusts. Old Mutual has a BBB- credit rating.

Fair value is determined based on the published unit prices of the underlying unit trust and therefore falls within level 
2 of the IFRS fair value hierarchy.
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The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Past due R R R R

30 to 60 days 22,637,616 17,329,446 - -
60 to 90 days 2,082,846 2,213,815 - -
>90 days 8,427,048 1,170,598 - -

33,147,510 20,713,859 ‑ ‑

80% of the balance per the aging consists of entities within the private and mining sectors, while the remaining 20% 
relates to government institutions.

Trade and other receivables impaired

As of 31 March 2014, trade and other receivables of R3,729,428 (2013: R3,594,302) were impaired and provided 
for. The movement in the allowance for impairment of receivables were as follows:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Opening balance 3,594,302 3,734,910 - -
Provision for impairment 535,126 800,000 - -
Amounts written off as uncollectable (400,000) (940,608) - -
Closing balance 3,729,428 3,594,302 ‑ ‑

30% of the provision for impairment relates to trade receivables in Wescoal’s Mining Division and the balance of 70% 
relates to Wescoal’s Trading Division.

Pledged as security

Trade receivables with a carrying value of R176,005,401 have been pledged as security for the Reichmans (Pty) Ltd 
loans (refer to note 18). Trade Receivables with a carrying value of R70,114,148 have been pledged as security for 
the overdraft facility (refer to note 14).

Wescoal Mining sells mainly to Eskom, who made up 82% of the Wescoal Mining Division’s trade receivable balance 
at year-end. None of the Wescoal Mining Division’s trade receivables were past due. Eskom has a history of no defaults 
and a credit rating of BBB.

Trade receivables in Wescoal’s Trading Division consist of a large number of customers from widespread and diverse 
industries. Customers include government institutions, private sector and mining entities. 

The Group evaluates customers prior to the granting of credit. Each entity has a unique customer base that contributes 
to different levels of credit exposure. Entities manage credit exposure by applying prudent credit limits and constant 
evaluation of credit behaviour.

The Group’s variety of customers across all industries mitigates the exposure of concentration risk resulting from credit risk.

The balance of trade debtors relate to a variety of customers who mostly have a good payment history.

It can be concluded that the maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of financial assets.

Based on the nature of the risk against the credit risk exposures, no additional collateral is taken against the credit 
risk exposures.

Receivables that are impaired were individually assessed regarding recoverability. The provision for bad debt is based 
on an aggregation of long outstanding customer balances.

Fair value of trade and other receivables

The carrying values of trade and other receivables approximate their fair values. 

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

At 31 March 2014, R33,147,510 (2013: R20,713,859) were past due but not impaired, and all related to Wescoal’s 
Trading Division.
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15. Share capital

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Authorised
500,000,000 ordinary no par value shares

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
Reported as at 1 April 2013 166,801,361 166,801,361 166,801,361 166,801,361
Shares issued to Proudafrique Trading 147 (Pty) Ltd in lieu 
of dividends as part of the sale of Vlaklaagte Mineral Right 14,285,714 - 14,285,714 -
Shares due to Minoscape (Pty) Ltd as part of the purchase of 
30% interest in Proudafrique Trading 147 (Pty) Ltd *6,500,000 - 6,500,000 -
Shares issued to Share Trust for share options issued 6,100,000 - 6,100,000 -
Less: Treasury shares held by Share Trust (8,916,000) (8,870,000) (8,916,000) (8,870,000)

184,771,075 157,931,361 184,771,075 157,931,361

* This balance includes 2,214,286 shares that were only issued after year-end. For accounting purposes these shares are treated as 
issued from the date they became contractually due to Minoscape (Pty) Ltd, which was on 26 November 2013.

306,312,925 unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the Directors in terms of a resolution of members 
passed at the last Annual General Meeting. This authority remains in force until the next Annual General Meeting.

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Issued
Ordinary 175,062,328 137,100,848 175,062,328 137,100,848
Treasury shares held by Share Trust (8,346,950) (8,870) (8,346,950) (8,870)

166,715,378 137,091,978 166,715,378 137,091,978

14. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Cash on hand 39,631 20,740 - -
Bank balances 52,123,527 21,349,044 6,642 113,240
Short-term deposits - - - -
Bank overdraft (175,833) - - -

51,987,325 21,369,784 6,642 113,240

Current assets 52,163,158 21,369,784 6,642 113,240
Current liabilities (175,833) - - -

51,987,325 21,369,784 6,642 113,240

The average effective interest rate on bank balances approximates 0.1% (2013: 0.1%) per annum.

The average effective interest rate on bank overdrafts approximates 9.75% (2013: 9%) per annum and is determined 
based on the prime overdraft lending rate. The Group deals with reputable banks in South Africa with current credit 
ratings of at least A-.

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

The total amount of undrawn facilities available for future 
operating activities and commitments 26,139,000 18,139,000 17,000,000 9,000,000

The above overdraft facilities are secured through unlimited cross suretyships and cessions of loan accounts by all Group 
companies. In addition certain trade debtors with a carrying value of R70,114,148 have been pledged as security.
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17. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2014

Opening 
balance 

R
Additions

R

Time value 
of money 

and inflation 
component of 
rehabilitation 

cost
R

Total
R

Environmental rehabilitation 14,187,866 8,194,326 1,900,000 24,282,192

Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2013

Opening 
balance 

R
Additions

R

Time value 
of money 

and inflation 
component of 
rehabilitation 

cost
R

Total
R

Environmental rehabilitation 8,793,820 4,802,649 591,397 14,187,866

The Group’s mining and exploration activities are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations. These laws 
and regulations are continually changing and are generally becoming more restrictive. The Group has made and expects 
to make in the future expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations, but cannot predict the full amount of such 
future expenditures. Estimated future reclamation costs are based principally on legal and regulatory requirements. 
The above is a reconciliation of the total liability for environmental rehabilitation.

The Directors are authorised to issue, allot and grant options to acquire a maximum of 29,186,272 ordinary shares 
in the issued share capital of the Company in terms of the incentive scheme.

Proceeds from the exercise of share options by employees amounted to R5.3 million. All other share issues during the 
year were of a non-cash nature.

Refer to page 50 for an analysis of shareholders.

16. Instalment sale agreements

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Contractual future instalments
- within one year 2,253,159 9,004,279 - -
- in second to fifth year inclusive 2,235,221 947,606 - -

4,488,380 9,951,885 - -
Less: future finance charges (469,749) (570,682) - -
Present value of future instalments 4,018,631 9,381,203 ‑ ‑

Present value of future instalments
- within one year 1,915,757 8,594,884 - -
- in second to fifth year inclusive 2,102,874 786,319 - -

4,018,631 9,381,203 - -
Non-current liabilities 2,102,874 786,319 - -
Current liabilities 1,915,757 8,594,884 - -

4,018,631 9,381,203 ‑ ‑

It is Group policy to finance certain motor vehicles and equipment under instalment sale agreements.

The average finance term is five years and the average effective borrowing rate was 11% (2013: 10.5%). Interest 
rates are linked to prime (plus 1% to 2.5%) at the contract date.

The instalment sale agreements are secured by vehicles and property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount 
of R4,341,678.
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18. Interest‑bearing borrowings

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Held at amortised cost
Mortgage bond 337,900 547,900 - -

Investec Bank Limited 63,610,632 - 63,610,632 -
Investec Bank Limited 13,493,320 - - -
Reichmans (Pty) Ltd* 59,523,565 - - -
Reichmans (Pty) Ltd* 39,919,969 - - -

176,885,386 547,900 63,610,632 ‑

Non‑current liabilities 
(At amortised cost)
Mortgage bond 104,758 337,900 - -
Investec Bank Limited 42,596,302 - 42,596,302 -
Investec Bank Limited 12,308,364 - - -
Reichmans (Pty) Ltd* - - - -
Reichmans (Pty) Ltd* - - - -

55,009,424 337,900 42,596,302 ‑

Current liabilities 
(At amortised cost)
Mortgage bond 233,142 210,000 - -
Investec Bank Limited 21,014,330 - 21,014,330 -
Investec Bank Limited 1,184,956 - - -
Reichmans (Pty) Ltd* 59,523,565 - - -
Reichmans (Pty) Ltd* 39,919,969 - - -

121,875,962 210,000 21,014,330 ‑
176,885,386 547,900 63,610,632 ‑

* Reichmans (Pty) Ltd is a member of the Investec Group of Companies.

While the ultimate amount of rehabilitation costs to be incurred in the future is uncertain, the Group has estimated 
that, based on current environmental and regulatory requirements, the total cost for the mines, in the current monetary 
terms, is approximately R24,282,192 (2013: R14,187,866).

In determining the above provision, the current cost estimates as determined by environment rehabilitation experts have 
been escalated to a future value at an inflation rate of 6% over a period of between two and four years. The future 
value was then discounted at a rate of 7%, giving a real discount rate of 1%. A 0.5% change in the real discount rate 
would change the present value of the liability by R0.4 million.

The Group intends to finance the ultimate rehabilitation costs from the money invested in and ongoing contributions 
to environmental rehabilitation investments, as well as the proceeds on sale of assets at the time of mine closure. 
The Group has guarantees in place relating to environmental liabilities. These guarantees have been issued by third 
parties on behalf of the Group.

2014 2013
R R

Future net undiscounted obligations
Ultimate estimated rehabilitation cost 31,794,488 16,243,688
Amounts invested in rehabilitation investment (refer to note 11) (6,663,881) (2,293,031)
Total future net undiscounted obligations 25,130,607 13,950,657

Guarantees
Environmental rehabilitation guarantees issued to the DMR 19,646,151 3,755,471

These guarantees have been issued on behalf of the Group by third parties, and are secured by a cession over the Old 
Mutual Rehabilitation Investment (refer to note 11), together with other Group sureties and indemnities.
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19. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Trade payables 196,504,719 79,715,843 3,458,005 -
VAT 4,491,652 1,663,034 - -
Unclaimed credits - 426,817 - -
Accruals 6,797,143 2,677,305 76,160 236,369
Payroll Accruals 3,673,066 1,521,883 425,316 309,029
Other payables 1,829,293 1,614,251 - -
Dividend payable to non-controlling interest 6,915,856 - - -

220,211,729 87,619,133 3,959,481 545,398

Fair value of trade and other payables

The carrying values of trade and other payables approximate their fair values.

20. Business acquisition

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

MacPhail Coal Trading Business
Property, plant and equipment 22,600,000 - - -
Intangible assets – brands and trademarks 9,975,000 - - -
Intangible assets – client relationships 29,150,000 - - -
Deferred tax on intangible assets (10,955,000) - - -
Inventories 9,613,268 - - -
Total identifiable net assets 60,383,268 ‑ ‑ ‑
Goodwill 23,900,366 - - -
Total consideration 84,283,634 ‑ ‑ ‑

Net cash outflow on acquisition
Cash consideration paid 84,283,634 - - -

The Mortgage bond bears interest at the prime overdraft lending rate plus 0.5% and is repayable in 60 monthly 
instalments. The maturity date of this loan is 1 August 2015. The loan is secured by a first charge over certain of the 
Group’s land and building with a carrying value of R1,567,511. The Directors consider that the carrying value of the 
loan approximates its fair value.

The Investec Bank Limited loan of R63,610,632 relates to financing provided by Investec to Wescoal Holdings Limited. 
The financing was provided to finance the MacPhail acquisition. The loan bears interest at the prime overdraft lending 
rate plus 1% and is repayable in 36 monthly instalments with a balloon payment at maturity date. Maturity date of 
the loan is 28 October 2016. The loan is secured by inter alia properties of Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd and Chandler Coal 
(Pty) Ltd with a carrying value of R27,980,971. The Company’s shares in subsidiaries have been pledged as security 
for this loan. The Directors consider that the carrying value of the loan approximates its fair value.

The Investec Bank Limited loan of R13,493,320 relates to financing provided by Investec to Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd. 
The financing was provided for the purchase of property as part of the MacPhail acquisition. The loan bears interest 
at the prime overdraft lending rate less 0.5% and is repayable in 60 monthly instalments with a balloon payment 
at maturity date. The maturity date of the loan is 31 December 2018. The loan is secured by inter alia properties 
of Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd with a carrying value of R13,500,000. The Company’s shares in subsidiaries have been 
pledged as security for this loan. The Directors consider that the carrying value of the loan approximates its fair value. 

The Reichmans (Pty) Ltd loans of R59,523,565 and R39,919,969 relate to financing provided by Reichmans (Pty) Ltd to 
Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd and Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd respectively. The financing provided is a revolving credit facility to the 
above-mentioned companies. This forms part of a R100 million working capital facility provided to the Group. The loans 
bears interest at the prime overdraft lending rate plus 1% and 1.5% respectively. The loans are secured by certain 
trade receivables of Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd and Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd with a carrying value of R170,649,058 at 
31 March 2014.
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The duration of each issue is five years, and one-fifth of the options vest at the each year end. The only vesting condition 
is that employees must remain in the service of Wescoal for the duration of the scheme. The right to exercise the options 
are relinquished should the employee not remain in Wescoal’s service for the duration of the scheme. There are no market 
performance conditions. Volatility is calculated based on the daily share price history for the proceeding 5 years .

Service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest based on the 
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, 
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the 
Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the 
grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, 
with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.

During the year, certain employees were retrenched and as such were allowed to exercise all their options that had 
not yet vested.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise price as follows:

2014 2013
Average exercise 

price in c per 
share option Options

Average exercise 
price in c per 
share option Options

At the beginning of the year 89 14,970,000 94 8,870,000
Granted 211 2,600,000 89 7,400,000
Options exercised 87 (6,054,000) - -
Options forfeited - - 94 (1,300,000)
At 31 March 2014 120 11,516,000 89 14,970,000

Of the 11,516,000 (2013: 14,970,000) outstanding options, 2,962,000 options (2013: 4,562,000) were exercisable 
at 31 March 2014.

During November 2013 the Group acquired the coal trading business of MacPhail Distributors (Pty) Ltd through the 
purchase of related customer contracts, inventory, property, plant and equipment. The purchase price, amounting to 
R84.3 million was paid in cash.

The MacPhail coal trading business comprise a complete range of coal products and have various depots situated in 
the Gauteng, Eastern and Western Cape. The acquisition of the MacPhail assets enhanced the Group’s existing coal 
trading division, which has been fully integrated to operate as one coal trading division.  

The purchase price allocation has been finalized and is set out in the table above. Goodwill of R23.9 million arising 
from the acquisition consists largely of synergies and economies of scale expected from combining the businesses, the 
acquired workforce, as well as deferred tax arising on the intangible assets. Transaction costs amounting to R3 million 
have been expensed.

Refer also to notes 5, 6 and 7 for additional information.

21. Share‑based payments

Information on options granted during the year

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the entity receives services from 
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. Middle and senior management qualify to 
take part in the scheme.

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. 
The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted.

The fair value of the options was determined at grant date using the Black-Sholes Model. The expense is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the duration of the scheme. 

The following inputs were used in the valuation of option granted in 2014: 

Weighted average share price  203c (2013: 89c)
Expected volatility  60% (2013: 50%)
Option life  Five years (2013: five years)
Expected dividends  1.4 (2013: 0)
The risk-free interest rate  7% (2013: 6%)
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Company – 2014

Loans and 
receivables

R
Total

R

Trade and other receivables 15,423,785 15,423,785
Loans to Group companies 256,584,462 256,584,462
Cash and cash equivalents 6,642 6,642

272,014,889 272,014,889

Company – 2013

Loans and 
receivables

R
Total

R

Trade and other receivables 5,050,000 5,050,000
Loans to Group companies 94,682,174 94,682,174
Cash and cash equivalents 113,240 113,240

99,845,414 99,845,414

23. Financial liabilities by category

Group – 2014

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
R

Total
R

Interest-bearing borrowings 176,885,385 176,885,385
Trade and other payables 212,047,011 212,047,011
Instalment sale agreement 4,018,631 4,018,631
Bank overdraft 175,833 175,833

393,126,860 393,126,860

Group – 2013

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
R

Total
R

Interest-bearing borrowings 547,900 547,900
Trade and other payables 84,434,216 85,434,216
Bank overdraft - -
Instalment sale agreement 9,381,203 9,381,203

94,363,319 94,363,319

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Expiry date
Exercise price in 

c per share
Shares Shares

Grant 2014 2013

20 July 2005 19 July 2010 50 - 1,000,000
1 March 2008 28 February 2013 89 - 1,080,000
31 January 2010 30 January 2015 86 550,000 1,270,000
9 June 2010 8 June 2015 106 2,650,000 4,300,000
6 August 2012 5 August 2017 90 3,716,000 5,320,000
29 August 2012 28 August 2017 86 2,000,000 2,000,000
4 November 2013 3 November 2018 206 400,000 -
8 November 2013 7 November 2018 212 2,200,000 -

11,516,000 14,970,000

22. Financial assets by category

Group – 2014

Loans and 
receivables

R

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss
R

Total
R

Trade and other receivables 254,541,934 - 254,541,934
Investments* - 6,663,881 6,663,881
Cash and cash equivalents 52,163,158 - 52,163,158

306,705,092 6,663,881 313,368,973

* This is an investment with Old Mutual and was invested to assist with the payment of rehabilitation at the end of the life of mine.

Group – 2013

Loans and 
receivables

R

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss
R

Total
R

Trade and other receivables 108,906,900 - 108,906,900
Cash and cash equivalents 21,369,784 - 21,369,784
Investments* - 2,293,031 2,293,031

130,276,684 2,293,031 132,569,715
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25. Cost of sales

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Direct purchases 648,451,205 385,751,695 - -
Royalty expense 7,474,471 850,000 - -
Mining contractor cost 176,767,279 142,993,828 - -
Consumables and maintenance cost 21,436,477 21,501,304 - -
Staff cost 8,553,832 8,338,906 - -
Fuel 19,239,469 10,913,720 - -
Amortisation and depreciation of assets 53,155,330 18,136,600 - -
Mining overhead and other cost 86,837,198 15,766,479 - -

1,021,915,261 604,252,532 ‑ ‑

26. Other income

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

(Loss)/profit on fixed assets (2,071,648) 539,384
Profit of the sale of Vlaklaagte mineral right 75,772,614 - - -
Dividends received - - 25,373,728 -
Other 898,025 3,344,371 - -

74,598,991 3,883,755 25,373,728 ‑

Company – 2014

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
R

Total
R

Trade and other payables 3,354,165 3,354,165
Loans from Group companies 36,038,599 36,038,599
Interest bearing borrowings 63,610,632 63,610,632
Bank overdraft - -

103,183,396 103,183,396

Company – 2013

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
R

Total
R

Trade and other payables 236,369 236,369
Loans from Group companies 818,913 818,913
Interest bearing borrowings - -
Bank overdraft - -

1,055,282 1,055,282

24. Revenue

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Sale of goods 1,147,444,184 676,926,806 - -
Administration fees - - 16,625,352 1,694,797

1,147,444,184 676,926,806 16,625,352 1,694,797
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29. Finance costs

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Interest-bearing borrowings 6,102,418 61,690 3,328,183 388,583
Provision for Rehabilitation: Unwinding of discount 1,900,000 591,397 - -
Bank overdrafts 1,179,104 332,682 531,530 332,682
Trade and other payables - 1,082,743 - -
Instalment sale agreements 429,859 1,256,956 - -
SARS 3,569 32,828 - -

9,614,950 3,358,296 3,859,713 721,265

30. Taxation

Major components of the tax expense

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Current
Local income tax – current period 15,225,286 - - -
Local income tax – recognised in current tax for prior periods (2,067) 152,821 - -

15,223,219 152,821 - -
Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences 7,615,112 6,246,900 - -
Deferred tax asset write-down reversed - (1,061,093) - -

7,615,112 5,185,807 - -
22,838,331 5,338,628 ‑ ‑

27. Operating profit/(loss)

Operating profit/(loss) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Income from subsidiaries
Administration and management fees - - (16,625,352) (1,694,797)

Operating lease charges
Premises
- Contractual amounts 1,550,462 904,500 - -

Net profit on sale of assets 73,700,966 539,384 - -
Share-based payment expense 1,703,316 552,554 584,891 222,073
Depreciation and amortisation 56,124,806 18,136,600 - -
Employee costs 49,924,216 35,565,777 10,015,112 7,154,890
Auditor's remuneration 1,331,500 1,498,805 - -
Consulting fees 2,931,291 1,273,549 1,796,795 1,107,841
Repairs and maintenance 9,682,123 3,618,849 - -
Computer expenses 2,055,603 663,232 9,774 80,245

Employee costs include an amount of R1,298,463 relating to the medical and provident fund contributions paid by the 
Group in the year under review. The Group has no defined benefit pension plans or post-retirement medical obligations.

28. Interest received

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Interest revenue
Other 14,088 36 - -
Interest on bank deposits 250,781 695,590 10 1,575
Interest received on inter-company loans - - 13,415,326 9,384,454

264,869 695,626 13,415,336 9,386,029
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Group
2014 2013

R R

Profit used to calculate earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 69,764,282 19,707,253

Diluted earnings per share

In the determination of diluted earnings per share, profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Group
2014 2013

R R

Diluted earnings per share
From continuing operations (c per share) 40.21 12.45

Diluted earnings per share was based on earnings of R69,764,282 (2013: R19,707,253) and a weighted average 
number of ordinary shares of 173,483,638 (2013: 158, 312,395).

Group
2014 2013

R R

Reconciliation of weighted average number of ordinary shares used for earnings per 
share to weighted average number of ordinary shares used for diluted earnings per 
share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used for basic earnings per share 170,067,251 157,931,361
Adjusted for:
Share options in terms of the Wescoal Share Incentive Trust* 3,416,387 381,034

173,483,638 158,312,395

* Diluted earnings reflected showing the potential effect of dilution for 11.52 million (2013: 14.97 million) options held in terms of 
the Wescoal Share Incentive Trust by the Directors and employees to subscribe to new shares in Wescoal.

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Accounting profit 109,518,469 25,045,881 33,242,687 (4,883,702)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2013: 28%) 30,665,172 7,012,847 9,307,952 (1,367,436)
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Non-deductible expenditure 1,343,258 116,572 - 62,180
Non-taxable income - - (7,104,660) -
Effect of deferred tax on unused tax loss derecognised (2,203,293) (1,969,119) (2,203,293) -
Deferred tax not recognised as assessed loss - 1,305,256 - 1,305,256
Adjusted in respect of prior periods (2,067) (1,126,928) - -
Capital gain taxed at lower rate (6,964,739) - - -

22,838,331 5,338,628 - -

31. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing profit or loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Group
2014 2013

R R

Basic earnings per share
From continuing operations (c per share) 41.02 12.46

Basic earnings per share was based on earnings of R69,764,282 (2013: R19,707,253) and a weighted average 
number of ordinary shares of 170,067,251 (2013: 157,931,361).
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32. Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Profit before taxation 109,518,469 25,045,881 33,242,687 (4,883,702)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 56,124,806 18,136,600 - -
Profit on sale of assets (73,700,966) (539,384) - -
Interest received – investment (264,869) (695,626) (13,415,336) (9,386,029)
Finance costs 7,714,950 3,358,296 3,859,713 721,265
Non-cash divided received - - (25,373,728) -
Movements in provisions 1,900,000 591,397 - -
Share-based payment expense 1,703,316 552,555 584,982 222,073
Other non-cash items (222,077) (116,980) - -
Changes in working capital:
Inventories (35,239,595) (2,829,626) - -
Trade and other receivables (146,076,118) 3,540,703 (10,650,424) (25,950)
Trade and other payables 125,676,745 (8,551,857) 3,414,083 337,925

47,134,661 38,491,959 (8,338,023) (13,014,418)

33. Tax paid

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Balance at beginning of the year 268,586 244,852 - -
Charge through profit or loss (15,223,219) (152,821) - -
Balance at end of the year 10,267,796 (268,586) - -

(4,686,837) (176,555) ‑ ‑

Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings per share

Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings are determined by adjusting basic earnings and diluted earnings by 
excluding separately identifiable re-measurement items.

Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings are presented before and after tax and non-controlling interest.

2014 2013
Before tax 
and non-
controlling 

interest

R

After tax 
and non-
controlling 

interest

R

Before tax 
and non-
controlling 

interest

R

After tax 
and non-
controlling 

interest

R

Headline earnings per share (c) 15.67 12.20
Diluted headline earnings per share (c) 15.36 12.20

Reconciliation between earnings and headline earnings
Basic earnings 109,518,469 69,764,281 25,045,881 19,707,253
Adjusted for:
Loss/(Profit) on sale of assets 2,071,648 1,491,587 (539,384) (388,356)
Profit on sale of mineral rights (75,772,614) (44,605,141) - -

35,817,503 26,650,727 24,506,497 19,318,897
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Company

Property, plant and equipment

2013 2012
R R

Previously stated - -
Reclassification from intangible assets 11,959,786 10,585,437
Restated balance 11,959,786 10,585,437

Intangible Assets

2013 2012
R R

Previously stated 11,959,786 10,585,437
Reclassification to property, plant and equipment (11,959,786) (10,585,437)
Restated balance ‑ ‑

Loans from Group companies

During the year, the Company changed the classification of loans from Group companies from non-current to current. 
The loans were reclassified due to the fact that they have no repayment terms and are payable on demand.

The aggregate effect of the changes in reclassification of non-current to current regarding loans from Group companies 
on the annual financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012 are as follows:

Company

Loans from Group companies (non‑current)

2013 2012
R R

Previously stated as non-current 818,913 -
Reclassification to current (818,913) -
Restated balance ‑ ‑

34. Changes in classification

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
on a basis consistent with the prior year, except for the reclassification of the following items.

Property, plant and equipment

During the year, the Group reconsider the classification of mineral prospecting rights and mining properties as intangible 
assets. The Directors believe that cost incurred on acquisition of mining properties and mineral prospecting rights are 
more appropriately reflected as part of property, plant and equipment. The aggregate effect of the reclassification on 
the annual financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012 are as follows:

Group

Property, plant and equipment

2013 2012
R R

Previously stated 57,704,002 55,684,949
Reclassification from intangible assets 27,096,283 17,883,194
Restated balance 84,800,285 73,568,143

Intangible Assets

2013 2012
R R

Previously stated 28,014,183 18,801,094
Reclassification to property, plant and equipment (27,096,283) (17,883,194)
Restated balance 917,900 917,900
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Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

R R R R

Related party balances
Loan accounts – owing (to)/by related parties
Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd - - 111,242,683 24,355,628
Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd - - 123,329,854 59,313,125
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries (Pty) Ltd - - (10,259,887) (818,913)
Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd - - 22,011,925 6,278,916
Wescoal Exploration (Pty) Ltd - - (25,778,712) 4,734,505

‑ ‑ 220,545,863 93,863,261
Shares held by Trust
Wescoal Share Trust ‑ ‑ 8,916,000 8,870,000

Related party transactions
Interest paid to/(received from) related parties
Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd - - (9,762,647) (8,269,023)
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries (Pty) Ltd - - 812,132 (438,175)
Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd - - (591,481) (677,256)
Chandler Coal (Pty) ltd - - (3,061,198) 190,486

‑ ‑ (12,603,194) (9,193,968)

Administration fees received from related 
parties
Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd - - 7,684,584 898,987
Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd - - 8,940,768 795,810

‑ ‑ 16,625,352 1,694,797

Compensation to Directors and prescribed offices
Non-executive Directors’ fees 1,179,900 797,500 1,179,900 797,500
Remuneration 13,278,544 9,647,653 6,920,604 4,976,166
Retirement and medical contributions 68,565 308,193 26,249 274,047
Fringe benefits and bonus 2,210,059 1,032,354 941,145 509,627

16,737,068 11,785,700 9,067,898 6,557,340

Loans from Group companies (current)

2013 2012
R R

Previously stated as current - -
Reclassification from non-current 818,913 -
Restated balance 818,913 ‑

Investments

The Old Mutual Rehabilitation Investment was previously classified as a “Held-to-Maturity” financial asset. The 
Directors have reassessed the classification of this investment based on the underlying nature of the investments within 
this focussed investment plan. This investment has now been classified as “At fair value through profit and loss”. This 
reclassification had no impact on the financial statements.

35. Related parties

Relationships

Ultimate holding company Wescoal Holdings Limited

Subsidiaries Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd
 Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd
 Wescoal Exploration (Pty) Ltd
 Wescoal Recoveries (Pty) Ltd
 Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd
 (JJP) Res Ged2
 (JJP) Ged6
 (JJP) Ged16

Employee share incentive scheme Wescoal Share Incentive Trust

Members of key management Directors

Group Executive Committee Key management personnel who have the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling activities of the Company.
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Share options in the Company held by Directors

Financial year 
granted

Option grant 
(strike price) 

cents

Balance held 
at 31 March 

2013
R

Balance held 
at 31 March 

2014
R

AR Boje 2011 106 1,000,000 1,000,000
2013 90 1,500,000 1,500,000

P Janse van Rensburg 2010 86 550,000 550,000
2011 106 260,000 260,000
2013 90 240,000 240,000

Non‑executive Directors

Fees for 
services as 
Directors

R
Total

R

2014
JG Pansegrouw 375,000 375,000
HLM Mathe 116,280 116,280
MR Ramaite 332,640 332,640
DMT van Gaalen 215,940 215,940
KM Maroga 140,040 140,040

1,179,900 1,179,900

2013
JG Pansegrouw 170,500 170,500
MR Ramaite 308,000 308,000
DMT van Gaalen 308,000 308,000
WN Khumalo 11,000 11,000

797,500 797,500

36. Directors’ and prescribed officers’ remuneration

Executive Directors

Remuneration 
R

Medical and
provident fund
distributions

R
Annual bonus

R

Fringe and
other benefits

R
Cash total

R

IFRS 2 
share option 

expense
R

2014
AR Boje 3,790,561 26,249 375,000 165,000 4,356,810 180,774
P Janse van Rensburg 1,639,643 - 156,945 120,000 1,916,588 66,020
WN Khumalo 1,490,400 - 124,200 - 1,614,600 -

6,920,604 26,249 656,145 285,000 7,887,998 246,794

Remuneration
R

Medical and
provident fund
distributions

R

Fringe 
benefits and 

bonus
R

Cash total
R

IFRS 2 
share option 

expense
R

2013
AR Boje 2,241,685 107,463 186,807 2,535,955 143,226
P Janse van Rensburg 1,469,481 166,584 265,320 1,901,295 60,012
WN Khumalo 1,265,000 - 57,500 1,322,500 -

4,976,166 274,047 509,627 5,759,840 203,238
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Share options in the Company held by Prescribed Officers

Financial year 
granted

Option grant 
(strike price) 

cents

Balance held 
at 31 March 

2013
R

Balance held 
at 31 March 

2014
R

D Botes 2013 86 2,000,000 2000,000
B Siko - - - -
E Strydom 2014 206 - 200,000
M Berry 2014 212 - 2,000,000
C Mnisi 2014 206 - 200,000

37. Post‑financial year‑end events

Refer to page 57 in the Directors Report.

38. Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and activates and has 
four reportable operating segments:

• The Mining segment is involved in the exploration, beneficiation and mining of bituminous coal;
• The Trading segment buys and sells coal to inland customers;
• The Property Rental segment rents property to other segments within the Group; and
• The Investment Holding segment is the holding company of the Group and also acts a central treasury function.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. Group EXCO is the 
Group’s chief decision-maker. Management has determined the operating segments based on the information received 
by Group EXCO. Annual segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently 
with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

All revenue is generated from customers in Southern Africa and all operating assets are situated in South Africa. The 
mining segment generates its revenue mainly from sales to government institutions. The trading segment generates 
its revenue from sales to a variety of customers that include private sector, government institutions, mining entities 
and various small and medium enterprises.

Prescribed Officers’s

Remuneration 
R

Medical and
provident fund
distributions

R
Annual bonus

R

Fringe and
other benefits

R
Total

R

2014
D Botes 3,045,900 - 276,900 - 3,322,800
B Siko 78,087 - - - 78,087
E Strydom 1,442,406 - 148,350 72,000 1,662,756
M Berry 832,347 20,305 500,330 44,694 1,397,676
C Mnisi 959,200 22,011 116,640 110,000 1,207,851

6,357,940 42,316 1,042,220 226,694 7,669,170

Remuneration
R

Medical and
provident fund
distributions

R

Fringe 
benefits and 

bonus
R

Total
R

2013
D Botes 1,597,500 - 66,562 1,664,062
G Coetzee 1,577,059 34,146 211,421 1,822,626
M Bartle 1,496,928 - 244,744 1,741,672

4,671,487 34,146 522,727 5,228,360
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Mining
R

Trading
R

Rental
R

Holding
R

Inter-segment 
Eliminations

R
Consolidated

R

2013
Revenue
External customers 318,346,436 358,580,370 - - - 676,926,806
Inter-segment 54,704,890 - 646,689 1,694,797 (57,046,376) -
Total revenue 373,051,326 358,580,370 646,689 1,694,797 (57,046,376) 676,926,806
Cost of sales (330,929,118) (328,028,305) - - 54,704,890 (604,252,532)
Gross profit 42,122,208 30,552,065 646,689 1,694,797 (2,341,486) 72,674,274
Other (expenses)/
income 3,101,620 782,135 - - - 3,883,755
Profit on sale of 
mineral assets - - - - - -
Operating expenses (8,024,320) (27,537,642) (386,985) (15,241,911) 2,341,380 (48,849,478)
Operating profit 37,199,508 3,796,558 259,704 (13,547,114) (106) 27,708,551
Interest received 625,458 458,310 216 9,384,679 (9,773,037) 695,626
Interest paid (11,305,049) (562,421) (542,598) (721,265) 9,773,037 (3,358,296)
Profit/(loss) before 
income tax 26,519,917 3,692,447 (282,678) (4,883,700) (106) 25,045,880
Depreciation and 
amortisation (16,071,701) (1,943,325) (121,574) - - (18,136,600)
Gain/(loss) on sale 
of assets 10,209 529,175 - - - 539,384
Total assets 135,251,912 94,419,191 10,431,014 144,803,759 (95,781,788) 289,124,088
Total liabilities (132,837,383) (66,191,262) (6,911,501) (1,364,311) 95,501,085 (111,803,372)

Segments results and reporting is presented below:

Mining
R

Trading
R

Rental
R

Holding
R

Inter-segment 
Eliminations

R
Consolidated

R

2014
Revenue
External customers 556,245,593 591,198,591 - - - 1,147,444,185
Inter-segment 116,445,901 - 675,093 16,625,352 (133,746,346) -
Total revenue 672,691,495 591,198,591 675,093 16,625,352 (133,746,346) 1,147,444,185
Cost of sales (597,653,792) (540,707,371) - - 116,445,901 (1,021,915,262)
Gross profit 75,037,703 50,491,220 675,093 16,625,352 (17,300,445) 125,528,922
Other (expenses)/
income (1,555,137) 381,358 - 25,373,728 (25,373,728) (1,173,779)
Profit on sale of 
mineral assets 75,772,614 - - - - 75,772,614
Operating expenses (25,817,073) (53,803,305) (627,259) (18,312,016) 17,300,445 (81,259,208)
Operating profit 123,438,107 (2,930,728) 47,834 23,687,064 (25,373,728) 118,868,550
Interest received 1,182,079 14,498 4 13,415,336 (14,347,048) 264,868
Interest paid (14,769,290) (4,480,470) (852,524) (3,859,713) 14,347,048 (9,614,949)
Profit/(loss) before 
income tax 109,850,895 (7,396,700) (804,686) 33,242,687 (25,373,728) 109,518,469
Depreciation and 
amortisation (51,395,920) (4,601,668) (127,217) - - (56,124,805)
Gain/(loss) on sale 
of assets 2,138,186 (66,538) - - - 2,071,648
Total assets 363,498,646 319,567,655 49,977,681 306,430,522 (315,331,896) 724,142,608
Total liabilities (318,176,017) (296,028,587) (39,221,447) (103,608,712) 306,116,828 (450,917,935)
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Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented 
by proxy at the meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be adopted.

Ordinary resolution number 2:

Appointment of Audit and Risk Committee members

“To confirm, by way of separate ordinary resolutions, the appointment of the following Non-executive Directors as 
members of the Audit and Risk Committee for the year ending 31 March 2015:

2.1 Mr JG Pansegouw
2.2 Ms KM Maroga
2.3 Ms DMT van Gaalen.”

Notes:  In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 (the Act), a public company must at each AGM elect an Audit 
Committee comprising at least three members who are Non-executive Directors and who meet the criteria of section 94(4) of 
the Act. Brief biographical details of each of these Directors are set out on pages 16 and 17 of the integrated annual report.

Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented 
by proxy at the meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Ordinary resolution number 3:

Appointment of external auditors

“To re-appoint, on recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as independent 
auditors to the Company for the ensuing year and to note that Mr JP van Staden be and is hereby confirmed as the 
designated auditor until the next AGM.”

Note:  Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by 
proxy at the meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved. 

WESCOAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 2005/006913/06)
(JSE Share code: WSL ISIN: ZAE000069639)
(“Wescoal” or “the Company”)

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders of Wescoal will be held at the Company’s 
registered offices, Unit A3, Isando Business Park, Corner of Gewel and Hulley Road, Isando, South Africa, on Tuesday, 
21 October 2014 at 10:00. 

The record date on which members must be recorded as such in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries 
of the Company for the purposes of being entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is Friday, 17 October 2014. All 
meeting participants will be required to provide identification reasonably satisfactory to the Chairman of the meeting.

Presentation of the annual financial statements

The consolidated annual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, incorporating the reports of the 
auditors, the Audit and Risk Committee and the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2014, have been distributed as 
required and will be presented to shareholders as required in terms of section 30(3)(d) of the Act.

The purpose of the meeting is to propose the following special and ordinary resolutions:

Ordinary resolutions

Ordinary resolution number 1:

Re‑appointment of Directors

“To re-elect, by separate ordinary resolution, the following Directors who retires by rotation in accordance with the 
Company’s MoI:

1.1  Dr HLM Mathe
1.2  Ms DMT van Gaalen.”

Note: The retiring Directors are eligible and offer themselves for re-election. Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out on 
pages 16 to 18 of the integrated annual report issued to shareholders and which forms part of this notice to shareholders.
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• That in determining the price at which an issue for shares will be made in terms of this authority, the maximum 
discount permitted be 10% of the weighted average traded price of the shares over thirty business days prior to 
the date that the price of the issue is in writing between the issuer and the party subscribing for the securities.”

Ordinary resolution number 6:

Remuneration policy

“To endorse, through a non-binding advisory note, and to ascertain the shareholder’s view on the Company’s remuneration 
policy and its implementation. A summary of the policy is set out on pages 46 to 49 of the integrated annual report.”

Note:  Not less than  fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by 
proxy at the meeting must be cast in favour of the resolution for it to be approved.

Special resolution number 1:

Non‑executive Directors’ remuneration

“Resolved, as a special resolution, that the remuneration of the Non-executive Directors from 1 October 2014 until 
the next AGM be as follows:

Type of fees (per meeting)
Fees in Rand 

2014
Fees in Rand 

2015

Board
As Chairman 23,760 26,000
As Member 11,880 13,000

Audit and Risk Committee
As Chairman 17,820 20,000
As Member 11,880 13,000

Remuneration and Nominations Committee
As Chairman 17,820 20,000
As Member 11,880 13,000

Social and Ethics Committee
As Chairman 17,820 20,000
As Member 11,880 13,000

Ordinary resolution number 4:

Control of authorised but unissued share capital

“Resolved that the unissued ordinary shares in the authorised share capital of the Company be hereby placed under 
the control of the Directors of the Company as a general authority to them in order to allot and issue the same at their 
discretion in terms of the Company’s MoI and the JSE Listings Requirements.”

Note:  Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by 
proxy at the meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Ordinary resolution number 5:

General authority to issue shares for cash

“Resolved that, subject to:

1.  The passing of ordinary resolution numbered 4 above; and
2.  No less than 75% of the shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the meeting vote in 

favour of this resolution;

The Directors are hereby authorised and empowered, by way of a general authority, to allot and issue for cash, without 
restriction, all or any of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company placed under their 
control as they in their discretion may deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the Company’s MoI and the provisions 
of the JSE Listings Requirements, namely:

•  That this authority shall not extend beyond fifteen months from the date of this meeting, or the date of the next 
Annual General Meeting, whichever is the earlier date;

•  The issue shall be to public shareholders as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not to related parties;
•  That a paid press release, giving all the details, including the impact on net asset value, net tangible asset value 

and earnings per share, be published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within one 
year, 5% or more of the number of ordinary shares issued prior to the issue;

•  That issues in the aggregate in any financial year not exceed 15% of the number of shares of the Company’s 
issued share capital, including instruments which are convertible into ordinary shares;

•  The equity securities which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this not 
the case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue; and

106

notiCe of annual General meetinG (Continued)



Mol, the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, and provided that the acquisitions by 
the Company and its subsidiaries of shares in the capital of the Company may not, in the aggregate, exceed in any 
one financial year twenty percent (20%) of the Company’s issued share capital of the shares acquired from the date 
of the granting of this approval.”

Additional requirements imposed by the JSE Listings Requirements

It is recorded that the Company or its subsidiaries may only make a general acquisition of shares if the following JSE 
Listings Requirements are met:

a.  Any such acquisition of shares shall be affected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done 
without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company or its subsidiaries and the counterparty, 
or other manner approved by the JSE;

b.  The general approval shall only be valid until the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or for fifteen (15) 
months from the date of passing of this special resolution, whichever period is shorter;

c.  A paid press announcement will be published as soon as the Company and/or its subsidiaries has/have acquired 
shares in terms of this authority constituting, on a cumulative basis, three percent (3%) of the number of shares 
of the class of shares acquired in issue at the time of granting of this general approval and for each three percent 
(3%) in aggregate of the initial number of that class of shares acquired thereafter, which announcement shall 
contain full details of such acquisitions as required by paragraph 11.27 of the JSE Listings Requirements;

d.  In determining the price at which the Company’s shares are acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries in terms 
if this general approval, the maximum price at which such shares may be acquired may not be greater than ten 
percent (10%) above the weighted average of the market value at which such shares are traded on the JSE, as 
determined over the five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of the acquisition of such shares by 
the Company or its subsidiaries;

e.  In the case of a derivative (as contemplated in the JSE Listings Requirements), the price of the derivative shall 
be subject to the limitations set out in paragraph 5.84(a) of the JSE Listings Requirements;

f.  A resolution by the Board of Directors of the Company that they authorised the repurchase, that the Company 
passed the solvency and liquidity test and that since the test was done there have been no material changes to 
the financial position of the Group; and

g.  The Company and/or its subsidiaries may not repurchase any shares in terms of this authority during a prohibited 
period, as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, unless the Company and/or its subsidiaries has in place a 
repurchase programme, where dates and quantities of shares to be traded during the prohibited period are fixed 
and full details of the programme have been disclosed in an announcement over SENS prior to the commencement 
of the prohibited period.

Type of fees (per meeting)
Fees in Rand 

2014
Fees in Rand 

2015

Monthly retainer to Non‑executive Directors
As Chairman R11,880 R20,000
As Member R7,500 R10,000
Lead Independent Director R7,500 R15,000

The reason and effect of this special resolution is to obtain shareholder approval for the remuneration payable to 
Non-executive Directors during the current financial year and until such time as amended by shareholders by way of 
a special resolution.”

Note:  Not less than seventy-five percent (75%) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the 
meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Special resolution number 2:

Financial assistance to all related and inter‑related companies

“Resolved, as a special resolution, that a general authority be given to the Board of Directors of the Company to provide 
financial assistance to all related and inter-related companies within the Wescoal Group of companies, at such times 
and on such terms and conditions as the Directors in their sole discretion deem fit, and subject to all relevant statutory 
and regulatory requirements being met. Such authority to remain in place until rescinded by way of a special resolution 
passed at a duly constituted Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

The reason and effect of this special resolution is to approve the authority of Directors to provide financial assistance 
to all related and inter-related companies within the Wescoal Group of companies.

Note:  Not less than 75% (seventy-five percent) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the 
meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Special resolution number 3:

General approval to repurchase Company shares

“Resolved, as a special resolution, that the Company hereby approves, as a general approval, the acquisition by the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries from time-to-time of the issued shares of the Company, upon such terms and 
conditions and in such amounts as the Directors of the Company may from time-to-time determine, but subject to the 
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general authority shall only be valid until the Company’s next Annual General Meeting, or for fifteen (15) months 
from the date of passing of this special resolution, whichever period is shorter. The passing of this special resolution 
will have the effect of authorising the Company and/or its subsidiaries to acquire shares issued by the Company.

Note:  Not less than seventy-five percent (75%) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the 
meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Voting, proxies and attendance at the shareholders meetings

Shareholders who hold their shares in certified form or who are own-name registered shareholders holding their shares 
in dematerialised form and who are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting but wish to be represented thereat, 
are required to complete and return the attached form of proxy, which must be received by the Company’s registrars 
by not later than 10:00 on 17 October 2014.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a central securities depository

A participant (CSDP) or broker, other than by own-name registration, who wish to attend the meeting should instruct their 
CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary letter of representation to attend the meeting, in terms of the custody 
agreement entered into between such shareholder and their CSDP or broker. Shareholders who have dematerialised 
their shares through a CSDP or broker, other than by own-name registration, who wish to vote by way of a proxy, 
should provide their CSDP or broker with voting instruction, in terms of the custody agreement entered into between 
such shareholders and their CSDP or broker. These instructions must be provided to their CSDP or broker by the cut-off 
or date advised by their CSDP or broker for instructions of this nature.

Shareholders who have any doubt as to action they should take should consult their CSDP, broker, accountant, attorney, 
banker or other professional adviser immediately.

By order of the Board

Statement by the Board of Directors of the Company

Pursuant to, and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board of Directors of the Company hereby states that:

a.  The intention of the Directors of the Company is to utilise the general authority to acquire shares in the capital of the 
Company if, at some future date, the cash resources of the Company are in excess of its requirements or there are other 
good grounds for doing so. In this regard the Directors will take account of, inter alia, an appropriate capitalisation 
structure for the Company, the long-term cash needs of the Company and the interests of the Company;

b.  In determining the method by which the Company intends to repurchase its securities, the maximum number of 
securities to be repurchased and the date on which such repurchase will take place, the Directors of the Company 
will only make repurchases if, at the time, they are of the opinion that:
b.1.  The Company and its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be able to pay their debts as they become due 

in the ordinary course of business for the twelve (12) month period following the date of this notice of the 
Annual General Meeting;

b.2.  The consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, fairly valued and recognised and measured 
in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited financial statements, will, after the 
repurchase, be in excess of the consolidated liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries for the twelve 
(12) month period following the date of this notice of the Annual General Meeting;

b.3.  The issued share capital and the reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be 
adequate for the ordinary business purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries for the 12 (twelve) month 
period following the date of this notice of the Annual General Meeting; and

b.4. The working capital available to the Company and its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be adequate 
for the ordinary business requirements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the twelve (12) month period 
following the date of this notice of the Annual General Meeting.

The reason and effect of this special resolution is to grant the Company a general authority in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements for the acquisition, by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, of shares issued by the Company, which 
authority shall be valid until the earlier of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the variation or revocation 
of such general authority by special resolution by any subsequent General Meeting of the Company, provided that the 
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Number of votes on a poll (one vote per ordinary share)
In favour Against Abstain

To pass ordinary resolutions:
1. To re-appoint the following Directors
1.1. Dr HLM Mathe
1.2. Ms DMT van Gaalen
2. Appointment of Audit Committee members
2.1. Mr JG Pansegrouw
2.2. Ms KM Maroga
2.3. Ms DMT van Gaalen
3. Re-appointment of external auditors
4. Control of authorised but unissued share capital
5. General issue of shares for cash
6. Remuneration policy
To pass special resolutions:
1. Non-executive Directors’ remuneration
2. Financial assistance to all related or 

inter-related companies
3. General approval to repurchase Company shares

(Indicate instruction to proxy by way of a cross in the space provided above)

Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

Signed at ...............................................................................on ..............................................................2014

.................................................................................................
Signature

Assisted by (if applicable) ............................................................
Please read the notes hereafter.

Dated this .........................................................................day of ..............................................................2014

.................................................................................................
Signature

(for use by certificated shareholders and own-name dematerialised shareholders only)

WESCOAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 2005/006913/06)
(JSE Share code: WSL ISIN: ZAE000069639)
(“Wescoal” or “the Company”)

Form of proxy for the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 10:00 on Tuesday, 21 October 2014 
at the registered office of the Company at Unit A3, Isando Business Park, Corner of Gewel and Hulley Road, Isando, 
South Africa (the meeting) and is for use by registered shareholders whose shares are registered in their own names 
on the date of the meeting (record date).

I/We (name in block letters) ..............................................................................................................................

of (address) .....................................................................................................................................................

Telephone (work) ............................................................. (home) ......................................................................

being the holder/s of .............................................................. ordinary shares in the Company, do hereby appoint

1) ......................................................................................................................................... or failing him/her

2)  ........................................................................................................................................ or failing him/her

3) The Chairperson of the Annual General Meeting.

As my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company which will 
be held for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, of passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and 
special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment thereof, and to vote in favour of and/or against the 
resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance 
with the following instructions (see notes):
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7.  If this proxy is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, whether in terms of a power of attorney 
or otherwise, this form of proxy will not be effective, unless:
7.1  It is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the shareholder to the signatory; or
7.2  The Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.

8.  The Chairman of the meeting may, in his discretion, accept or reject any form of proxy or other written appointment 
of a proxy which is received by the Chairman prior to the time when the meeting deals with a resolution or matter 
to which the appointment of the proxy relates, even if that appointment of a proxy has not been completed  
and/or received in accordance with these instructions. However, the Chairman shall not accept any such appointment 
of a proxy, unless the Chairman is satisfied that it reflects the intention of the shareholder appointing the proxy.

9.  Any alternations made in this form of proxy must be initialled by authorised signatory/ies.
10.  This proxy form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:

10.1 Gives written notice of such revocation to the Company, so that it is received by the Company by not later 
than 10:00 on Friday, 17 October 2014; or

10.2 Subsequently appoints another proxy for the meeting; or
10.3 Attends the meeting himself in person.

11.  All notices which a shareholder is entitled to receive in relation to the Company shall continue to be sent to that 
shareholder and shall not to be sent to the proxy.

12.  If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are shareholders of the Company having shares 
registered in their own names may, instead of completing this form of proxy, appoint a representative to 
represent them and exercise all of their rights at the meeting by giving written notice of the appointment of that 
representative. That notice will not be effective at the meeting, unless it is accompanied by a duly certified copy 
of the resolution/s or other authorities in terms of which that representative is appointed and is received at the 
Company’s transfer office, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, by no 
later than 10:00 on Friday, 17 October 2014. If a shareholder does not wish to deliver the notice to that address, 
it may also be posted, at the risk of the shareholder, to Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, PO Box 61061, 
Marshalltown, 2107.

13.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy does not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending 
the Annual General Meeting and speaking and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed by the 
shareholder.

14.  The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may accept or reject any form of proxy which is completed and/or 
received other than in accordance with these instructions, provided that he shall not accept a proxy, unless he is 
satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

1.  This form of proxy will not be effective at the meeting, unless received at the Company’s transfer office, Computershare 
Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, by no later than 10:00 on Friday, 17 October 2014. 
If a shareholder does not wish to deliver this form of proxy to that address, it may also be posted, at the risk of 
the shareholder, to Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107.

2.  This form is for use by registered shareholders who wish to appoint another person (a proxy) to represent them 
at the meeting. If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are registered shareholders may 
appoint a proxy using this form, or may appoint a representative in accordance with paragraph 12 below. Other 
shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a 
CSDP or broker must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instruction. Alternatively, if they wish to attend 
the meeting in person, they should request the CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter of representation in 
terms of the custody agreement entered into between the beneficial shareholder and the CSDP or broker.

3. This proxy shall apply to all ordinary shares registered in the name of the shareholder who signs this form of proxy 
at the record date, unless a lesser number of shares is inserted.

4. A shareholder may appoint one person of his own choice as his proxy by inserting the name of such proxy in 
the space provided. Any such proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. The shareholder may insert the 
name(s) of one or more proxies (none of whom need be a Company shareholder) in the space provided, with or 
without deleting the words “the Chairperson of the Annual General Meeting of the ordinary shareholders”. The 
person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and has not been deleted and who is present at the Annual 
General Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. In the event that 
no names are indicated, the proxy shall be exercised by the Chairperson.

5. Unless revoked, the appointment of a proxy in terms of this form of proxy remains valid until the end of the 
meeting, even if the meeting or part thereof is postponed or adjourned.

6. If:
6.1 A shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in favour of or against or to 

abstain from voting on any resolution; or
6.2 The shareholder gives contradictory instructions in relation to any matter; or
6.3 Any additional resolution/s are properly put before the meeting; or
6.4  Any resolution listed in the form of proxy is modified or amended;

 The proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit, in relation to that resolution or matter. 
If, however, the shareholder has provided further written instructions which accompany this form and which 
indicate how the proxy should vote or abstain from voting in any of the circumstances referred to in 6.1. to 6.4. 
above, the proxy shall comply with those instructions.
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